
NOTICE OF MEETING

Meeting: CABINET

Date and Time: WEDNESDAY, 4 JULY 2018, AT 10.00 AM*

Place: COUNCIL CHAMBER, APPLETREE COURT, 
LYNDHURST

Telephone enquiries to: Lyndhurst (023) 8028 5000
023 8028 5588 - ask for Jan Debnam
Email:  jan.debnam@nfdc.gov.uk

PUBLIC PARTICIPATION:
*Members of the public may speak in accordance with the Council's public 
participation scheme:
(a) immediately before the meeting starts, on items within the Cabinet’s terms of 

reference which are not on the public agenda; and/or
(b) on individual items on the public agenda, when the Chairman calls that item.
Speeches may not exceed three minutes.  Anyone wishing to speak should contact 
the name and number shown above.

Bob Jackson
Chief Executive

Appletree Court, Lyndhurst, Hampshire. SO43 7PA
www.newforest.gov.uk

This Agenda is also available on audio tape, in Braille, large print and digital format

AGENDA
Apologies

1.  MINUTES 
To confirm the minutes of the meeting held on 6 June 2018 as a correct record.

2.  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
To note any declarations of interest made by members in connection with an 
agenda item.  The nature of the interest must also be specified.

Members are asked to discuss any possible interests with Democratic Services 
prior to the meeting.



3.  PUBLIC PARTICIPATION 
To note any issues raised during the public participation period.

4.  RESOURCES FOR THE DELIVERY OF FUTURE PLANNED DEVELOPMENT 
(Pages 1 - 4)

To consider increasing the staffing establishment to address increasing demands 
arising from current and future development in the District.

5.  LITTERING ENFORCEMENT - LITTERING FROM VEHICLES OUTSIDE 
LONDON (KEEPERS: CIVIL PENALTIES) REGULATIONS 2018 (Pages 5 - 22)

To consider the use of new powers allowing local authorities to take action against 
littering from vehicles.

6.  ACQUISITION OF NEW COUNCIL HOMES - SUPPLEMENTARY BUDGET 
APPROVAL 
The Housing Revenue Account budget for 2018/19 includes an original capital 
programme budget of £18.552 million.  This will be supplemented by £1.564 million 
as a result of rephasings from 2017/18.  The capital programme budget currently 
includes £3.8 million for the acquisition of additional properties.  

An opportunity has arisen for the Council to acquire an additional 16 newly built 
housing units, with the proposed funding coming from the HRA’s acquisition and 
development reserve.  

Approval is sought for a supplementary budget of £4.5 million, to increase the 
number of much needed new units to be acquired and to provide scope for other 
potential projects. Decisions on individual sites or properties will be made by the 
Housing Portfolio Holder, subject to the budget being increased in accordance with 
the above.  

This supplementary budget will form part of the Council’s Financial Monitoring in 
due course, and would appear at that point as pre-approved.

RECOMMENDED:

That the Council be recommended to increase the 2018/19 Housing Capital Budget 
by £4.5 million.

7.  ANNUAL PERFORMANCE AND PROVISIONAL BUDGET OUTTURN (Pages 23 - 
40)

To consider the Council’s performance and provisional budget outturn figures for 
2017/18.

8.  ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT STRATEGY 2018-2023 (Pages 41 - 74)

To consider an updated Economic Development Strategy to cover the period to 
2023 and to recommend it to the Council for approval.

9.  ORGANISATIONAL STRATEGY 2018-2022 (Pages 75 - 86)

To consider and approve the Council’s Organisational Strategy for 2018-2022.

10.  HUMAN RESOURCES STRATEGY (Pages 87 - 98)

To consider an updated Human Resources Strategy.



11.  ICT STRATEGY 2018-2022 (Pages 99 - 124)

To consider the Council’s ICT Strategy for 2018-2022 and to recommend it to the 
Council for adoption.

12.  PROCUREMENT STRATEGY (Pages 125 - 144)

To consider and approve and update to the Council’s Procurement Strategy.

13.  CONTAMINATED LAND STRATEGY (Pages 145 - 186)

To consider an updated Contaminated Land Strategy and to recommend it to the 
Council for approval.

14.  OUTSIDE BODY APPOINTMENTS 
To appoint the Leisure and Wellbeing Portfolio Holder to serve as this Council’s 
representative on the Recreation Management Strategy Steering Group; and also 
as this Council’s representative on the Waterside Gym Management Committee (in 
the place of Cllr McEvoy).

To: Councillors Councillors

Mrs D E Andrews
J E Binns
Mrs J L Cleary
M R Harris

E J Heron (Vice-Chairman)
J D Heron
Mrs A J Hoare
B Rickman (Chairman)



This page is intentionally left blank



CABINET - 4 JULY 2018 PORTFOLIO HOLDER: 
PLANNING AND INFRASTRUCTURE

RESOURCES FOR THE DELIVERY OF FUTURE PLANNED 
DEVELOPMENT  

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1 This report considers the staff resources which will be needed to deliver the 
enhanced levels of growth proposed in the district in the Local Plan 2016-2036, to the 
high environmental standards Members and local communities expect in such an 
environmentally sensitive area.  The report considers resources in the planning and 
open space service areas. 

2. THE DEMAND ON RESOURECES

2.1 The workload of the two Planning Service areas – Policy and Strategy (which 
includes Environmental Design) and Development Control – has increased 
significantly over the past 18 months in particular.  The teams are currently resourced 
at a level to reflect the ‘restrained’ growth of the current and previous planning 
strategies for the area.  Members will be aware that the changes in National Planning 
Policy have required the Council to plan for much higher rates of development in its 
review of the Local Plan.  The Local Plan agreed for submission to the Secretary of 
State by Cabinet and Council on 6th June 2018, will increase the rate of new housing 
building, doubling and then trebling it over the next few years to meet the new local 
housing targets.  To ensure that these major new housing developments are well 
planned and deliver high quality schemes, additional resources will be required. 
Areas of work where a particular need for extra skills and capacity gave been 
identified are:

 Environmental design (Landscape and Urban Design)
 Policy and Plans
 Major scheme development management 
 Planning Delivery and Enforcement

2.2 Outside the Planning Service areas, the planned growth will also have a significant 
impact on the workload of the Open Spaces team.  There will be a significant 
increase in the amount of public open space provision, including new provision of 
significant areas of natural recreational greenspace land which need to be provided 
and then managed and maintained to mitigate the recreational impact of the new 
residential development on the New Forest and Solent/Southampton Water nature 
conservation sites of international importance. There are also a number of existing 
cases relating to open space matters (including the transfer of land) that will only be 
satisfactorily addressed through the deployment of additional resources. 

Page 1

Agenda Item 4



3. RESOURCE REQUIREMENTS

Environmental Design

3.1 The Environmental Design Team are mainly responsible for:
 Master-planning and Design Guidance Supplementary Planning Documents
 Securing good design through pre-application discussions and the 

negotiations of planning applications. (Both buildings and open spaces.)
 Design and implementation of a programme of habitat mitigation projects

3.2 It is proposed to increase the current team of three officers to five, with the addition of 
an extra senior landscape architect/urban designer and an additional Landscape 
Architect to the team.

Policy and Plans

3.3 The Policy and Plans Team are mainly responsible for:
 Local Plan and Supplementary Planning Documents
 Supporting Neighbourhood Planning
 Cross boundary working on strategic planning matters
 Community Infrastructure Levy and Infrastructure Delivery Plan
 Implementation and monitoring of mitigation projects and Community 

Infrastructure Levy.

3.4 Capacity within the team at a senior level needs to be maintained and it is proposed 
to add capacity to the team by the employment of an additional Planning Graduate 
career graded post, to build resilience into the team.

Major scheme development management

3.5 The Development Control Team are mainly responsible for:
 Managing pre-application negotiations
 The processing and decision making on planning applications
 Planning appeals

3.6 There will be a significant increase in the volume and complexity of major 
development applications.  There has already been an internal restructuring within 
the existing teams to respond to this challenge (funded by fee increases), creating 
more capacity at a senior officer level to deal with major development projects.  In 
addition, a further senior post is required to supplement current levels of resource.

Planning Delivery and Enforcement

3.7 There is currently a need for resources and structures within the planning service 
areas to ensure development is implemented to our required standards.  With 
Government performance measures giving great weigh to speed of decision-making, 
too often detailed matters have not been fully resolved before the grant of planning 
permission, with planning conditions and legal agreements left to subsequently sort 
out details.  This has given rise to a number of issues, but particularly relating to the 
delivery of infrastructure and in particular the quality of open space being provided.

Page 2



3.8 It is proposed to create a new Planning Delivery and Enforcement Team, with 
responsibility for monitoring the implementation of development, Community 
Infrastructure Levy, Legal Agreement requirements, together with the planning 
Enforcement function.  Three new posts will be created; A Site Monitoring Officer, a 
Planning Delivery Assistant and an additional Senior Planning Enforcement Officer.

Open Space Service

3.9 New residential development within the district is required to mitigate its impact on 
the European nature conservation sites it affects.  All new residential development 
places increased recreational pressures on both the New Forest and 
Solent/Southampton Water European sites, and this impact must be mitigated to 
enable development to proceed.  The Council’s adopted (and future) mitigation 
strategy require the provision and management of significant new areas of natural 
recreational green spaces as well as other public open spaces. 

3.10 Open Space provision is an area of work that straddles service areas across the 
Council and has generated issues for the Council, both in terms of staff time to 
secure the provision of well-designed open spaces (as part of development) 
(Planning Service) and financial resources to pay for the longer term management 
and maintenance of public open spaces (Open Spaces Service).  The Council’s 
Open Space service has an increasingly important role to play in ensuring open 
space is provided, managed and maintained to ensure it continues to provide the 
necessary recreational mitigation, and is available for public enjoyment.

3.11 Additional resources are needed to undertake the land transfer process and to liaise 
with planning services over the satisfactory implementation and ‘sign off’ of open 
spaces for hand over to the Council. Funding is required for two new posts: an Open 
Space Transfer Officer and an Open Space Transfer Assistant. 

4. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

4.1 The maximum cost of the additional staff resources in the Development Control 
Service and the Policy and Strategy Service is £267,000. Two principal funding 
streams have been identified that will, over time, generate the necessary income to 
cover these costs.  They are, additional fees related to the pre-application and 
planning application process, and work chargeable to Community Infrastructure Levy 
and developers’ contributions income.  These two funding streams should generate 
an average income of £270,000 per annum, although the flow of income may not be 
even. (It will depend on when development comes forward.)

4.2 The additional posts in the Open Spaces Team will cost up to £88,600, and will, in 
time, be funded by increasing charges on developers for land transfers processes 
and through charges for taking on management and maintenance of the open space 
land.

5. CRIME & DISORDER IMPLICATIONS

5.1 Good design and land management ensures places and open space are safe for 
users.

Page 3



6. ENVIRONMENTAL IMPLICATIONS

6.1 Achievement of high quality environments is the key to achieving planned growth in a 
sustainable manner in an environmentally sensitive area.

7. EQUALITY & DIVERSITY IMPLICATIONS

7.1 None

8. PORTFOLIO HOLDER’S COMMENTS

8.1 I support the recommendations below.

9.0 RECOMMENDATIONS

9.1 It is recommended that Cabinet:

a.) approve expenditure of up to £267,000 on additional staff in the Policy and 
Strategy and Development Control Service areas, as set out in this report, and 
approval of the following posts:

Principal Planning Delivery Officer (Team Leader)
Planning Graduate/Trainee (Policy and Plans Team)
Senior Environmental Design Officer
Landscape Architect 
Planning Delivery Assistant 
Site Monitoring Officer 
Senior Development Management Officer
Senior Planning Enforcement Officer

b.) approve expenditure of up to £88,600 on additional staff in the Open Spaces 
Service area, as set out in this report, and approval of the following posts:

Open Space Transfer Officer 
Open Space Transfer Assistant. 

For further information contact: 

Louise Evans
Service Manager Policy and Strategy
023 8028 5588
Louise.evans@nfdc.gov.uk

David Groom
Service Manager Development Control
023 8028 5588
david.groom@nfdc.gov.uk 

Steve Jones
Service Manager - Open Spaces and Operations
023 8028 5588 
steve.jones@nfdc.gov.uk 

Background Papers: 

None

Page 4

mailto:Louise.evans@nfdc.gov.uk
mailto:david.groom@nfdc.gov.uk
mailto:steve.jones@nfdc.gov.uk


CABINET – 4 JULY 2018 PORTFOLIOS:  ENVIRONMENT 
AND REGULATORY AFFAIRS AND
COMMUNITY AFFAIRS

LITTERING ENFORCEMENT – LITTERING FROM VEHICLES 
OUTSIDE LONDON (KEEPERS: CIVIL PENALTIES) REGULATIONS 
2018

1 INTRODUCTION 

1.1 This report –

 provides an overview of a new enforcement regime in respect of littering from 
vehicles introduced by the Littering from Vehicles Outside London(Keepers: Civil 
penalties) Regulations 2018 (‘the Regulations’);

 summarises the steps required to use the new powers; and
 requests Cabinet’s approval of the Council making use of the new powers and 

the necessary delegations to officers.

2 BACKGROUND

2.1 The Council is a principal litter authority for the purposes of Part IV of the 
Environmental Protection Act 1990 (‘The Act’).  The Act places a statutory duty on the 
Council to ensure that the land within its area is, so far as is practicable, kept clear of 
litter and refuse. 

2.2 The Act provides that a person is guilty of a criminal offence if he “throws down, drops 
or otherwise deposits any litter in any place” in the area of the Council which is open to 
the air and “leaves it”.    The following apply - 

 A person who is guilty of such an offence shall be liable following a criminal 
conviction to a fine not exceeding £2,500.

 Where there is reason to believe that a criminal offence has been committed 
the person may be offered a fixed penalty notice to discharge any liability to 
conviction for that offence.   The amount of a fixed penalty shall be specified by 
the principal litter authority.  

 The Council has currently set the fixed penalty at £80.00, discounted to £50.00 
if paid within 10 days of issue.  

 If the fixed penalty notice is not paid, the Council should take prosecution 
action. 

The Council makes use of these powers in the discharge of its statutory duty to keep 
land free from litter.

2.3 The Department for Environmental Food & Rural Affairs (DEFRA) has identified that, in 
cases of littering from vehicles, it is difficult to identify which person in a vehicle 
committed the offence. 

2.4 As a way of trying to tackle this issue in London, powers were conferred on Borough 
Councils in London to impose a penalty charge on the owner of a vehicle from which 
litter is thrown.  Recent legislation, the Regulations, have conferred similar powers on 
authorities in England.  These Regulations came into force on 1 April 2018. 

Page 5

Agenda Item 5



3 POWERS CONFERRED BY THE REGULATIONS 

Civil penalty notices

3.1 District Councils which have a statutory duty to collect litter are now able to hold the 
keeper of a vehicle responsible for littering offences committed from it.  A civil penalty 
may be imposed if there is reason to believe that a littering offence has been 
committed from the vehicle.   

3.2 The amount of any civil penalty should be the same as the amount set for the fixed 
penalty notice under the Act.  If the civil penalty notice remains unpaid after 28 days, 
there is provision to double the amount due and it becomes recoverable as a civil debt 
or as if payable under a county court order.

3.3 As set out above, the Regulations have been introduced to overcome the difficulties 
Councils had in identifying the offender with sufficient certainty to take enforcement 
action. The powers to issue fixed penalty notices and prosecute under the Act are both 
subject to the criminal burden of proof ‘beyond reasonable doubt’.  The new civil 
penalty powers are subject to the civil burden of proof ‘on the balance of probabilities’.

3.4 There are provisions in the Regulations for persons to appeal against penalty notices, 
both via a written representations procedure to the Council and following this to an 
external adjudicator. 

4 HOW THE POWERS FIT WITH THE CURRENT FIXED PENALTY REGIME

4.1 The new powers do not replace the fixed penalty notice powers in respect of littering 
offences.  However, it is only possible to issue a civil penalty under the Regulations, or 
a fixed penalty under the Act for littering in respect of any one littering offence.  Either 
notice can also be cancelled at any time before it is paid.   Detailed procedures are set 
out in the Regulations.

5 USE OF THE POWERS IN LONDON 2012-2017

5.1 The use of the powers in London, since their introduction, has been minimal. 

5.2 DEFRA commissioned a Scoping Study for Research on Littering from Vehicles which 
was published in November 2015.  The report highlighted a number of issues 
experienced by London Boroughs in implementing the new regime:

 Setting up new systems to deal with the appeals process;
 Difficulties with identifying littering offences using CCTV cameras;
 Difficulties in back office functions dealing with criminal offences and civil 

contraventions;
 Difficulties enforcing payments as there is no standard paperwork in place to 

enable bailiffs to obtain a warrant from the county court as currently happens with 
the Council’s enforcement of parking Penalty Charge Notices; 

 Difficulties enforcing the notices as a civil debt in the county court;

Page 6



5.3 Despite the difficulties experienced by the London Boroughs, the Regulations were 
made to extend the civil penalty powers to the remainder of England. 

5.4 Chris Preston, DEFRA’s Deputy Director of Resources and Waste has issued advice 
to local authorities on implementing the Regulations, in the form of a letter and 
Implementation Advice.  A copy of this letter and the Implementation Advice are 
attached as Appendix 1, parts 1 and 2.

5.5 The letter stated that “it is of course up to you to decide how best to meet your 
statutory duties to keep relevant land clear of litter and refuse, and to keep the 
highways clean.  I am writing to encourage you to make use of these new powers, and 
to provide advice on the steps you may need to take in order to do so”.  The 
Implementation Advice sets out that “any enforcement action should be proportionate 
and in the public interest”. 

6 DELEGATIONS

6.1 The Council operates an extensive scheme of delegation of powers to officers, which 
allows decisions to be taken quickly and efficiently within defined policies. To make 
use of the new powers, delegations are required to deal with the issuing of civil penalty 
notices and any subsequent appeals. 

6.2 Proposed delegations are set out in the table below:

Source Power Delegated Delegated to

Section 88A, 
Environmental 
Protection Act 1990 
and Littering From 
Vehicles – Littering 
From Vehicles Outside 
London (Keepers: Civil 
Penalties) Regulations 
2018, Part 2

To be an authorised 
officer and to exercise 
the powers conferred 
on the litter authority 
in respect of penalty 
notices (fixed 
penalties) 

Executive Head, Service Manager, 
Enforcement Manager, Enforcement 
Team Leader, Enforcement Supervisors
Enforcement Officers, Dog Warden, 
Streetscene Senior Supervisor, 
Streetscene Supervisor

Section 88A, 
Environmental 
Protection Act 1990 
and Littering From 
Vehicles – Littering 
From Vehicles Outside 
London (Keepers: Civil 
Penalties) Regulations 
2018, Part 4

To carry out the 
functions of the litter 
authority following 
representations and 
adjudication

Executive Head, or Service
Manager, Enforcement Manager, 
Enforcement Team Leader, 
Enforcement Supervisors

7 FEES AND CHARGES 

7.1 As referred to above, the Regulations require that the amount specified for the civil 
penalty must be the same as the amount set for fixed penalty notices in respect of 
litter.  Therefore, the civil penalty will be £80.

7.2 Whilst a fixed penalty may be reduced to £50 if it is paid within 10 days, the 
Regulations state that if a Council chooses to accept a lesser amount if it is paid within 

Page 7



a shorter period, that period is set as 14 days.  For consistency, it is proposed that the 
Council does accept a lesser sum for early payment and that sum is agreed as £50.

8 OTHER ISSUES

8.1 Processes and procedures will need to be put in place to make use of the new civil 
penalty notice powers, including to deal with appeals and to pursue unpaid penalties.

8.2 The administrative processes to issue the civil penalty notices and deal with 
challenges will be undertaken by the enforcement team administrative staff. 

8.3 Staff will also require training.

8.4 Whilst the Regulations are designed to make it easier to enforce against offences of 
littering from vehicles and although the burden of proof is reduced, enforcement 
officers will need sufficient evidence to interrogate the DVLA database to identify the 
keeper/owner of the vehicle. 

9 WORKING GROUP

9.1 In order to address the evidential issue identified at 8.4 and to establish a cohesive 
approach with key partners in tackling this important issue, it is proposed to establish a 
working group with officers from:

 Forestry Commission
 National Park Authority
 Verderers of the New Forest
 Hampshire County Council
 Any other authorities/ agencies as may be considered relevant.

9.2 This working group will consider the extent of the problem of littering from vehicles in 
the New Forest and identify how use of the new Regulations can be supported 
including enforcement options and publicity opportunities. 

9.3 The working group should report back to Cabinet as soon as they are able.

10 CONCLUSION

10.1 The Regulations provide the Council with a new civil enforcement power in respect of 
littering offences that take place from a vehicle.

10.2 In order to make use of these powers, there will need to be an investment in the 
development of processes and procedures, staff training and updates to the Council’s 
systems to deal with the new process. 

10.3 DEFRA’s review of the use of the powers in London shows that there was minimal 
uptake. However, DEFRA subsequently adopted the Regulations and have 
encouraged local authorities to make use of the powers. 

10.4 Cabinet are asked to support the use of the new powers in the New Forest and agree 
to the recommendations set out below. 

Page 8



11 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

11.1 Costs will be associated with setting up new procedures to process civil penalty 
notices up to and including the appeal stage and any subsequent enforcement action 
in respect of unpaid penalties.  In addition, there will be costs associated with training 
staff and setting up IT solutions.

11.2 Any income from the payment of civil penalty notices is ring fenced and can only be 
spent on functions relating to litter and refuse (including keeping land and highways 
clear of litter and refuse), and enforcement against littering and littering from vehicles, 
graffiti and fly-posting and controlling and enforcing against the unauthorised 
distribution of free literature.

11.3 It is difficult to quantify possible income and associated costs at this stage.

12 CRIME & DISORDER IMPLICATIONS

12.1 The use of the civil penalty notice scheme is a way of dealing with a potential criminal 
offence through the use of the civil enforcement system. 

13 ENVIRONMENTAL IMPLICATIONS

13.1 The aim of the Regulations is to assist with enforcing against littering offences and in 
turn reduce the amount of litter which is found within the Council’s area. 

13.2 It is not yet known whether the use of the new powers will reduce littering.

14 EQUALITY & DIVERSITY IMPLICATIONS

14.1 There are none.

15 PORTFOLIO HOLDERS’ COMMENTS

15.1 Environment and Regulatory Services  -  I fully support the new powers to fine the 
registered keeper of any vehicle from which litter has been thrown.  It is an important 
extra tool in our fight against littering and we will work with our partners to prevent and 
catch those who throw litter from their vehicles

15.2 Community Affairs  -  As principal litter authority this new Regulation is a welcome 
resource in tackling littering from vehicles.  I support the use of the new powers in the 
Forest and will welcome their early implementation.

Page 9



16 RECOMMENDATIONS

16.1 That Cabinet support the use of the new powers conferred by the Regulations.

16.2 In particular Cabinet is asked to approve the following:

16.2.1 The update to the Council’s scheme of delegations set out at paragraph 6 of 
this report;

16.2.2 The fees and charges set out at paragraphs 7.1 and 7.2 of this report; and

16.2.3 The establishment of a working group as set out at paragraph 9 of this report.

For further information contact: 

Robert Lane
Service Manager  -Streetscene
023 8028 5588
robert.lane@nfdc.gov.uk 

Jamie Burrows
Enforcement Operations Team Leader
023 8028 5588
jamie.burrows@nfdc.gov.uk

Amanda Wilson
Solicitor
02380 285588
amanda.wilson@nfdc.gov.uk 

Background Papers: 

Published documents
DEFRA report: A Scoping Study for 
Research on Littering from Vehicles  
published in November 2015

Page 10

mailto:robert.lane@nfdc.gov.uk
mailto:jamie.burrows@nfdc.gov.uk
mailto:amanda.wilson@nfdc.gov.uk


APPENDIX 1 PART 1

Page 11



This page is intentionally left blank



Implementation advice: Littering from Vehicles outside London 
(Keepers: Civil Penalties) Regulations 2018

Introduction
Our roads and highways are the gateways to our towns and cities, and yet verges, traffic islands, and 
roadside paths are often marred by unsightly litter. Potential investors and customers’ impressions 
of an area can be significantly harmed if they have to drive past accumulated rubbish on their routes 
into town. It is therefore also in your interests to ensure that the area is clean and attractive, in 
order to support a thriving local economy.

These new Regulations enable district councils in England (outside London), and the Council for the 
Isles of Scilly, to issue a civil penalty notice to the keeper of a vehicle from which litter is thrown. This 
removes the need to identify precisely who threw the litter before you can take enforcement action 
against this anti-social behaviour.  In this context, “district” includes authorities which may call 
themselves district, metropolitan, borough, unitary or any other name: it simply means the council 
for the district.  

A civil penalty is a civil fine which unlike a criminal penalty, does not carry the risk of a criminal 
prosecution.  The ‘keeper’ of a vehicle is presumed to be the ‘registered keeper’, but evidence may 
be provided by showing that the vehicle was ‘kept’ by another person at the relevant time: the 
liability to pay the civil penalty rests with the keeper of the vehicle at the time of the offence.  

In this advice, we use the term 'fixed penalty' to refer to a penalty notice issued in lieu of 
prosecution under section 88 of the Environmental Protection Act 1990. We use the term ‘civil 
penalty’ to refer to a civil penalty notice issued under the Littering from Vehicles Outside London 
(Keepers: Civil Penalties) Regulations 2018.

It is up to you whether or not to use these powers. We are absolutely clear that any enforcement 
action should be proportionate and in the public interest. Any surplus income from these penalties is 
ring-fenced to be spent on your statutory functions of keeping relevant land and highways clear of 
litter and refuse, and on enforcement against littering, graffiti and so on.

This advice is merely a guide: the legislation always takes precedence.  See: 
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2018/171/contents/made

Comparison with fixed penalties in lieu of prosecution for littering
In the case of criminal offences such as littering, a successful prosecution will require evidence 
sufficient to prove the offender’s guilt beyond reasonable doubt.  While a fixed penalty may be 
issued where the authorised officer has “reason to believe” that the offence has been committed, it 
will still be necessary to submit evidence proving the offence beyond reasonable doubt in order to  
prosecute the offender if the fixed penalty is unpaid. Failure to pursue unpaid penalties will 
undermine the threat of enforcement, and their effectiveness as a deterrent.

To issue a civil penalty for littering from a vehicle, enforcement officers have to be satisfied that, on 
the balance of probabilities, litter was thrown from that vehicle. If a civil penalty is not paid on time, 
the penalty amount automatically doubles. You can recover unpaid amounts as a civil debt or via 
county court order.

APPENDIX 1 PART 2

Page 13

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2018/171/contents/made


Relationship between fixed penalties in lieu of prosecution and civil penalties for 
littering from a vehicle.
You can only issue either a civil penalty, or a fixed penalty for littering in respect of any one littering 
offence. You can also cancel either type of penalty at any time before it is paid. 

If you issue a civil penalty notice but then cancel it before it is paid, you may still issue a fixed penalty 
notice in respect of the same offence.

If you issue a civil penalty notice and it is paid, you cannot subsequently issue a fixed penalty notice 
or bring a prosecution against anybody for the same littering offence. 

If you issue a civil penalty but, before it is paid, you also bring prosecution proceedings against 
anyone or issue a fixed penalty notice in lieu of prosecution in respect of the same offence, the 
vehicle keeper’s liability to pay the civil penalty notice is discharged. This applies whether or not any 
prosecution is successful.

Therefore, if you issue a civil penalty notice and the recipient provides evidence as to the identity of 
the litterer, you will need to consider whether this is a sufficiently compelling reason to cancel the 
original civil penalty. You may also (separately) decide whether sufficient evidence has been 
provided to pursue criminal enforcement action (a fixed penalty notice or prosecution) against the 
alleged litterer. However, you may only issue one – or no – penalty notice in respect of a single 
littering offence.

Adopting an enforcement policy 
As with other penalties for environmental offences, we are clear that penalties should only be given 
when in the public interest to do so.  Disproportionate enforcement activity, which is not supported 
by suitable education/communications and provision of disposal facilities, undermines legitimate 
messages against littering.

Councils remain accountable to local residents for the decisions they take, including decisions on 
when and how enforcement against environmental offences will be carried out. We therefore 
recommend that enforcement authorities should publish, promote and explain their enforcement 
policies openly, so that local residents can understand their approach.  This should include details of: 

a. the offences against which enforcement action will be taken 

b. the level of penalty for each offence (particularly following any changes) 

c. details of any early payment discounts 

d. arrangements for issuing fixed penalties (by post, electronically etc.) 

e. policies on enforcement against juvenile offenders 

f. policies in the event of non-payment 

g. appeals (if appropriate) 

h. policies on the use of income from fixed penalties 

i. what records are kept, and how information associated with enforcement action is used.

Enforcement authorities may also choose to make clear their policies on when a fixed penalty should 
not be issued.

Page 14



Cameras/ recording devices and evidence from the public
As part of setting your enforcement policy, you will need to decide whether you intend (or are 
willing) to take enforcement action on the basis of CCTV evidence, or evidence supplied by members 
of the public. 

To issue a civil penalty for littering from a vehicle, enforcement officers have to be satisfied that, on 
the balance of probabilities, litter was thrown from that vehicle on the litter authority’s relevant 
land.

You may take enforcement action on the basis of evidence supplied by members of the public 
provided that, in your opinion, the evidence is sufficient to meet the relevant standards of proof. 
You may decide to adopt a policy of only issuing a notice based on multiple public reports of litter 
from the same vehicle, or a pattern of behaviour. 

If you wish to use evidence from a recording device (such as a CCTV camera or dash-cam in one of 
your own vehicles) in appeal proceedings, you will need to produce the recording(s) and a certificate 
stating the circumstances in which the record was produced must be provided (signed by a person 
authorised to do so by the litter authority which installed the device). 1

If you intend to use recording devices to gather evidence in this way, you must ensure that you 
remain compliant with other relevant legislation, such as the Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 
2000, and the Protection of Freedoms Act 2012. The recording devices must be able to produce a 
record of the presence of a particular vehicle on the litter authority’s land, and the date and time at 
which the vehicle is present. 

Communications
If you have not previously carried out enforcement against littering from vehicles, before starting to 
issue penalties you should consider taking steps to inform local residents, and those driving through 
your area, of your intention to use these powers in future. 

Before you can use the powers
Set the penalty level 
Regulation 6 sets out how the amount of a fixed penalty is to be determined. The amount of a 
penalty for littering from a vehicle will be the same as the amount specified by the authority for 
fixed penalty notices for leaving litter. The amount of penalty may therefore vary from litter 
authority to litter authority, within the prescribed range.

Enforcement authorities can set fixed penalties for environmental offences within the ranges 
specified in the Environmental Offences (Fixed Penalties) (England) Regulation 2017. From 1 April 
2018 for littering offences the range is between £50 to £150, with a default penalty of £100 if no 
local level has been set.2 You therefore have significant flexibility to set penalties at an appropriate 
level to reflect local circumstances, including local ability to pay and your expected enforcement 
costs.  

If the fixed penalty is not paid within the fixed penalty payment period (28 days - defined in 
Regulation 2), it will double. 

1 Regulation 20
2 From 1 April 2019, the minimum penalty will increase to £65, in line with changes to penalties for littering 
under the Environmental Offences (Fixed Penalties: England) Regulations 2017 
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2017/1050/contents/made Regulation 5

Page 15

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2017/1050/contents/made


Early-payment discounts
In order to encourage prompt payment, Regulation 6 provides for an early-payment discount to be 
offered if the penalty is paid within 14 days.  Payment of this ‘lesser amount’ within 14 days 
discharges the person’s liability to pay the full penalty amount. The ‘lesser amount’ must not be less 
than £50.

You will need to decide whether to offer an early-payment discount, and (if necessary) agree the 
level of the discounted penalty.

Income from penalties
Receipts from civil penalties for littering from vehicles can only be spent on functions relating to 
litter and refuse (including keeping land and highways clear of litter and refuse, and enforcement 
against littering and littering from vehicles), graffiti and fly-posting, controlling and enforcing against 
the unauthorised distribution of free literature.3

Prepare forms and systems
Penalty notice
Before you begin issuing civil penalties, you will need to prepare a civil penalty notice 
template/form. 

Regulation 6 provides that a civil penalty notice for littering from a vehicle must state all of the 
following: 

 The circumstances alleged to constitute the littering offence in question, including the 
registration mark (if known) of the vehicle concerned 

 How long they have to pay the penalty (28 days from the date the penalty notice is given) 
 The amount of the penalty if paid within 28 days 
 That the amount of the fixed penalty will double if not paid within 28 days 
 That the enforcing litter authority may recover any fixed penalty not paid within 28 days in 

court 
 [If applicable] details of any early-payment discount available if the penalty is paid within 14 

days (including the amount of the discounted penalty, which must not be less than £50) 
 Details of how to pay (the name and address of the person to whom payment must be 

made, and the permissible methods of payment) 
 That the recipient has a right to make representations to the enforcing litter authority  
 The grounds on which representations may be made; and 
 In general terms, how an appeal to an adjudicator can be made.

In order to cross-match with the details from the DVLA’s database of registered keepers, it is 
strongly recommended that the penalty form also contain space for recording the following details; 

 the make of the vehicle 
 the model  
 the colour 

The opening from which the litter was thrown (e.g. driver’s side window) should also be noted. 

Processes and management information
You will also need to establish internal policies and systems for processing and recording:

3 Regulation 11

Page 16



 penalties issued (including issuing officer, date, details of the offence, recipient’s details, 
address to which the penalty is sent etc.); 

 payments received (amount, date received – including payments following debt recovery)
 payments overdue (including penalties registered for debt recovery)
 representations received (including date received, ground(s) cited, supporting evidence etc.)
 outcome of considering representations (including date sent to penalty recipient)
 penalties cancelled/refunded and reasons
 penalties appealed and appeal outcomes

You may wish to use existing systems and/or software which could be adapted for this purpose – for 
example systems used for tracking other fixed penalties, or for civil parking enforcement.

It is recommended as good practice that enforcing authorities make information about their 
enforcement activities publicly available: a suitable management information system will also enable 
reports to be easily generated for this purpose. 

Establish access to the DVLA Web-enabled Enquiry (WEE) System
Access to the DVLA WEE system is available to all councils upon request. If you do not currently have 
access, you should contact the DVLA at: Kadoeservice.support@DVLA.gsi.gov.uk  

The WEE system is designed to allow councils access to data for the investigation/prosecution of a 
specific range of offences. In particular, an enquiry can be made for vehicle keeper details where 
“waste/rubbish is seen or witnessed being deposited in an open or public place which is not an 
authorised waste disposal site, or without the permission of the landowner”.

For the purposes of issuing a civil penalty to the keeper of a vehicle from which litter is thrown, the 
“keeper” to which the penalty notice should be issued is the person by whom the vehicle is kept at 
the time when the littering offence in question occurs. In the case of a registered vehicle this is 
presumed to be the registered keeper, unless it is proven otherwise.4 

Authorise people to issue penalties
Enforcement staff (whether in-house, or under contract) must be authorised in writing to issue civil 
penalties for littering from vehicles.  If you have already authorised staff or contractors to issue fixed 
penalty notices for littering etc, they will need separate, written authorisation to issue civil penalties 
for littering from vehicles.

Environmental enforcement officers may also be authorised to carry out other functions in addition 
to environmental enforcement, for example, parking enforcement duties, or vice versa.5 
Enforcement authorities that choose to take this approach will need to ensure that neither function 
is compromised as a result of the integration of duties. Income from penalties issued under each 
statutory regime should be kept separate.

We are clear that, where councils choose to use a third-party enforcement service, they should use 
an approach which is not based on targets on the number of penalties given or revenue raised as 
this practice undermines public confidence in and support for a fair judicial system. 

4 Anti-social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014, section 154(9) 
5 ‘Dual Function Civil Enforcement Officers’, Department for Transport (2016), available at 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/609788/statutory-guidance-
local-authorities-enforcement-parking-contraventions.pdf 

Page 17

mailto:Kadoeservice.support@dvla.gsi.gov.uk
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/609788/statutory-guidance-local-authorities-enforcement-parking-contraventions.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/609788/statutory-guidance-local-authorities-enforcement-parking-contraventions.pdf


Enforcement authorities remain responsible for the whole enforcement process, whether they 
contract out part of it or not. Enforcement authorities should not contract out the consideration of 
representations or challenges against penalties.

The Regulations set out timescales for various stages of the process. For example:

 Regulation 15 requires that you consider and respond to representations against a penalty 
notice within 56 days. 

 Regulation 6 provides that an unpaid penalty becomes recoverable 28 days after it is given.

You should therefore authorise and train enough staff to meet these timescales for the volume of 
work that you anticipate. 

Train and equip your enforcement team 
Training
Training should be seen as a legitimate and important aspect of running costs.  

The processes for issuing and pursuing fixed penalty notices and civil penalties are not identical, and 
you should make sure that enforcement officers issuing civil penalties are fully trained in the detail 
of the regulations, the process for issuing penalties, and how to deal with associated 
representations, appeals and debt recovery. The office processes involved are also important and 
staff carrying them out need similar levels of skill, training and professionalism as the more visible 
on-street enforcement officers.

The process of considering challenges, representations and defence of appeals is a legal process that 
requires officers dealing with these aspects to be trained in the relevant legislation and how to apply 
it. They should be well versed in the collection, interpretation and consideration of evidence; writing 
clear but concise case-specific responses to challenges, enquiries and representations; presenting 
the authority’s case to adjudicators.

If the service is to command public confidence and respect, it is essential to give enforcement staff 
at all levels the skills and training to do their jobs effectively, whether they are employed directly by 
the enforcing authority, or by a contractor. If you choose to outsource any area of enforcement to a 
private company, you are responsible for ensuring that the contractor meets the same standards as 
would be expected of your own authority.

Equipment
Enforcement officers should be equipped with a uniform or badge, and carry a Police and Criminal 
Evidence Act (PACE) Notebook for recording evidence to support a fixed penalty or prosecution. It is 
best practice for enforcement officers to carry identification e.g. a warrant card.

Make provision for appeals
You should offer individuals flexible and efficient ways to get in contact about penalties received, 
including e-mail and telephone. You should also ensure there is an adequate audit trail to rebut any 
accusations of unfairness.  

The Regulations provide that a person to whom a penalty is given may make representations to the 
litter authority against the penalty on specified grounds. If you do not accept those representations, 
the person has a right to appeal to independent adjudicators. 6 The independent adjudicators and 
their support staff are collectively known as the Traffic Penalty Tribunal. 

6 See Regulation 14 and Part 4 of the Regulations

Page 18



The Traffic Penalty Tribunal operates a digital by default online appeal system – FOAM (Fast Online 
Appeal Management).  Appellants submit their appeal, authorities respond online and upload 
evidence and the adjudicator publishes a decision online. In some circumstances, the adjudicator will 
conduct a telephone hearing with all parties invited to participate.   All local authorities outside 
London that operate civil parking enforcement use this system.  A dashboard enables authorities to 
manage their cases and includes reporting functionality.  The tribunal also operates an Assisted 
Digital Support programme for people who are not able to appeal online.

Regulation 18 provides for this function to be exercised by PATROL (Parking and Traffic Regulation 
Outside London), and that the expenses associated with the adjudication (including the expenses of 
the joint committee or joint committees and the remuneration of adjudicators) must be paid by the 
litter authorities. 7 It will be up to the joint committee to decide and agree how to allocate these 
costs between the litter authorities. 

You must therefore be a member of PATROL to use these powers. You can find more information 
about PATROL online at: https://www.patrol-uk.info/ 

Prepare to pursue unpaid penalties
Debts arising from unpaid penalties can be registered with the Traffic Enforcement Centre (TEC) at 
Northampton County Court.  Existing TEC customers can do this using contravention 75 and their 
existing prefix – individual identifier. New TEC customers should contact 
TECInsight@hmcts.gsi.gov.uk  for further assistance.

7 Regulation 18(3) provides for this function to be discharged by “the joint committee responsible for 
discharging functions relating to parking contraventions in accordance with regulation 16(1) of the Civil 
Enforcement of Parking Contraventions (England) General Regulations 2007”.

Page 19

https://www.patrol-uk.info/
mailto:TECInsight@hmcts.gsi.gov.uk


Page 20



Flow chart of civil enforcement process

Page 21



This page is intentionally left blank



CABINET – 4 JULY 2018: PORTFOLIO:  ALL

ANNUAL PERFORMANCE AND PROVISIONAL BUDGET OUTTURN 
REPORT 2017/18

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1 ‘Our corporate plan’ is supported by a corporate framework which provides further 
context around the main issues the plan aims to address, and key strategies which will 
contribute to the delivery of the plan.  This report provides an overview of the Council’s 
performance and achievements over the last 12 months and sets out provisional 
details of the 2017/18 projected financial outturn positions for the General Fund, 
Capital Programme and Housing Revenue Account.  In recognition of some of the 
challenges moving forward it also sets out key strategies for implementation during 
2018/19.

1.2 The Council’s statutory Statement of Accounts will be completed and signed by the 
Responsible Financial (S151) Officer by 31 May and will be presented to Audit 
Committee in July following external audit.  Should there be any significant variations 
from the figures presented in this report, they will be highlighted at that Committee. 
The Outturn now presented is in management format.

2. BACKGROUND

2.1 Much of the focus for 2017/18 has been on the achievement of the service reviews 
and key activities contained within the delivery plan including the generation of 
additional income, whilst maintaining frontline service delivery in support of the visions 
and priorities of the corporate plan.  

2.2 The Council’s financial planning process further supports the delivery of the corporate 
objectives and the annual budget, and its performance, is an element of the overall 
corporate plan.

2.3 The provisional outturn for 2017/18 as reported to cabinet in April resulted in revised 
General Fund, Capital Programme and Housing Revenue Account budgets as follows;

Original 
Budget

Latest Budget 
April Cabinet

Reported 
Variations

£'m £'m £'m
General Fund 16.587 15.346 -1.241
Capital Programme 21.266 24.418 3.152
Housing Revenue Account (Income) -27.919 -27.990 -0.071
Housing Revenue Account (Expend.) 27.919 26.681 -1.238

Page 23

Agenda Item 7



3. PERFORMANCE

3.1 Performance continues to be maintained despite ongoing funding reductions.  
Appendix 1 illustrates some of the Council’s achievements and key data for 2017/18, 
whilst also providing a current picture of the Council’s organisational structure.

3.2 The level of central government funding reduced by £1.757m from 2016/17 to 2017/18, 
with further reductions forecast in future years. Appendix 2 (Corporate Framework) 
introduces the key strategies in development for 2018/19 which will contribute to 
delivering a level of service that the local population expect, despite these significant 
reductions.

4. BUDGET OUTTURN

4.1 The Annual Budget is an important element of the delivery of the Council’s financial 
strategy which supports the delivery of core services and provides value for money to 
local taxpayers. Financial Monitoring Reports and Medium Term Financial Plan 
updates to Cabinet throughout the year provide up to date information on both current 
performance, and the budget outlook over a medium term period.

4.2 The updated General Fund revenue outturn position confirms a spend of £14.558m.  
This is a favourable yearend variation of £788,000, and results in a total favourable 
variation for the year as against the original budget of £2.029m.  The Financial 
Monitoring reports presented through Cabinet during the year confirm the reasoning 
for the significant variations other than the outturn variation of £788,000, which are 
summarised within Appendix 3. As stated within the April Cabinet Financial Monitoring 
report, a review of the variations against the original budget will be undertaken to 
determine which are on-going and not yet reflected in the 2018/19 budget or forward 
looking MTFP. 

4.3 The updated Capital Programme outturn position confirms a spend for the year of 
£24.918m.  This is a yearend variation of +£500,000, and results in a total variation for 
the year of +£3.652m.

4.4 The updated Housing Revenue Account position confirms income for the year of 
£27.965m and a spend for the year of £26.153m.  This results in a favourable yearend 
variation of £502,000, and results in an overall favourable variation for the year of 
£1.812m, with £64,000 being transferred to the ICT reserve.

4.5 The following table summarises the positions as explained above;

Original 
Budget

Outturn 
Position Total Variation

£'m £'m £'m
General Fund 16.587 14.558 -2.029
Capital Programme 21.266 24.918 3.652
Housing Revenue Account (Income) -27.919 -27.965 -0.05
Housing Revenue Account (Expend.) 27.919 26.153 -1.77

Page 24



5. ENVIRONMENTAL, CRIME AND DISORDER AND EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS

5.1 There are no environmental, crime and disorder or equality implications arising directly 
from this report.

6. COMMENTS FROM OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY PANELS

6.1 Each of the Panels have considered the report and noted the content.  The Corporate 
Overview and Scrutiny Panel welcomed the new format and considered that the public 
would find the document useful.

7. LEADER’S COMMENTS

7.1 I am delighted with this statement of the Council’s position and its acknowledgement of 
the continued good performance of the Council within the context of the many 
challenges that we face.

8. RECOMMENDATIONS

8.1 It is recommended that the Cabinet:

(a) Notes the performance and achievements as set out in Appendix 1
(b) Notes the key delivery actions for 2018/19 set out in Appendix 2
(c) Notes the provisional General Fund outturn position
(d) Notes the provisional outturn position of the Capital Programme
(e) Notes the provisional outturn position of the Housing Revenue Account.

Further Information: Background Papers:
Alan Bethune
Head of Finance
Tel: 023 8028 5588
Email: Alan.bethune@nfdc.gov.uk

Sheryl Parry
Business Improvement Project Manager
Tel:  023 8028 5588
Email:  Sheryl.Parry@nfdc.gov.uk 

Our corporate plan – 
Cabinet 3 February 2016

Financial Monitoring 
Report – Cabinet 4 April 
2018

 

Page 25

mailto:Alan.bethune@nfdc.gov.uk
mailto:Sheryl.Parry@nfdc.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



The New Forest is an area of southern England 
which includes one of the largest remaining tracts 
of unenclosed pasture land, heathland and forest 
in the heavily populated south east of England. It 
covers south-west Hampshire and extends into 
south-east Wiltshire and towards east Dorset. It is a 
unique place of ancient history, fascinating wildlife 
and stunning beauty and was established as a royal 
hunting preserve.
The local government administrative area of New 
Forest District Council (290 square miles) includes 
the New Forest National Park (206 square miles). 
Within the district there are 145 square miles of 
Crown land, managed by the Forestry Commission. 
The New Forest is a working forest that has 
prospered for nearly 1000 years. Many of the 
agricultural practices conceded by the Crown in 
historical times to local people are still retained. 
The most significant of these is the depasturing 

of ponies, cattle, pigs and donkeys in the open 
forest by authorised local inhabitants known as 
Commoners. These unique agricultural commoning 
practices are administered by the Verderers.
The district council was created on 1 April 1974 and 
was a merger of the borough of Lymington, New 
Forest Rural District and part of Ringwood and 
Fordingbridge Rural District. The district is one of 
the most populated in England (179,236) not to be 
a unitary authority and within its boundaries there 
are 37 active Town and Parish Councils.  Hampshire 
County Council are responsible for upper tier 
services.
Operating within the heart of the district council 
area is the National Park Authority established in 
2005. The National Park is the planning authority 
for its area. In other service areas there are shared 
responsibilities and close collaborative working 
with the district council. Approximately 70% of the 

population of the district live in the New Forest 
District Council authority area in a number of 
medium sized towns. To the south and east of the 
district border there lies 40 miles of coastline.
The broad range of organisations and community 
groups that exist means that the council works 
collaboratively with and in the community to deliver 
solutions.
The New Forest is home to the third largest 
economy in Hampshire, with a total Gross Value 
Added of £4.4bn. The district contains over 9,000 
businesses in total, which is more than any other 
local authority in Hampshire, include the cities of 
Southampton and Portsmouth. 85% of businesses 
in the district  are micro in size employing fewer 
than 10 people. Self-employment is relatively high at 
over 19% and unemployment is consistently lower 
than in the rest of the country. Leisure, tourism and 
marine along with their associated supply chains 

are significant employment and economic sectors 
within the district.  The council works closely with the 
New Forest Business Partnership and ‘Helping local 
business grow’ is a priority.
Average earnings are low with 60% of the working 
population earning less than the UK average. 
This, and the high average house price, results 
in significant cross commuting between those 
who work in the forest but can’t afford to live 
there, and those who can afford to live within the 
district but work elsewhere. The district council is 
located between the two major conurbations of 
Southampton and Bournemouth.
The very special nature of the New Forest makes it 
an extremely attractive place to live; both for those 
in work and those wishing to retire (28.5% of the 
population is over 65). Housing development is 
made more difficult by many of the environmental 
constraints of the area.

Introduction - The New Forest 

POSITION STATEMENT 2018 
AND ANNUAL PERFORMANCE REPORT

APPENDIX 1

P
age 27



New Forest District Council
Housing, and particularly affordable housing 
for local people is a particular issue in the 
district. The district council manages its own 
housing stock (5,021 properties) and there 
are in excess of 3,000 people on the housing 
waiting list.
The New Forest district local plan review 
provides the opportunity to shape the district 
over the next twenty years and this will 
be an important process for the council to 
complete.  Early indications are that not all 
identified housing need will be met. There 
are opportunities for a significant change, 
particularly in the Totton and Waterside area. 
The vast majority of services are provided by 
in house teams. This includes the operation 
of five high quality Health & Leisure Centres, 
a Housing Services Building Works team 
as well as Refuse and Recycling, Grounds 
Maintenance and Street Scene. The council 
employs 759 FTEs with a small number of 
services provided by third parties or through 
shared service arrangements.
The council’s assets consist of five Health 
and Leisure Centres, two depots, two 
administrative offices and a number of 
local town and amenity car parks. Other than these 
primarily operational assets, the council owns few 
investment opportunities. 
In May 2015 the council’s new Conservative 
administration won 58 out of 60 seats at the district 
council election. They set about aligning their 
manifesto pledges to the council’s Corporate Plan 
(March 2016) with their priorities to secure a better 
future for the community. The priorities are:
• Helping local business to grow
• More homes for local people
• Service outcomes for the community
• Protecting the local character of our place

These priorities were underpinned by: 
• Living within our means
• Working with others to achieve more
In the last two years significant change has 
taken place within the senior management of the 
organisation and in the way in which the council 
goes about its business as the council has set about 
rebalancing its expenditure and income in light 
of the significant reduction in central government 
funding. During this period services have maintained 
a consistent level of delivery. There is recognition 
that despite these changes the organisation needs 
to ensure that it has the capacity to deliver on its 
priorities.

Our performance highlights 2017/18
New Forest District Council remains committed to 
delivering the priorities set out in the 2016-2020 
Corporate Plan: Helping local business grow, More 
homes for local people, Service outcomes for the 
community, Protecting the local character of our 
place, Working with others to achieve more and 
Living within our means.
Our Economic Development Service continues to 
work with a variety of partners to deliver a range 
of information and advice, and has organised and 
led 32 events during 2017/18. Examples include 
providing specific workshops on GDPR legislations, 
dedicated 1-1 business clinics and a seminar on 

securing purchasing opportunities with the 
District Council.
We rehoused 389 households from the home 
search register in 2017/18. However, there 
are still over 3,000 applicants on the register 
seeking council housing which we will continue 
to work hard to address.
We have been involved in a number of projects 
to assist the wellbeing of our community. This 
has included targeting high levels of childhood 
obesity, and introducing activities to help 
relieve the symptoms of dementia.
Work to deliver the Hurst Spit defence project 
alongside the Environmental Agency has 
continued and the coastal protection scheme is 
set to benefit communities in the local area.
£218,020 in grants was approved this year for 
15 local not-for-profit and voluntary groups as 
part of the community grants scheme. We also 
continued to work with local charities, including 
donating IT equipment we no longer use to the 
local homeless charity “Jamie’s Computers”.
Net Savings and improved income generation 
totalling £1.377m have absorbed pay and price 
increases across the Portfolios totalling some 
£1.130m, and have also made an important 
contribution towards offsetting the reductions 

in government resources. The residual required 
increase in Council Funding has been achieved by 
an increase in Council Tax.

Town

National ParkMartin
Whitsbury

Rockbourne

Damerham

Breamore

Ibsley

Ellingham

Avon

Sopley

Sandleheath Ashford

Fordingbridge

Hale

Woodgreen

Godshill

Frogham

Hyde

North Gorley

Linwood

Poulner

Ringwood

Burley

Thorney Hill

Bransgore

Totton

Hythe

Lymington
New Milton

Barton on Sea

Milford-on-Sea Keyhaven

Lyndhurst

Brockenhurst

Sway

Hordle

Everton
Downton

Ashurst

Calshot

Fawley

Furzley

Bramshaw

Brook
Fritham

Bashley
Tiptoe

Minstead

Emery Down

Bank

Winsor

Copythorne
Bartley

Netley Marsh

Woodlands

Eling

Marchwood

Dibden

Hardley

Holbury

Blackfield
Langley

Exbury

Lepe

Beaulieu

East Boldre

Boldre
Norleywood

East End

Walhampton

Hinton

© Crown copyright and database rights 2017
Ordnance Survey 100026220

P
age 28



UNDERSTANDING 
OF THE LOCAL 

PLACE AND 
PRIORITY 
SETTING 

Average earnings (full time) in the 
New Forest are £667 per week

People make 13.5m day trips to 
the New Forest each year generating 
£120m and supporting more than 
2,500 jobs

9,000 businesses

We receive 165 homelessness 
applications a year and prevent 282 
other households from becoming 
homeless

5,021 council houses

142,234 district residents are 
eligible to vote

9,000 households are supported 
with housing benefit and/or council 
tax reduction

176,462  
population

65-84yrs  

21%

85+  

4%

45-64yrs  

29%
25-44yrs  

21%

15-24yrs  

10%

0-14yrs  

15%

SOUTHAMPTON

BOURNEMOUTHPOOLE

NATIONAL PARK

SALISBURY

NFDC area
290sqm

National Park 
area 

206sqm

Economy Employed 
46.5%  

  

Self 
employed

13%

Retired 
34.5%  

 Inactive 
/other
6% 

Helping local 
business grow

More homes 
for local people

Protecting the 
local character 

of our place

Service 
outcomes for 

the community

Working with 
others to 

achieve more

Living within  
our means

Leisure, tourism and marine are significant 
employment sectors within the district. We 
work closely with the New Forest Business 
Partnership and the New Forest Tourism 
Association to boost the economic viability of 
the area. 

We grant planning permission to over 1,000 
planning applications for new dwellings per 
year, and around 284 new homes are built 
here every year, 62 of them being affordable 
new homes.  With over 3,000 people on the 
Homesearch register, ‘more homes for local 
people’ is one of our key priorities. 

We provide over 100 local services  that 
our residents value, including refuse, street 
cleaning, benefits, health and leisure, and 
housing advice. We regularly review our 
services to understand how we can improve 
and what our customers want.

We continually review activities and services 
to identify opportunities for savings and 
opportunities to generate income to address 
significant reductions in government funding, 
whilst at the same time maintaining services 
that are important to our customers. 

We have a role to play in protecting and 
improving the New Forest. We know that we 
can’t realise our ambitions in isolation and work 
closely with the National Park Authority, the 
Forestry Commission, town and parish councils, 
local businesses, and numerous local groups. 

We recognise the area’s unique qualities 
and characteristics - our Local Plan shapes 
development in the area, and we work to keep 
the area a clean, green, and safe place. NFDC is 
responsible for areas outside the National Park, 
and outside Forestry Commission Crown Lands.  

57,603  

owned

8,440  

socially 
rented

9,293  
private 
rented

76,839  
households

P
age 29



Our Economic Development Service continues to 
work with a variety of partners to deliver a range 
of information and advice, and has organised 
and led 32 events during 2017/18. Examples 
include providing specific workshops on GDPR 
legislations, dedicated 1-1 business clinics and 
a seminar on securing purchasing opportunities 
with the District Council.

We were involved in the New Forest Partnership 
Awards, and the New Forest Brilliance 
in Business Awards 2017, celebrating 
businesses that achieve outstanding results 
which benefit their workforce, their local 
community and the New Forest economy as a 
whole. The overall winner of the awards were 
Cyclexperience in Brockenhurst, who play an 
important part in the local economy by not only 
providing significant seasonal employment, 
but also in ensuring that users of the cycle hire 
service use other local, independent businesses 
and respect the natural forest that they are 
visiting.

Our specialist team launched a free business 
advice service for New Forest businesses 
in July, providing bespoke information on 
areas such as grants, planning, regulations and 
business growth. 

We continue to see benefits of our partnership 
with Creative England to encourage filming in 
the district, with around a dozen documentaries 
filmed in the area this year. Fawley Power Station 
was used as part of the set for the most recent 
Star Wars film, generating an additional £1 
million in the local economy during filming.

We have been involved in a number of 
projects to assist the wellbeing of our 
community. This has included targeting 
high levels of childhood obesity, and introducing 
activities to help relieve the symptoms of 
dementia.
In total, over 10 million waste and recycling 
collections were made during the year, with only 
0.06% reported as missed. Two new public 
conveniences have been rebuilt at New Milton 
and Lymington which continue to be well-
received within the local communities. 

The annual community litter pick was once again 
supported by volunteers over several weekends.

We launched the Eat Out, Eat Well public health 
scheme in July, and continued to carry out 
regular food hygiene inspections 
across the district which provides reassurance to 
both residents and visitors when eating out. 

Our Health and Leisure centre membership has 
increased from 7,616 up to 8,208 over the 
course of the year. Our Ringwood centre was 
reopened following significant investment in 
the facility, and we also launched a new “New 
Forest Health & Leisure” app which enables 
users to book classes quickly and access a host 
of information.

We rehoused 389 households from the home 
search register in 2017/18. However, there are 
still over 3,000 applicants on the register 
seeking council housing which we will continue 
to work hard to address.

The Local Plan continues to be developed 
and refined and will be published for wider 
consultation in the Summer of 2018. It will 
include proposals for 10,000 new houses in 
the district over the next 20 years.

284 additional homes were built this year, 
with 62 of these being affordable. Our Housing 
Strategy aims to improve availability of genuinely 
affordable homes, and identifies a range of ways 
in which the council will enhance housing options 
available and the supply of affordable housing 
for the benefit of local people. The council, in its 
capacity as housing authority, acquired a further 
16 homes for social rent during 17/18.

We have also been awarded almost £1 million 
of Community Housing Funds (CHF), part of a 
national scheme for areas where second home 
ownership is high. This will allow the council 
to promote and assist the development of 
community housing schemes in the future, which 
could include co-operatives, co-housing, self-
build and Community Land trusts.

HELPING LOCAL 
BUSINESS GROW

SERVICE OUTCOMES FOR 
THE COMMUNITY

MORE HOMES FOR 
LOCAL PEOPLE

P
age 30



Work to deliver the Hurst Spit defence project 
alongside the Environmental Agency has 
continued and the coastal protection 
scheme is set to benefit communities in the 
local area.

We continue to work hard to remove abandoned 
vehicles, with 54 being removed this year 
compared to 60 last year, and 26 in 2015/16. 

Our Milford-on-Sea beach huts and seafront 
improvement scheme was completed in time 
for Summer 2017. The innovative design and 
engineering behind the scheme has been 
recognised in a series of prestigious awards 
throughout the course of the year.

King George V Recreation Ground was  enhanced 
to include new footpaths, improved drainage and 
a bespoke dog activity area. The dog park is part 
of our “Greenway” project and this is the first of 
many similar projects that will improve dog 
walking facilities across the district.

With our support, The Eling Tide Mill 
experience reopened in April 2018 after a major 
refurbishment project. This included installing 
new footpaths and wooden boardwalks and 
improving access to open spaces around Bartley 
Water and Goatee Beach.

Net Savings and improved income generation 
totalling £1.377m have absorbed pay and 
price increases across the Portfolios totalling 
some £1.130m, and have also made an 
important contribution towards offsetting the 
reductions in government resources. The residual 
required increase in Council Funding has been 
achieved by an increase in Council Tax. 

Our draft Residential Property Asset Investment 
strategy was approved by full council in 
December 2017, which will give us the 
opportunity to purchase residential properties 
and become a private sector landlord with the 
benefit of a proven track record in rental property 
management.

The undertaking of several service reviews, 
additional income generation, and a review 
of our asset maintenance and replacement 
programme resulted in overall savings during 
the year against the original 2017/18 revenue 
budget.

We have continued to deliver our services 
alongside a reduction in headcount equivalent 
to 21 full time posts over the past year, 
representing 2.7% of the workforce.

PROTECTING THE LOCAL  
CHARACTER OF  

OUR PLACE
LIVING WITHIN  

OUR MEANS
£218,020 in grants was approved this year 
for 15 local not-for-profit and voluntary groups 
as part of the community grants scheme. We also 
continued to work with local charities, including 
donating IT equipment we no longer use to the 
local homeless charity “Jamie’s Computers”.

We support the Forest Arts Forum, which 
allows organisations such as hArt, CODA, Forest 
Arts and Forest Forge to use the arts to tackle 
issues such as social isolation and bullying. 
We continue to undertake a national pilot with 
Sport England – the “Social Prescribing” 
project to explore the benefits of basing Active 
Lifestyle Officers in GP surgeries targeting hard 
to reach patients.

Alongside other public sector organisations, we 
participated in “Our Day” on 21 November, a 
national tweetathon to highlight public services. 
We posted nearly 100 tweets about our staff 
and services, achieving a Twitter reach of a 
staggering 749,000 people.

We have an ongoing partnership with the 
National Parks Authority and 
Forestry Commission and work together 
on initiatives such as litter picking, and were 
recently involved in a multi-agency approach to 
improve safety and licencing of local vehicles. We 
are also collaborating with our partners in order 
to contribute to the New Forest National Park 
partnership plan.

WORKING WITH OTHERS 
TO ACHIEVE MORE

P
age 31



FINANCIAL 
PLANNING AND 

VIABILITY

Living within  
our means

	 2014/15	 2015/16	 2016/17	 2017/18	 2018/19
Council Tax per Band D - £	 155.76	 155.76	 158.36	 163.36	 168.36
Annual % change	 0.0%	 0.0%	 1.7%	 3.2%	 3.1%

January 
Updated MTFP

November 
Financial Monitoring

February 
Budget & Council 

Tax Set

July 
Annual Report (back) 
Initial MTFP (forward)

October 
Updated MTFP

August 
Financial Monitoring

September 
Corporate Overview 

Panel

October 
Budget Task &  
Finish Group

January 
Corporate Overview 

Panel

	 Savings	New Req.	Rephasing	 Total
	 £’000	 £’000	 £’000	 £’000
Original Budget April 2017/18				    16,587 
Variations agreed in August	 -499 	 567 	 1,146 	 1,214 
Transfer from Reserves in August		  -150 	 -1,146 	 -1,296 
Variations agreed in November	 -392 	 25 	 -416 	 -783 
Transfer to Reserves in November			   416 	 416 
Variations agreed in April	 -1,430 	 301 	 -438 	 -1,567 
Transfer to Reserves in April	 337 		  438 	 775 
Updated Budget 2017/18	 -1,984 	 743 	 0 	 15,346 

Summary Balance Sheet 31/03/18	
	 £’000
Council Dwellings	 366,652
Other PPE	 78,769
Investment Properties	 4,695
Other Long Term Assets	 22,744
Current Assets	 52,362
Total Assets	 525,222
Current Liabilities	 (20,118)
HRA Settlement	 (139,808)
Other Long Term Liabilities	 (99,352)
Net Assets	 265,944
	
Usable Reserves	 53,533
Unusable Reserves	 212,411
	 265,944

Summary Usable Reserves 31/03/18	
	 GF	 HRA	 Total
	 £’000	 £’000	 £’000
Working Balance	 3,000	 1,000	 4,000
Earmarked	 2,686	 23,157	 25,843
Capital Programme	 12,409		  12,409
Capital Receipts	 1,092	 4,823	 5,915
	 19,187	 28,980	 48,167
CIL / DC’s			   5,366
			   53,533

15

20

£m

2017/182016/172015/162014/152013/14

General  fund budget - £m

Current position

The Council’s net worth increased by 
£2.551m in 2017/18.

Usable Reserves grew by £1.1m at the end 
of 2017/8, to £53.5m.  The Treasury 
Management Strategy allows for up to 
£40m to be invested long term.

The Capital Programme for 2017/18 
totalled £23.237m, including 
major repairs to the council’s housing 
stock, new homes, the replacement of 
vehicles and plant, the Eling Experience 
project and the first investment property 
purchase for several years, in line with 
the strategy adopted in February 2017.

Treasury Investment income grew to 
£820,000, £150,000 up on 2016/17.

2022 position

Predicted budget deficit of £2m

Budgeted Expenditure 2018/19 £’000
(Exc. Housing Bens)

Government Determined Resources

Band D Council Tax: 
Hampshire Districts & Parish/Town  

2018-19

Capital Financing

Support Services

Supplies & Services

Transport

Premises

Employees

23,842

4,936

2,227

7,061 

2,538

7740

50

100

150

200

250

Di
str

ict
 av

er
ag

e

Ba
sin

gs
to

ke
 & 

De
an

e 

Fa
re

ha
m 

Te
st 

Va
lle

y 

Ru
sh

mo
or

 

Ha
va

nt

Ea
stl

eig
h 

Ea
st 

Ha
mp

sh
ire

Wi
nc

he
ste

r 

Go
sp

or
t 

Ha
rt

Ne
w 

Fo
re

st 

Parish & Town
District

0

2000

4000

6000

8000

10000 Transition Grant

New Homes Bonus

Revenue Support Grant

Business Rates Above Baseline

Business Rates Baseline

2021/222020/212019/202018/192017/182016/172015/16

P
age 32



Current position

Staff turnover 7.7% 
77% of vacancies are filled first time

7 apprentices and 17 management 
development apprenticeships

Training spend per employee £296
Organisational strategy
Future position 2022
Aligning future organisation with delivery 
of the corporate plan
Increased partnering and 
collaboration with others to reduce 
costs and transform service delivery

Continuing on our path to act more 
business-like with targeted additional 
income generation
Aiming to maximise income from 
local government finance reform

Encouraging smarter working and 
the use of digital interaction, transforming 
our approach to customer services

Challenges
1	  With further reductions in funding, what 

are our arrangements to deliver with 
less?

2	 Can the organisation sustain capability 
and capacity with its existing workforce?

3	 Are arrangements in place to support 
future smarter working?

CAPACITY TO 
DELIVER

Helping local 
business grow

More homes 
for local  
people

Protecting the 
local character 

of our place

Service 
outcomes for 

the community

Technology

Risk/Opportunity

Customer Expectations

FTEs 
less than 780

Varied 
mix of service 

delivery

Budget 
requirement 

10% less

FTE 759 Budget £17.243m

Reserves £53.5m

Organisation 2017/18

Organisation 2022

Pa
rk

ing
Ot

he
r

Gr
an

ts 
(in

c. 
CA

B)

CC
TV

Pu
bli

c C
on

ve
nie

nc
es

Pla
nn

ing
 Po

lic
y

Me
mb

er
s' 

Ex
pe

ns
es

Ho
me

les
s A

ss
ist

an
ce

Co
rp

or
at

e M
gm

t

Co
un

cil
 Ta

x C
oll

ec
tio

n

De
v. 

Co
nt

. &
 En

fo
rce

me
nt

Gr
ou

nd
s M

ain
t &

 O
pe

n S
pa

ce
s

Co
as

t P
ro

te
cti

on
En

vir
on

me
nt

al 
He

alt
h

St
re

et
 Sc

en
e

Pe
ns

ion
 In

cre
as

e A
ct

He
alt

h &
 Le

isu
re

 Ce
nt

re
s

Re
fu

se
 an

d R
ec

yc
lin

g

-15

-10

-5

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

0

30

60

90

120

150

Co
as

ta
l a

nd
 Pu

bli
c F

ac
ilit

ies

En
vir

on
me

nt
al 

an
d R

eg
ula

tio
n

Pla
nn

ing
, B

uil
din

g C
on

tro
l &

 Po
lic

y

Op
en

 Sp
ac

es

St
re

et
 Sc

en
e

Cu
sto

me
r S

er
vic

es

Bu
ild

ing
 W

or
ks

Co
rp

or
at

e S
up

po
rt

Ho
us

ing
, P

ro
pe

rty
 an

d C
om

mu
nit

y

Wa
ste

 & 
Tra

ns
po

rt

He
alt

h a
nd

 Le
isu

re

Use of Band D Council Tax 2018/18 budgetWorkforce data by service FTE  2017

P
age 33



Leader and Corporate 
Affairs

Cllr Barry Rickman

Deputy Leader and 
Portfolio Holder 

 Planning & Infrastructure
Cllr Edward Heron

Portfolio Holder 
Housing Services

Cllr Jill Cleary

Portfolio Holder 
Community Affairs
Cllr Diane Andrews

Portfolio Holder 
Finance, Corporate Services 

& Improvement
Cllr Jeremy Heron

Portfolio Holder 
Leisure & Wellbeing

Cllr James Binns

Portfolio Holder 
Environment & Regulatory 

Services
Cllr Alison Hoare

Portfolio Holder 
Local Economic Dev, 

Property & Innovation
Cllr Michael Harris

Cabinet

Corporate Overview & 
Scrutiny Panel 

Chairman:
Cllr Mark Steele

Council 60 members

Community and Leisure 
Overview & Scrutiny Panel

Chairman:  
Cllr Geoffrey Blunden

Environment Overview 
& Scrutiny Panel

Chairman:  
Cllr Steve Rippon-Swaine

Housing Overview & 
Scrutiny Panel

Chairman: 
Cllr Steve Davies

Member Task & Finish 
Groups

Overview & Scrutiny

Appeals
Chairman:  

Cllr Alan Alvey

Audit
Chairman:  

Cllr Alan O’Sullivan

Employee Engagement 
Panel

Chairman:  
Cllr Barry Rickman

General Purposes & 
Licensing
Chairman:  

Cllr Steve Clarke

Planning 
Chairman: 

Cllr Bill Andrews

Committees

DEMOCRATIC STRUCTURE

			 

MANAGEMENT STRUCTURE

Executive Heads
Colin Read – Operations and Deputy Chief Executive

Grainne O’Rourke – Governance & Regulation, Planning & 
Housing (Monitoring Officer)
Manjit Sandhu - Resources

Head of Finance
Alan Bethune

Chief Executive
Bob Jackson

In
fo

rm
al

 En
ga

ge
m

en
t C

ab
in

et
/E

M
T

Service Managers
Steve Jones (Open Spaces)

Steve Cook (Building & Coastal Services)
Rob Lane (Street Scene)

Chris Noble (Waste & Transport)
Joanne McClay (Environmental & Regulation)

Ritchie Thomson (Housing Maintenance)
David Groom (Planning)

Louise Evans (Policy & Strategy)
Rosemary Rutins (Democratic & Member Support)

Andrew Kinghorn (Legal)
Andrew Smith (Estates & Valuation)

Brian Byrne (Estates Mgmt & Support)
Richard Knott (Housing Options)
Joanne Bailey (Health & Leisure)

Rebecca Drummond (Community & Customer Engagement)
Heleana Aylett (Human Resources)

Rob Beere (ICT)
Ryan Stevens (Revenue & Benefits)

Member Task & Finish Groups 
report to overview & scrutiny on 
significant projects and processes 
Budget (annually) CCTV 
Coastal Customer Leisure 
Review Citizens Advice 
Community Grants (annually) 
Waste Management 
Strategy

Communications 
Regular Chief Executive messages to all 
staff, staff briefings, communications 
bulletins

Important documents and 
links

Strategic Risk Register

Annual Governance Statement

Constitution

Medium Term Financial Plan

Annual Audit Letter

Organisational Strategy

Organisational Structure

Democratic Structure

ORGANISATIONAL 
LEADERSHIP AND 

GOVERNANCE

P
age 34



Governance of the New Forest

HAMPSHIRE  
COUNTY COUNCIL

Responsible for education, children and 
adults services, highways
78 elected members, 10 members 
representing the New Forest area
8 NFDC Members

37 TOWN AND PARISH 
COUNCILS

Responsible for representing 
communities and delivering services 
and facilities, not provided by the 
county or district councils that meet 
local needs
320 elected members
52 NFDC Members NFALC attended by 
Chief Executive
6 precepts over £400,000 (total 
precept £5.5m)

NEW FOREST  
DISTRICT COUNCIL

Responsible for planning, housing, 
waste collection, tax and benefits, 
coast, health and leisure, environment 
and regulation
60 elected members 

NATIONAL PARK AUTHORITY
Responsible for ensuring that the 
national park is safeguarded for people 
to enjoy now and in the future
22 elected or appointed members
7 NFDC Members

THE COURT OF VERDERERS
Responsible for managing the 
traditional activity of communing (the 
right for landowners to let their ponies, 
donkeys, cattle, pigs or sheep run free)
10 elected or appointed verderers
1 NFDC Member

FORESTRY COMMISSION
Responsible for looking after nearly half 
of the new forest national park area 
including its trees, landscapes and the 
natural environment

LEADERSHIP  
OF PLACE

PARTNERSHIP ARRANGEMENTS
Provided to
HR (NPA) Audit (Southern Internal 
and Audit Partnership) Customer 
Services (Hythe PC) Traffic 
Management (HCC) Grounds 
Maintenance (various)
Provided from 
Treasury Management (HCC) 
Customer Services (Totton TC, 
Fordingbridge PC, Fawley PC)  
Planning Trees and 
Conservation (NPA) 
Private/public 
Dibden Golf Centre
Shared projects 
Based at the channel coastal 
observatory we are the 
lead authority for regional coastal 
monitoring. Directly managing the 
south east region and co-ordinating 
the entire English coastline (six 
regions) including funding bids of £23 
million to 2021.  Key partners include 
Environment Agency, Canterbury, 
Worthing & and Havant councils to 
deliver the programme. 
NPA Partnership Plan 
Ringwood Gateway
Community Grants awarded 
£218,020
Redevelopment and refurbishment of 
Eling Tidemill with Heritage Lottery 
Funding in partnership with Totton & 
Eling TC totalling £2 million
Government partnerships 
Disabled facility grant 
(£1.259m) and community 
housing funding (£976k)

Safer 
New Forest 
Partnership

Local Economic 
Partnerships

New Forest 
Business 

Partnership 
Board

New Forest District Council

Voluntary 
& Community 

Services

Hampshire  
Fire & Rescue

CCG

HCC

Hampshire 
Constabulary

Brockenhurst 
& Totton 
College

Go New 
Forest SMEs

Hampshire 
County Council

Partnership 
for Urban 

South 
Hampshire

CAB

Other

Community 
First

New Forest 
Leadership  

Group

Enterprise 
M3 Local 
Economic 

Partnership

Hampshire & Isle 
of Wight local 

authorities

Working with 
others to 

achieve more

Natural 
England

National Park 
Authority

Hampshire 
County Council

Forestry 
Commission

Hampshire 
Alliance Rural 

Housing

Project Integra 
(waste)

Solent 
Economic 

Partnership

Supporting 
families

Safeguarding 
children

Health & 
Wellbeing

P
age 35



Key performance measures

Residual household waste per household
2016/17 

499kgs

2017/18 

490kgs

TARGET 

500kgs

Amount sent for reuse, recycling and composting
2016/17 

31%

2017/18 

32%

TARGET 

31%

Processing of major planning applications within 13 weeks
2016/17 

93.5%

2017/18

95.71% 

TARGET 

90%

Completed high risk food hygiene inspections
2016/17 

99%

2017/18

99% 

TARGET 

95%

Mean Gender Pay Gap
2016/17 

NA

2017/18

6.95% 

TARGET

NA 

Median Gender Pay Gap
2016/17 

NA

2017/18

-9.48% 

TARGET

NA 

Total applicants on the Homesearch register
2016/17 

3,307

2017/18

3,345 

TARGET

NA 

Council tax percentage collected
2016/17

99.06% 

2017/18

98.8% 

TARGET

98.9% 

P
age 36



Our Vision is to secure a better future for the 

New Forest by:

Supporting local businesses to prosper for the benefit of the community 

Assisting the wellbeing of those people who live and work within the district 

Protecting the special and unique character of the New Forest
Our Values

Ambitious

Collaborative

Customer 

Focused

Financially 

Responsible

Innovative

Open

Proud

Our Priorities

Our 

Community 

Strategies

Supporting 

Mechanisms
Service Plans & Budgets

Helping local 

business grow

More homes for 

local people

Protecting the 

local character of 

our place

Living within our 

means

Service outcomes 

for the 

community

Working with 

others to achieve 

more

Our Financial 

and 

Organisational 

Strategies

Local Plan

Organisational Strategy

HR Strategy Procurement StrategyCustomer Strategy ICT Strategy

Community StrategyLocal Economic Strategy Housing Strategy Environmental Strategy

Financial Strategy

Medium Term Financial Plan Investment Strategy

Accommodation 

Strategy

APPENDIX 2

P
age 37



T
his page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX 3

BUDGET OUTTURN POSITION

Original Budget 16,587

Financial Monitoring Savings/Income Requirements NET TOTAL
August -499 417 -82 Leader & Corporate Affairs 4
November -392 25 -367 Environment and Reg. Services (1)* -222 
April -1,093 301 -792 Community Affairs 18

-1,984 743 -1,241 Planning & Infrastructure (2)* -165 
Outturn -1,259 471 -788 Local Econ. Dev., Property & Innovation -5 

-3,243 1,214 -2,029 Leisure & Wellbeing (3)* -225 
Housing Services 22

Outturn Position 14,558 Finance, Corp. Servs. & Improvement (4)* -92 
Asset Maintenance & Replacement -123

Rephasings * Into 17/18 Out of 17/18 NET TOTAL -788 
August 1,146 1,146
November -416 -416 
April -438 -438 

1,146 -854 292 ICT 150
Outturn -133 -133 Other -17 

1,146 -987 159 133

(*transfers from / (to) reserves) * Service Variations >-£25,000
(1) - Keyhaven River -42 

(1) - Coast Protection -37 
(1) - Street Scene -43 

(1) - Refuse & Recycling -32 
(1) - Environmental Health -36 

(2) - Parking 28
(2) - Highways Agency -27 

(2) - Transportation -33 
(3) - Health & Leisure Centres -168 

(3) - Sports & Comm. Develop. -50 
(4) - Subsidy Reduction 109

(4) - Office Accomodation -83 

SUMMARY GENERAL FUND OUTTURN INFORMATION 2017/18 (£'000)

Portfolio/Committee Level Outturn Analysis

TOTAL
Original Budget 21,266

Financial Monitoring Savings/Income Requirements Savings/Income Requirements NET TOTAL
August -214 208 -150 -156 Housing Acquisitions (HRA) 556
November 0 Older Persons Scheme Alterations -56 
April -452 2,221 -570 1,350 2,549 Major Repairs 53

-666 2,429 -720 1,350 2,393 Open Space Projects 99
Outturn -21 486 -120 631 976 Public Conveniences from Revenue 324

-687 2,915 -840 1,981 3,369 976

Rephasings Into 17/18 Out of 17/18 Into 17/18 Out of 17/18 NET TOTAL
August 1,818 74 1,892
November 0 Compton & Sarum New Build -221 
April -534 -599 -1,133 S106 Acquisitions -559 

1,818 -534 74 -599 759 Eling Tide Mill 374
Outturn 338 -814 -476 Other -70 

1,818 -196 74 -1,413 283 -476 

Outturn Position 24,918

Project Level Outturn Analysis

SUMMARY CAPITAL PROGRAMME OUTTURN INFORMATION 2017/18 (£'000)

GENERAL FUND HRA
4,873 16,393

Page 39



Original 
Budget

Budget 
Variations via 

Financial 
Monitoring

Latest 
Budget

Outturn 
Actuals

Outturn 
Variation 

against Latest 
Budget

INCOME
Dwelling Rents -26,077 62 -26,015 -25,992 23
Non Dwelling Rents -730 -18 -748 -770 -22 
Charges for Services & Facilities -753 11 -742 -741 1
Contributions towards Expenditure -57 -90 -147 -118 29
Interest Receivable -76 -36 -112 -102 9
Sales Administration Recharge -33 0 -33 -42 -9 
Shared Amenities Contribution -194 0 -194 -199 -6 

TOTAL INCOME -27,919 -71 -27,990 -27,965 26

EXPENDITURE
Repairs & Maintenance

Cyclical Maintenance 1,472 -100 1,372 1,176 -196 
Disabled Facilities 700 -700 0 0 0
Reactive Maintenance 2,789 -87 2,702 2,607 -95 

Supervision & Management
General Management 3,818 6 3,824 3,694 -130 
Special Services 1,243 -2 1,240 1,145 -95 
Homeless Assistance 62 0 62 59 -3 

Rents, Rates, Taxes and Other Charges 11 13 25 34 9
Rent Rebates 0 0 0 0 0
Provision for Bad Debt 150 0 150 131 -19 
Capital Financing Costs 8,584 0 8,584 8,584 0
RCCO 9,091 -369 8,722 8,722 0
TOTAL EXPENDITURE 27,919 -1,238 26,681 26,153 -528 

HRA OPERATING SURPLUS(-) / DEFICIT 0 -1,309 -1,309 -1,812 -502 

HRA Total Annual Surplus(-) / Deficit -1,812 

Transfer to ICT Reserve M410 HY001 64

HRA TOTAL ANNUAL SURPLUS(-) / DEFICIT -1,748 

HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT OUTTURN INFORMATION 2017/18 (£'000)

Page 40



CABINET: 4 JULY 2018 PORTFOLIO: LOCAL 
ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT, 
PROPERTY AND INNOVATION

ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT STRATEGY 2018-23

1. PURPOSE OF REPORT 

1.1 To consider the Council’s Economic Development Strategy for 2018-23, which is 
attached at Appendix 1.

2. BACKGROUND

2.1 The Strategy sets out a vision and related activities to tackle the identified barriers to 
growth in five key themes.  These are as follows:

 Developing a Skilled Workforce
 Increasing Growth and Productivity
 Developing Local Infrastructure
 Facilitating Vibrant Towns and Villages
 Promoting the Unique New Forest Offer

2.2 The Strategy highlights in particular the need to balance supporting the existing base of 
9000 businesses with encouraging appropriate new investment into the District. 
Furthermore it recognises the special characteristics of the natural landscape whilst 
delivering sustainable economic growth.

2.3 In May a Task and Finish Group met to consider the draft Strategy, and suggested that 
10 key actions be given priority focus within the Strategy.  The Group was also keen to 
ensure that the Strategy reflected the importance of housing in economic development; 
details of this can be found in Section 6.8 of the document.

3. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

3.1 None directly from the Strategy.

4. CRIME & DISORDER IMPLICATIONS

4.1 None.

5. ENVIRONMENTAL IMPLICATIONS

5.1 None directly from the Strategy.

6. COMMENTS OF CORPORATE OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY PANEL

6.1 The Panel underlined the importance of ensuring that suitable communication and 
transport infrastructure was delivered to support key new developments.  
Consequently there would be a need to engage and influence the associated bodies to 

Page 41

Agenda Item 8



bring about the necessary changes and make representations to them as required. 
Paragraph 6.18 of the Strategy has been added to reflect this. 

6.2 It was agreed that an annual update report is received to review progress of the key 
themes and actions contained within. 

7. PORTFOLIO HOLDER’S COMMENTS

7.1 I fully support this strategy which has been prepared over many months and in 
collaboration with the New Forest business community. It covers a critical 5 year 
period for both the New Forest and UK economies presenting both challenges and 
opportunities. This Economic Development Strategy prepares the New Forest for both 
of these.

8. RECOMMENDATIONS

8.1 That the Economic Development Strategy 2018-23, as attached as Appendix 1 to this 
report, be recommended for the Council for approval.

For further information contact: Background Papers:

Matt Callaghan Attached
Economic Development Manager
Tel: 023 8028 5588
Email: matt.callaghan@nfdc.gov.uk

Page 42



New Forest Economic Development Strategy 

2018 – 2023

APPENDIX 1

Page 43



Contents

Executive Summary…………………………………………………………. 1

 Key Actions…………………………………………………………………... 2

1) Methodology……………………………………………………………….... 4

2) Understanding the Economy……………………………………................ 5

3) Policy Context………………………………………………………………... 12

4) Developing a Skilled Workforce……………………………………………. 14

5) Increasing Growth and Productivity……………………………………….. 17

6) Developing Local Infrastructure……………………………………………. 21

7) Facilitating Vibrant Towns and Village…………………………………….. 24

8) Promoting the Unique New Forest Offer………………………………….. 26

Glossary………………………………………………………………………. 29

Page 44



1

Executive Summary

The District Council’s motto is ‘Old Yet Ever New’ and in developing a new Economic 
Development Strategy this is a practical place to start. The New Forest economy is hugely 
diverse; diverse in terms of the businesses located within, the geographical landscape of the 
district and the workforce which shapes the local economy.

This diversity in many respects is an asset; it means that the district’s economy is not reliant 
upon a single industry, but in other respects it presents a variety of challenges. The 
overarching challenge is that of the need to balance the district’s environmental assets with 
the ambition for a vibrant and growing local economy.

Whilst the New Forest economy is amongst the largest in Hampshire, its overall growth does 
not reflect this for a variety of reasons. An ageing workforce, an underrepresentation of high 
value added sectors and a high proportion of unskilled residents are all limiting factors.

Although the New Forest is predominantly rural, it does not mean that it cannot be ambitious 
in striving for higher value jobs, ensuring a skilled workforce and benefit from greater 
connectivity. Through this strategy, the District Council seeks to create an environment 
which offers opportunities for young people, poses an attractive option for business 
investment and delivers a culture in which indigenous businesses can thrive.  These 
objectives are not delivered at the expense of the traditional local economy but if achieved in 
the correct manner, will add value to them.  

This strategy sets out a vision to tackle the identified barriers to growth in five key themes. 
These are as follows: 

 Developing a Skilled Workforce
 Increasing Growth and Productivity
 Developing Local Infrastructure
 Facilitating Vibrant Towns and Villages
 Promoting the Unique New Forest Offer

Within each of these themes, a series of specific actions have been identified to address the 
issues set out.

Whilst the District Council are the authors of this strategy, the authority will not be alone in 
terms of the delivery of its actions. The District Council is committed to working in 
partnership with other organisations to ensure the successful and efficient delivery of the 
objectives. 

The strategy sets out a five year vision with individual work programmes extending across 
this time period. It is accepted however that during the life of this strategy there is a degree 
of uncertainty about the economy at a number of levels. Therefore this strategy will be 
subject to review and revision throughout its life although the overall themes will remain. 

Page 45



2

Key Actions

The Strategy identifies 10 Key Actions as identified by the Task and Finish Group which sit 
within the 23 wider actions across the five themes. Whilst each of these actions will 
contribute toward economic growth across the lifespan of the strategy, there are actions 
which are seen as key in delivering the overall corporate objective of ‘Helping Local 
Business Grow’.

These will be focussed as priorities at the front end of the five year strategy as their 
outcomes are considered to deliver particularly high levels of economic impact. These key 
actions seek to strike a balance between supporting indigenous economic growth and 
seeking to attract new investment into the district each of which need to be carefully 
balanced to deliver sustainable growth. 

Developing a Skilled Workforce
Key Action Area of Focus
Work to raise awareness and 
promote the broad spectrum of 
career opportunities which exist 
locally

 Identify prospects within key sectors which can be 
promoted to those seeking career opportunities

 Facilitate links with schools and colleges to promote 
local opportunities to students

Work with colleges, schools and 
businesses to increase the 
uptake of apprenticeships within 
the district

 Overcome the perceived barrier of the levy
 Encouraging businesses to use apprenticeships as a 

means to training existing adult workforce
 Promoting apprenticeships as a career route to those 

leaving full time education
Work with education 
establishments to ensure high 
growth business has access to a 
skilled workforce

 Understand the recruitment gaps in business both 
presently and as perceived in the future

 Identifying partners to ensure that the local talent is 
engaged with Science, Technology, Engineering and 
Maths (STEM) subjects and local high skilled 
employment opportunities

Increasing Growth and Productivity
Key Action Area of Focus
Continue and further develop a 
programme to facilitate growth 
of indigenous business

 Develop programmes of tailored support to suit the 
needs of new and growing local business

 Work with New Forest Business Partnership to deliver 
a range of events and support to meet local training 
needs

Work closely with Local 
Enterprise Partnerships (LEPs) 
to develop growth of high value 
business

 Ensure that New Forest is aligned with funding 
opportunities presented by the two Local Enterprise 
Partnerships

 Continue to develop links with the Growth Hubs to 
ensure businesses have access to the important 
support available to them

Oversee development of 
‘Helping Local Business Grow’ 
initiative ensuring coordinating 
business support offer

 Ensure that all business facing Council services are 
coordinated in their approach to working with local 
business

 Work to streamline and simplify the multiple business 
support organisations operating in the District

Page 46



3

Developing Local Infrastructure
Key Action Area of Focus
Work with stakeholders to 
increase digital coverage and 
quality in underprovided areas

 Ensuring thorough coverage of fixed line broadband 
to New Forest premises

 Facilitation of further coverage of 4G cellular and 
ensuring engagement with future 5G rollout

 Development of alternative connectivity including 
Internet of Things

Work to facilitate the increased 
number of flexible/incubator 
business units and/or those 
suitable for business expansion

 Ensure delivery of new and proposed business sites 
whilst identifying opportunities for additional 
development 

 Identify partners to deliver viable business units on 
suitable sites 

Facilitating Vibrant Towns & Villages
Key Action Area of Focus
Work with retailers, landlords 
and Town Centre Managers to 
reduce number of high street 
vacancies

 Develop a programme of mystery shopper visits 
allowing independent High Street businesses to 
improve their offer

 Assist with the delivery of Neighbourhood Plans to 
ensure support for High Street businesses

Key Action Area of Focus
Promoting the Unique New Forest Offer

Work to encourage appropriate 
inward investment

 Promote the New Forest as ‘Open for Business’ at 
identified business events 

 Ensure a coordinated approach to key development 
sites to maximise the opportunity 

Page 47



4

1. Methodology

1.1 In developing a new Economic Development Strategy for the New Forest, it’s important 
that the document is not written in isolation by the District Council but that a broad range of 
evidence is gathered to support the themes, policies and actions which emerge. This 
process of evidence gathering has taken a number of forms to ensure that the barriers to 
local growth are fully understood but of equal importance, how these can be overcome by 
working in partnership and collaboration.

Partner Consultation
1.2 An important element of a joined up approach is consultation with key partners. Whilst 
the District Council is the author and key enabler of this strategy, there are partner 
organisations who are ideally placed to identify specific issues relating to, for example, skills, 
start-ups and particular sectors.

1.3 To ensure that a broad range of economic issues are identified, a series of one to one 
meetings have taken place with partner organisations to not only identify issues from their 
perspective, but to identify how the council can intervene through partnership working to 
tackle these. A full list of partners consulted can be found in the annex.

Business Needs Survey
1.4 Consulting with partner organisations is a crucial element in understanding local 
economic issues and whilst these partner organisations are specialists within their field, the 
individual businesses operating within the district are themselves directly dealing with 
barriers to growth and therefore are a crucial element of any consultation. 

1.5 To ensure that these views were captured, a Business Needs Survey was undertaken 
and sent to all 5000 businesses on the Economic Development Office’s email list. These 
responses sought to identify the perceived barriers to growth but also the view of businesses 
as to their growth expectations and business confidence.

1.6 This, along with the previous survey of a similar nature from 2014, has been used to 
identify any changes in the local economy and where attention for intervention should be 
focussed. 

Economic Profiling
1.7 In addition to understanding the economy through dialogue, there is a need to do so 
from a statistical analysis perspective. As such, an economic profiling exercise was 
commissioned from Hampshire County Council to establish data and trends on themes 
including the labour market, skills and business sectors. This data is important in providing 
baseline information, identifying local economic trends and stating in tangible form, the 
issues impacting the local economy. The final economic profile report is attached as an 
appendix to this strategy. 

Existing and Emerging Policy
1.8 In developing a new Economic Development Strategy, there is a need to recognise the 
wider context in which both economic development and New Forest District Council exist. 
Therefore it is important to acknowledge existing and emerging strategies, plans and policies 
both internally within the District Council but also within the wider context of partner bodies 
and organisations. 

1.9 In developing the strategy, a range of documents have been examined to ensure that 
this strategy considers the content and context of these, ensuring a collaborative approach 
wherever possible. 

Page 48



5

178,000
live in the New Forest 
with 28.5% aged 65+¹

8.9%
of working age have   

no qualification¹

11.2
Housing affordability ratio; 

4th least affordable in Hants²

13,555,400
day trip visitors to the 

district per year³

Figure 1 – New Forest economy key statistics

¹New Forest Economic Profile       ²ONS, Ratio of house price to earnings, 2018        ³NFNPA, Facts & Figures, 2007

2. Understanding the Local Economy

2.1 In order to set the economic objectives of the New Forest for the next five years, first the 
position from which we are starting from must be fully understood. The numbers and trends 
of the local economy have highlighted the areas to focus upon and the aspects of the New 
Forest economy that require action. Much of the data utilised in this section has been 
sourced from the New Forest Economic Profile 2018.

Baseline Information Report

Summary

2.2 The New Forest economy presently has numerous positive features. It’s the third largest 
economy in Hampshire, with a GVA of £4.4 billion, ranking it within the top 30% of UK local 
authorities; the district has 9,075 businesses more than either Southampton or Portsmouth; 
there is a significant local supply of young skilled labour with 84,805 students studying within 
a 25 miles radius of the district; the New Forest is ideally located close to key markets, such 
as Southampton, Bournemouth and London; and finally the region has close access to 
significant transport infrastructure, be that land, sea or air.

2.3 Yet, sizeable challenges do exist for the local economy at the time of writing. The data 
has highlighted seven key issues for the New Forest economy:

1. Elderly & ageing population
2. Large and growing skills deficit
3. Lack of high-skilled, high value jobs
4. Net outflow of workers, especially high-skilled
5. Unaffordable housing
6. Sluggish business growth
7. Variation across sub-areas of district

2.4 The majority of these issues are interlinking and in many cases self-reinforcing of one 
another. For example, the large and growing skills deficit is partly fuelled by the lack of 
market incentives from a low number of high-skilled jobs in the district, which in turn brings 
about issue 4, and the unaffordable housing market is stopping young skilled people from 
entering the local workforce and their ability to drive up the average skill level. This lack of 
skills and young people entering the New Forest economy is one reason why sluggish 
business growth has been seen and the mean age of the New Forest continues to rise. 

2.5 These are just a few linking strands with far more present and ever more apparent as 
this strategy continues and the actions are set under the five key themes. 

Page 49



6

Population
2.6 The 2011 Census showed New Forest district had a population of 176,462 with this 
figure estimated to have grown to around 178,000 by the close of 2017. Of this number a 
significant proportion are in the older age groups. This is highlighted in figure 2 where the 
shape of the districts population pyramid can be described as unimodal, or in other words it 
has one distinct bulge in the older age groups from approximately 45 years. In comparison to 
Hampshire & the UK, the New Forest has fewer children, fewer working age residents, yet 
far more in 65+ category. 

2.7 The proportion of working age residents in the New Forest stands at 55%, a figure below 
both the county (60%) and national level (63%).  The latest population forecasts for the New 
Forest predict that the working-age population will decline by 0.4% per annum from 2017 to 
2023. 

2.8 This low and decreasing proportion of working age residents in the district is why the 
New Forest district old age dependency ratio is high and rising. There are approximately 55 
elderly dependents aged 65 years and over for every 100 individuals of working age. This 
level is set to increase to 57 by 2023. In the UK it is 28 rising to 31 and in Hampshire 36 
rising to 39. 

2.9 Certainly many of the retired, elderly residents of the New Forest inject into the local 
economy with their spending, but due to their lack of contribution to output a rising 
dependency ratio does tend to constrain growth in GVA per head, and also has implications 
on investment, housing and demand for local services.

Skills
2.10 There is a large and growing skills deficit in New Forest district, notably at the top of the 
skills distribution. Less than a third of residents in the New Forest (30.9%) held a Level 4+ 
Qualification (a degree or higher qualification) in 2016 compared to 38% in Hampshire and 
the UK. This gap has only increased over time as the proportion of highly skilled residents 
with NVQ4+ in Hampshire and the UK increased twice as fast as in the New Forest between 
2010 and 2016. 

2.11 Some 8.9% of people of working age in New Forest have no qualification which is close 
to double the Hampshire average (4.6%) and slightly above the national average (8.3%). 
The New Forest saw an increase in the proportion of its working age residents with no 
qualification since 2010 while Hampshire and the UK saw decreases.

Figure 2 – New Forest population pyramid

Page 50



7

2.12 Given the large skills deficit at the top of the skills distribution it is perhaps not 
surprising that the New Forest has a large occupational deficit among higher skilled 
occupations with its comparator areas. Some 34.8% of New Forest residents were employed 
in one of the top three occupational categories, compared to 48.2% in Hampshire and 45.2% 
in the UK. Around a quarter of New Forest residents were in lower skilled occupations 
compared with one in seven in Hampshire. 

2.13 Hampshire and the UK saw the proportion of resident workers in higher skilled 
occupations increase between 2010 and 2016. In contrast, the New Forest saw a decrease 
(-0.4 percentage points). In addition, the proportion of resident workers in lower skilled 
occupations in the New Forest increased by +1.2 percentage points whereas in Hampshire 
and the country it decreased by -2.2 and -0.3 percentage points respectively. 

2.14 Yet, although the figures for skills are concerning the New Forest labour market on the 
face of it appears to be performing well. In 2016 the New Forest unemployment rate was 
2.0% compared to 3.6% in Hampshire and 5.0% for the UK, and the claimant count of the 
district has been consistently lower than the national average. But, as the statistics on skills 
show these low rates are masking that a large proportion of workers in the district are in low 
paid, lower skilled, sometimes seasonal jobs. 

2.15 Despite the presence of few high skilled workers in the area though, there does exist a 
strong supply of young skilled labour in the district and the local vicinity. Two further 
education colleges are located in the New Forest and five Universities within 25 miles. In 
addition, examining the education, skills and training index of deprivation the New Forest 
ranks among the top 35% best performing local authorities. 

2.16 This would suggest that the source of the problem for New Forest’s lack of skilled 
labour is the lack of opportunities. Yet, results from the 2017 Business Needs Survey show 
demand exists within the district. The ability to recruit suitably skilled employees was ranked 
as the most significant barrier to growth in the New Forest, and 62% of respondents classed 
the level of access to skilled labour as a disadvantage of being in the New Forest. Thus, also 
exacerbating the lack of skilled employees in the district is that young skilled students/ 
graduates are unaware of the opportunities available in the New Forest and/or the skills of 
young people is not matching local business needs.

Business & the Economy
2.17 The New Forest is the third largest economy in Hampshire with a total economic output 
of approximately £4.4bn in 2015, ranking the area within the top 30% of local authorities. 
The Gross Disposable Household Income (GDHI) per head of the district suggests a 
relatively prosperous population with the New Forest figure 13% higher than the UK 
average. However, the gross value added (GVA) per head of the district, which gives an 
indication of productivity, has consistently been below the county and national level. In 2015 
New Forest GVA per head was £24,416, compared to £27,007 and £25,593 in Hampshire 
and UK respectively. That being said New Forest GVA per head figures are dampened by 
the low proportion of working age residents. 

Page 51



8

2.18 The total number of businesses in the New Forest was 9,075 in 2017. This is a 
significant business base with the district accounting for over one in eight of all businesses in 
the Hampshire County Council area; more than either Southampton or Portsmouth. But, 
recent business growth has been sluggish. From 2010 to 2017 business growth was on 
average 1.3% per annum, slower than the average annual growth rate in Hampshire and the 
UK (+2.3% & +2.8% p.a. respectively).

2.19 Of this business stock a significant proportion are small and medium-sized enterprises 
(SMEs), or in other words employ between 0 and 249 people. The exact figure in 2016 was 
99.8%, a level marginally above that in Hampshire and the UK. This feeds into the relatively 
high percentage of the economically active who are self-employed in the area, with this 
figure for the New Forest exceeding that in Hampshire and the UK for the past four years. 
However, the business birth rate in the New Forest stood at 9.7% of active business stock in 
2016, well below the Hampshire and UK average of 12.7% and 14.6% respectively. These 
figures appear to show that the New Forest has a strong existing base of entrepreneurs, but 
a low number of new business owners coming through.

2.20 The largest broad sector employer in the New Forest is distribution, transport, 
accommodation and food with over 20,000 employees, or approaching one in every three 
New Forest workers (30%). This is followed by the public sector with over 16,000 employees 
(24%), and then in third is business services with 9,000 employees (13%). Thus, just over 
two thirds of all New Forest employees work in these three broad sectors, which roughly 
follows the county and national trend.

2.21 Where New Forest district is above the county and national levels in terms of 
employment concentration is manufacturing, construction and ‘other services’, which 
predominantly relates to tourism. Where the New Forest most significantly lags behind 
Hampshire and the UK is employment in higher value added services notable information & 
communications and finance & insurance. This is a problem as these sectors are major 
drivers of competitiveness, economic growth and prosperity. Knowledge-intensive 
employment is also underrepresented in the area as the sectors under this category only 
make up 11.8% of all employees, compared to 20.4% in Hampshire and 20% in the UK. This 
relates back to the previous section on skills and lack thereof. 

2.22 Location Quotients (LQ) can provide a clearer signal on what drives local economic 
growth. By dividing the local job share of a cluster (industries grouped together that tend to 
co-locate) by the national average job share, LQs highlight relative specialisms in local 
economies. Typically, a Location Quotient above 1.2 is taken to indicate a significant 
concentration in employment in that cluster. Oil and gas is New Forest’s most specialised 
cluster with a Location Quotient in 2016 of 8.8. This is of no surprise considering the 
presence of Fawley refinery, the largest refinery in the UK that provides 20% of UK refinery 

Figure 3 – New Forest % employed in self-employment (aged 16+)

Page 52



9

capacity. Upstream chemical is second (LQ 7.3), forestry is third (LQ 5.5), Maritime fourth 
(LQ 4.4), and visitor economy completes the top five (LQ 2.9)1. 

2.23 Focussing on the district when broken down into three sub-areas; a large degree of 
variation can be seen. Avon Valley contributes the lowest to GVA of the three sub-areas, but 
this is down to its relatively low number of businesses and people. With its size taken into 
account Avon Valley appears to be the best performing of the three sub-areas with the 
highest productivity and growth rates in recent years. The sub-area has the most skilled 
resident population and this explains why the sub-area has the highest concentration of 
knowledge-intensive employment and is likely the main factor behind its strong GVA growth. 

2.24 Core Forest & Coastal is the biggest contributor to GVA in the district. However, this is 
down to it being the largest of the sub-areas, with the highest number of businesses and a 
large workplace population, rather than strong performance. The most distinguishing 
features of this sub-area are its elderly resident population, high relative concentration in 
tourism, and poor growth in GVA in recent years. The latter is predominately down to the 
lack of growth in tourism, with just five additional businesses in this sector from 2010-17, and 
a diminishing working age population. 

2.25 Totton & Waterside on the face of it this appears to be the most underperforming sub-
area. The area has the highest resident population and largest working age population, but 
does not contribute the most to GVA mainly because it displays poor productivity, a low-
skilled population and has significant levels of out-commuting. Nevertheless, GVA has 
shown signs of strong growth in the last couple of years and this is the sub-area with the 
highest recent business growth rates. Furthermore, there is a wealth of opportunities in the 
near future for Totton & Waterside, such as Fawley Power Station area and Solent Gateway 
at Marchwood Military Port.

Avon Valley Core Forest & 
Coastal Totton & Waterside

Population (%) 18.6 38.9 42.5

Business (%) 25.8 43.1 31.1

GVA Contribution 
(%) 25 40 35

GVA per head (£) 32,818 25,425 19,837

GVA growth 2010-15 
(% p.a.) 6.2 0.3 1.9

NVQ4+ (%) 34.5 32.4 25.3

Infrastructure
2.26 The number of households recorded in the 2011 census was 76,839 and is estimated 
to have increased to 80,000 in 2016. Initial proposals for the local plan review 2016-36 

1 Emsi, (November, 2017), What’s Driving your Local Economy: A brief analysis of the key local industry clusters 
in the New Forest, Retrieved from www.economicmodelling.co.uk

Figure 4 – New Forest sub-area comparisons

Page 53



10

suggested there could be up to 10,500 new homes built over the 20 year period, a 2,700 
shortfall of the estimated number of homes needed to meet forecasted population growth2. 

2.27 Certainly the availability of housing is an issue in the district, especially affordable 
housing for the lower paid and/or young population. In 2017 the housing affordability ratio of 
the New Forest stood at 11.2, indicating this is how much greater the average local house 
price is to average annual workplace earning. The same ratio for England was lower at 7.8, 
indicating greater affordability3. 

2.28 The 2011 Census showed that 30,165 people out-commute from the New Forest and 
22,778 in-commute, resulting in a net commuter out flow of 7,387. Of those New Forest 
residents that do out-commute there is evidence to suggest a significant number are higher 
skilled; the percentage of the resident population employed in higher skilled occupations is 
far higher than that of the workplace population. Therefore, these leads to the over-
simplified, but somewhat truthful summary, that those employed in higher-skilled, higher-paid 
jobs who can afford to live in the New Forest do but out-commute for work due to the lack of 
suitable jobs in the New Forest, while those that do work in the New Forest are often 
employed in lower skilled and thus lower-paid jobs consequently meaning they cannot afford 
to live in the district and must in-commute. 

2.29 High speed broadband has become a crucial tool for most businesses. The Business 
Needs Survey 2017 found 61% of respondent’s see IT infrastructure as a disadvantage of 
being located in the New Forest4. The aim of Hampshire County Council is to provide 
superfast speeds to up to 95% of all premises across the county by 2019, and at least 2Mbs 
speeds to the remaining percentage5. The New Forest presents several additional problems 
in the goal of improving broadband coverage though. Special circumstances, environmental 
constraints and the involvement of a number of local additional stakeholders means the 
rollout of high speed internet coverage has been delayed.

2.30 In addition to communications infrastructure being a key component for business 
success and growth so too is transport infrastructure. The New Forest on the face of it has 
good transport access with proximity to two international airports, the M3 in close vicinity 
meaning travel to London takes 90 minutes, and one of the UK’s leading ports being just the 
other side of Southampton Water. Yet, within the district itself problems with transport links 
exist. The 2017 Business Needs Survey found that 52% of respondents see access to 
transport links as a disadvantage of being located in the New Forest, and transport 
infrastructure was ranked as the third biggest barrier to growth, higher than communication 
infrastructure6. Naturally much of the problems stem from the need to protect the natural 
capital and landscapes of the New Forest, but nevertheless there is room for improvement.

2 New Forest District Council, (July 2016), Local Plan Review 2016-2036 Part One: Planning Strategy Initial 
proposals for public consultation, Retrieved from http://www.newforest.gov.uk/article/16541
3 Office of National Statistics, (January 2017), Ratio of house price to earnings (lower quartile and median) by 
local authority district, England & Wales, 1997-2015, Retrieved from https://www.ons.gov.uk/
4 Hampshire Business Intelligence Service, (2017), New Forest Business Needs Survey 2017, See Appendix
5 Hampshire Superfast Broadband, (2017), Current Timetable, See www.hampshiresuperfastbroadband.com
6 Hampshire Business Intelligence Service, (2017), New Forest Business Needs Survey 2017, See Appendix

Page 54



11

New Forest District Economy – SWOT Analysis

Strengths

 Attractive place to do business and work

 Ideal location with proximity to large cities, 
airports, ports and short journey time to 
London

 Affluent local market (GDHI per head higher 
than national average)

 Strong relationship with internal and external 
partners

 Estimated 13,555,400 day trip visitors to the 
New Forest National Park per year 

Weaknesses

 Large and growing skills deficit, especially at 
the top of the skills distribution

 Elderly population

 High house prices / low affordability

 Areas of weak digital connectivity

 Lack of flexible commercial accommodation for 
micro businesses to expand

 Net-outflow of workers, especially high-skilled

 Low number of higher value added 
services/jobs

Opportunities

 Strong local supply of skilled young labour from 
Further Education Colleges and nearby 
Universities

 Partnership and possible funding with 
Enterprise M3 and Solent LEP

 Predicted depreciation of sterling from Brexit 
likely to increase staycations in UK

 Significant developments along Waterside, such 
as Fawley Power Station and Solent Gateway, 
Marchwood

Threats

 Ageing population

 High number of workforce close to retirement 

 Balancing need for economic development and 
protection of natural capital 

 Loss of traditional sectors, notably forestry

 Young people being priced out of local housing 
market

 Continued delay of high speed broadband roll 
out

 Lack of talent retention

S W

O T

Figure 5 – New Forest SWOT Analysis

Page 55



12

3. Policy Context

3.1 In producing this strategy the forecasted policy changes of the next five years have been 
considered to ensure the objectives are responsive in the face of a shifting future. In 
addition, the policy objectives of other New Forest District Council departments and external 
partner organisations have been identified to minimise conflicting actions and allow for 
collaboration opportunities to be seized.

Local Policy Context
3.2 The New Forest District Council’s Local Plan was under review at the time of writing this 
strategy. The parallel timing of the production of these two documents allowed for 
collaboration and alignment. The specific areas of cross-over between the Local Plan and 
the Economic Development Strategy are within provision of commercial accommodation and 
housing for those of working age. 

3.3 As set out in the ‘Local Plan Review 2016-2036: Initial proposals for public consultation7’ 
there is an acknowledgment of the lack of office floorspace in the district, which only stands 
at 10% of total commercial floorspace, and the undersupply of short-term/light industrial 
accommodation to support the growth of New Forest micro businesses. This recognition will 
assist in the delivery of certain objectives in this strategy.  

3.4 New Forest District Council’s Corporate Plan (2016-36)8 established six priorities. One 
priority is to help local business grow; another is to provide more homes for local people. 
Both fall in line with the objectives set out in this strategy. A further priority of the corporate 
plan is to protect the local character of the New Forest, so while the main aim of this strategy 
is to foster economic growth a fine balance must be struck with objectives on environmental 
and community conservation.

3.5 The need to be wary of the environmental impact the actions stipulated in this strategy 
will have is a detail not lost by the Economic Development Team, especially as the Business 
Needs Survey 20179 found the attractiveness of the area is considered the primary benefit of 
being located in the New Forest.

3.6 The New Forest National Park Authority (NFNPA) is a key body in the environmental 
conservation of the area, but in recent years the organisation has given much greater 
credence to supporting local economic and business growth. NFNPA’s increasing openness 
to business is highlighted within their Business Plan 2015-1810 and Partnership Plan 2015-
2011 which assign supporting a prosperous local economy and fostering economic well-being 
as a priority respectively. Aims within these include identifying sites for affordable housing, 
improving broadband coverage, and increasing access to local training. This underlines the 
large extent to which the priorities of this strategy align with those of the NFNPA.

7 New Forest District Council, (July 2016), Local Plan Review 2016-2036 Part One: Planning Strategy Initial 
proposals for public consultation, Retrieved from http://www.newforest.gov.uk/article/16541
8 New Forest District Council, (September 2017), Corporate Plan 2016 – 2020, Retrieved from 
http://www.newforest.gov.uk/corporateplan
9 Hampshire Business Intelligence Service, (2017), New Forest Business Needs Survey 2017, See Appendix
10 New Forest National Park Authority, (July 2015), Business Plan 2015-2018, Retrieved from 
http://www.newforestnpa.gov.uk/info/20016/our_work/56/business_plan
11 New Forest National Park Authority, (November 2015), Partnership Plan for the New Forest National Park, 
Retrieved from http://www.newforestnpa.gov.uk/downloads/file/1264/partnership_plan_2015_-_2020

Page 56



13

Regional Policy Context
3.7 The first of Hampshire County Council’s four aims from its Strategic Plan 2017-202112 is 
to maintain strong and sustainable economic growth and prosperity. Specified actions to 
achieve this revolve around attracting inward investment, supporting business, developing 
skills, and delivering infrastructure. These certainly echo the priorities and objectives of this 
strategy and opens opportunity for significant collaboration in the future.

3.8 Enterprise M3 (EM3) has funded one significant project in New Forest, the £3.7 million 
investment into the Brockenhurst College STEM (Science, Technology, Engineering and 
Mathematics) centre which officially opened in October 2017. There is certainly appetite for 
further investment, especially as New Forest District accounts for 10% of businesses in the 
EM3 LEP area. Infrastructure could be one area as the Enterprise M3 Commercial Property 
Market Study13 states the need to support the further roll-out of superfast broadband in rural 
districts, and this action will feed into their desire to have the EM3 area as the primary 
Sci:Tech Corridor in the UK14.

3.9 With significant developments along the Waterside on the horizon, such as Fawley 
Power Station and Marchwood Solent Gateway, increased collaboration with Solent LEP will 
be important. The broad priorities of this LEP, as specified in their Strategic Economic Plan 
2014-2015, align with those of this strategy, as do many of their objectives such as helping 
young people to work locally and providing support for business start-ups.

National Policy Context
3.10 On the eve of the EU referendum the UK had the fastest growing economy of the G7 
nations. A year later the UK economy had dropped to the bottom of the G7 league table. The 
decision to leave the European Union is certainly going to have far reaching effects on 
businesses across the country for many years, but the viewpoint adopted when approaching 
this strategy is Brexit should not be seen as a barrier to growth but a great opportunity. 

3.11 Needless to say a great deal of uncertainty lies ahead for the UK economy, but from 
initial proposals made by the government for future targets, the objectives postulated in this 
document certainly fall in line. For instance, several of the priorities set out in this strategy 
are similar to the five foundations of productivity detailed in the Industrial Strategy including 
creating an innovative economy, creating higher value jobs and creating an improving 
infrastructure.16. 

3.12 By 2020 the government has set the aim of full business rate retention by local 
authorities. Alongside this the Uniform Business Rate will be abolished paving the way for 
greater local control over economic activity and investment. These changes create a number 
of opportunities for councils, and will aid in the implementation of many of the actions set out 
in this strategy.

12 Hampshire County Council, (2017), Serving Hampshire - Strategic Plan for 2017 – 2021, Retrieved from 
https://www.hants.gov.uk/aboutthecouncil/strategiesplansandpolicies/corporatestrategy
13 Enterprise M3, (July 2016), Enterprise M3 Commercial Property Market Study, Retrieved from 
https://www.enterprisem3.org.uk/commercial-property-market-study
14 Enterprise M3, (March 2014), Enterprise M3 Strategic Economic Plan, Retrieved from 
https://www.enterprisem3.org.uk/strategic-economic-plan/
15 Solent LEP, (January 2014), Solent Strategic Economic Plan, Retrieved from https://solentlep.org.uk/what-
we-do/transforming-solent-growth-strategy/
16 Department for Business, Energy & Industrial Strategy, (November 2017), Industrial Strategy: building a 
Britain fit for the future, Retrieved from https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/industrial-strategy-
building-a-britain-fit-for-the-future

Page 57



14

4. Developing a Skilled Workforce

Background
4.1 In order to add value to the economy through higher value jobs and business, there is 
first the need to ensure that the local workforce is adequately skilled to facilitate this. The 
New Forest suffers from a skills deficit at the higher end, with less than a third of the 
population at degree level or higher compared to 38% in Hampshire and the UK. 
Furthermore, the New Forest is falling further behind with the degree level population 
growing at less than half the rate of Hampshire and the UK17. 

4.2 In addition to ensuring that high growth businesses are provided with a suitably skilled 
workforce, there is also the need to provide support to lower skilled jobs which evidence 
shows make up a relatively high proportion of occupations in the district.

Increase the skills base in line with business needs
4.3 To overcome the skills gap within the New Forest, there first needs to be an evidence 
base to support this. The District is home to two further education colleges offering a range 
of specialisms including care, marine and hospitality. Along with the local schools that feed 
into the colleges and the surrounding universities, the workforce of tomorrow is being trained 
and educated. 

4.4 Yet, results of the 2017 Business Needs Survey show a number of enterprises struggle 
to recruit suitably skilled employees, with this issue being ranked as the most significant 
barrier to growth in the New Forest18. This underlines the need for the council to act as the 
facilitator in developing the level of synergy between the local education and business 
community to ensure business needs of the future are met. Beyond this there is a need to 
understand from a business perspective how they can be better supported in accessing and 
understanding the training options available to them. 

Action: Develop an evidence base to identify specific issues contributing to the local 
skills gap

4.5 Businesses which employ staff in lower skilled roles often face challenges in terms of 
provision of adequate training. This is a particular challenge in sectors with regulation 
attached such as care and catering where the consequences of non-compliance can be 
significant. In many cases shift patterns, high turnover of staff and seasonal employment can 
make delivering training economically and logistically challenging. Many of these challenges 
however exist regardless of specific sectors, particularly around matters such as food 
hygiene and manual handling. By bringing together these common barriers, training can be 
delivered more efficiently whilst ensuring that the associated businesses are delivering the 
highest quality levels of service at the same time as being regulation compliant. 

4.6 The New Forest has 8.9% of its working age population with no qualifications, a figure 
around double that of Hampshire’s average19. These individuals are by definition more likely 
to be NEETs (Not in Education, Employment or Training) and subsequently less employable. 
Provision of training and/or routes into work for these individuals will improve their prospects 
throughout the duration of their working life.  

Action: Work with partners to improve provision of training for low skilled roles and 
individuals

17 Hampshire Business Intelligence Service, (January, 2018), New Forest Economic Profile 2018 , See Appendix
18 Hampshire Business Intelligence Service, (2017), New Forest Business Needs Survey 2017, See Appendix
19 Hampshire Business Intelligence Service, (January, 2018), New Forest Economic Profile 2018 , See Appendix

Page 58



15

Provide young people with the opportunity to work in the district
4.7 The working age population of the New Forest is decreasing. It is forecasted that from 
2017-23 the New Forest will have 2,600 fewer people of working age, yet 4,100 more 
citizens above the age of 65. Implications of this could include restrained growth, reduced 
GVA per head, and a diminished number that live and work locally. To reverse or at least 
slow down this trend its essential young people are given greater opportunity to find 
employment within the district.

4.8 To ensure a sustainable economy, there is a need to promote the wide range of career 
opportunities which exist locally across a spectrum of sectors. Whilst it is important and right 
that skilled, technical sectors such as those within marine or engineering are promoted; it is 
equally important that the broad array of career paths which exist within for example care, 
hospitality and land based industries are also championed. Despite the perception, there are 
high value and diverse opportunities which should be promoted within these. The New 
Forest economy can offer a broad range of careers; those which can provide routes for 
young people and those seeking employment to remain in the district but these need to be 
promoted and awareness needs to be increased.
 
Action: Work to raise awareness and promote the broad spectrum of career 
opportunities which exist locally

4.9 One specific route to employment and training, particularly amongst young people where 
the financial incentives are greater, is through apprenticeships. These not only provide 
individuals with the skills required to work within a particular field, but they very often provide 
permanent employment upon completion. Additionally, in an age where university education 
is becoming increasingly expensive, apprenticeships offer a lower cost option to training. 

4.10 Many businesses are unaware of the benefits of recruiting through apprenticeships 
and/or are confused or intimidated by the process involved in taking this route20. In the New 
Forest, the number of apprenticeship schemes undertaken remains static21, with only 20% of 
respondents from the Business Needs Survey stating they’d taken on apprentices in the past 
12 months22. In seeking to engage local people in skills and employment opportunities 
apprenticeships are a key tool and as such the uptake amongst local businesses should be 
encouraged. 

Action: Work with colleges, schools and businesses to increase the uptake of 
apprenticeships within the district. 

Increase Skills in line with New Development
4.11 Development of new housing or employment premises by definition creates 
employment opportunities during construction phase. With increased pressure to deliver new 
houses during the next 20 years and the potentially diminishing labour supply following 
Brexit, the district needs to ensure it’s in a position to deliver through a skilled local labour 
force. 

20 British Chamber of Commerce & Middlesex University, (August, 2017), Workforce Survey 2017, Retrieved 
from www.britishchambers.org.uk
21 Department for Education, (March, 2014), Local Education Authority/Local Authority data on Apprenticeship 
Starts, Retrieved from https://www.gov.uk/government/statistical-data-sets/fe-data-library-apprenticeships
22 Hampshire Business Intelligence Service, (2017), New Forest Business Needs Survey 2017, See Appendix

Page 59



16

4.12 In delivering opportunities for those employed within construction, any new 
development of sufficient scale also provides new career, training and development 
prospects; particularly amongst under-skilled, unemployed or NEETs.

4.13 The District can take a lead in creating career opportunities within the construction 
sector through Section 106 agreements to create Employment and Skills Plans. Specifically 
these will place a requirement upon developers to offer skilled employment positions either 
through direct employment and/or apprenticeships. 

Action: Develop Section 106 and Employment & Skills Plans to aid skills development 
within construction sector 

Facilitate delivery of skills to support development of high growth business 
4.14 As the district seeks to encourage high skilled business and jobs within, there is a need 
to ensure that any such development is supported by a suitably skilled workforce. In many 
cases these skills will be specialist and/or technical in nature. 

4.15 Irrespective of any specific site developments, the demand on higher skilled 
occupations is set to increase23 and with potential development of key sites such as those on 
the Waterside, this is likely to be amplified in the New Forest District. The growth of 
knowledge intensive business in the New Forest is 3.1% per annum, behind that of 
Hampshire (4.0%) and UK (5.2%)24. If the District is to realise its ambition of encouraging 
more high growth business and increase its proportion of knowledge intensive companies in 
which it currently lags25, it is vital that there is a skills base to support this. 

4.16 Facilities such as the STEM Centre at Brockenhurst College provide an excellent 
platform to facilitate this anticipated growth and beyond this, stronger links with neighbouring 
universities need to be developed. Engaging with students solely at post-16 stage is 
however not enough; promotion of STEM related subject matter should be promoted at a 
younger age to ensure that subsequent career choices are considered on this basis.  

4.17 Looking ahead, there is a need to ensure that the skills base of the New Forest is future 
proof. As new technologies emerge and innovative local businesses adopt these, it is 
important that the New Forest is not left behind or that the skills required locally are met. 

Action: Work with education establishments to ensure high growth business has 
access to a skilled workforce

23 Enterprise M3 Local Enterprise Partnership, (January, 2014), Skills and Employment Strategy, Retrieved from 
www.enterprisem3.org.uk
24 Hampshire Business Intelligence Service, (January, 2018), New Forest Economic Profile 2018 , See Appendix
25 Hampshire Business Intelligence Service, (January, 2018), New Forest Economic Profile 2018 , See Appendix

Page 60



17

5. Increasing Growth and Productivity

Background
5.1 A productive and innovative local business base are key elements in ensuring that the 
New Forest has a growing local economy, where the standard of living is being raised and 
employment opportunities are available for residents.

5.2 Where the New Forest currently performs well is its consistently low unemployment rates 
and small number of claimants. Where the district does not hold up comparatively well is 
average salary and GVA per head. This highlights how there is not an overwhelming priority 
need to create significantly more jobs within the District. Instead there should be a focus on 
ensuring that the quality of jobs is greater, that existing businesses are more productive and 
that a culture of entrepreneurship exists.

5.3 An increase of high growth business will, by definition lead to higher value, more skilled 
jobs within the district. Of the District’s out commuters, there is a bias toward skilled 
individuals26, those whom we should seek to retain within the local workforce.

Support for start-ups
5.4 Business start-ups are the lifeblood of any local economy. In 2016 the New Forest was 
home to 79 business start-ups per 10,000 population (805 in total), some way behind the 
figure of 101 for Hampshire and UK27. By definition this represents at least 805 jobs but 
crucially it offers the potential for each of these to grow and offer new job opportunities in the 
future. Around 49% of all business start-ups in the New Forest fail within five years28 
resulting in lost employment and potential impact on local supply chains. As such, it is 
important that not only does the District Council provide support for new enterprises but it 
also reduces the failure rate amongst start-ups; providing them with the support to grow. 

5.5 The Council has a successful partnership with Enterprise First enabling free advice to 
pre-start and start-up businesses. This advice can be critically important in ensuring the new 
venture’s first moves are correct and whilst the uptake of this service could be higher, the 
support is important. 

Action: Work to increase number and survival rate of starts-ups

Support business in exploring new markets and identify opportunities to export
5.6 Within the New Forest, there are a range of businesses producing high quality products 
particularly within manufacturing, engineering and marine sectors. In many cases these 
products have a market at a global level which can establish the New Forest as a significant 
export location. 

5.7 Many of these businesses operate in a high tech, advanced environment producing 
world leading products. Through relationships brokered by Local Enterprise Partnerships 
such businesses can collaborate more closely and as a consequence reduce costs and 
improve efficiency, thus increasing global competiveness. 

5.8 The 2017 Business Needs Survey identified that of the respondents only 8% stated that 
the majority of their business partly comes from outside the UK. Almost a quarter of 

26 Hampshire Business Intelligence Service, (January, 2018), New Forest Economic Profile 2018 , See Appendix
27 Hampshire Business Intelligence Service, (January, 2018), New Forest Economic Profile 2018 , See Appendix
28 Hampshire Business Intelligence Service, (January, 2018), New Forest Economic Profile 2018 , See Appendix

Page 61



18

businesses which responded identified only New Forest as the main source of demand for 
their business29. There is clear potential to increase these figures.

5.9 However, with Brexit on the horizon there is a large degree of uncertainty. Yet, it is 
important that this strategy is forward looking and therefore it should seek to identify 
opportunities that exist following the UK’s withdrawal from the EU. There is an extensive 
global market outside of the EU to be exploited; 90% of exports through the Port of 
Southampton travel outside of the EU30.

5.10 The exploration of new markets shouldn’t be focussed solely on exports. There are 
opportunities for New Forest businesses to explore new markets within the UK or even more 
locally within the New Forest itself. The District Council should facilitate these business to 
business relationships allowing businesses to explore new markets close to home. 

Action: Establish programme to increase proportion of export business in the District 

Helping indigenous businesses to achieve growth 
Providing Business Events
5.11 New Forest District Council works closely with New Forest Business Partnership 
(NFBP) to offer an extensive business engagement programme for local business. This 
programme includes briefings on forthcoming regulation, training to facilitate business 
growth as well as networking and peer group learning opportunities.

5.12 Beyond this, the Economic Development team work with a growing number of partners 
to deliver a range of business engagement activities which as the District Council’s own 
‘Helping Local Business Grow’ initiative develops, will lend itself to business education 
events. 

Ensuring a complete business support offer
5.13 Through its relationships with Enterprise First (specialists in start-ups) and the Growth 
Hubs (specialism in high growth) the district is able to offer dedicated and free support to 
numerous businesses, but there exists a gap between those who do not fit the description of 
either the above. Often businesses need help and support between these phases and to 
ensure that the growth of these businesses is not restricted, the provision of support should 
be extended to fill this existing gap. 

High growth and scale-up support
5.14 Business Start-ups are an important element of creating new jobs within a local 
economy but scale-up business provide a disproportionately high number of new jobs, many 
of which are high paid and high skilled31. On this basis, it’s crucial that the New Forest seeks 
to attract not only new high-growth and high-growth potential businesses, but also provides 
support for indigenous companies with scale-up potential. 

Action: Continue and further develop a programme to facilitate growth of indigenous 
business

29 Hampshire Business Intelligence Service, (2017), New Forest Business Needs Survey 2017, See Appendix
30 ABP, (2016), Port of Southampton Port Masterplan 2016-35: Consultation Draft, Retrieved from 
http://www.southamptonvts.co.uk
31 Vonage, (September, 2017), Unlocking the UK’s Home Business Potential, Retrieved from 
http://www.homebusiness100.co.uk

Page 62



19

5.15 The Local Enterprise Partnerships are specialists in delivering on the high growth 
agenda and as such have a number of programmes in place either directly or through their 
associated Growth Hubs. Their knowledge, experience and expertise should be utilised for 
the benefit of local business with growth potential but there are also links and relationships to 
be drawn, for example between Marine (specialised by Solent LEP) and Aerospace 
(specialised by Enterprise M3 LEP) particularly around fields such as research and 
development.

Action: Work closely with Local Enterprise Partnerships to develop growth of high 
value business

A Joined-up Approach to Support
5.16 Including Economic Development, the District Council has eleven services that interact 
with businesses to a greater or lesser extent. Whilst the nature and frequency of these 
interactions varies from service to service, there at minimum exists a need to communicate 
with local businesses on for example, changes to regulatory services. 

5.17 It is acknowledged that with numerous departments, each dealing with similar or 
potentially overlapping services, the experience from the business customer perspective can 
be confusing. Furthermore, there are opportunities such as those around council 
procurement that can benefit local business directly. As such, the Council will work to greater 
coordinate these services to ensure that communication is consistent, frequent and that the 
point of contact for specific business needs is easily identifiable. 

5.18 Within this it is recognised that many businesses do not fully recognise the support 
network that exists outside of council services. This may relate to business funding, training 
or sector specific support. The District Council has a role to play in being ‘honest broker’ to 
ensure that businesses have access to the support which will best enable them to grow. For 
details of this programme see the Communication Strategy in the Annex.

Action: Oversee development of ‘Helping Local Business Grow’ initiative ensuring 
coordinating business support offer

Delivering investment to the New Forest economy 
Attracting government funding and grants
5.19 Business Growth is dependent upon levels of investment to facilitate this. This 
investment is required both at an individual business level but also at a broader level for 
larger scale projects such as the successfully delivered STEM Centre at Brockenhurst 
College. 

5.20 The District Council has successfully delivered three rounds of RDPE LEADER Funding 
but this, along with other sources of EU Funding is now facing a period of uncertainty. 
Irrespective of this, the council must continue to raise awareness of the broad spectrum of 
funding opportunities which exist, as well as support applications individually where 
appropriate. 

5.21 At a larger scale and with the exception of the aforementioned STEM Centre, New 
Forest District has had little benefit from external funding, particularly from Local Enterprise 
Partnerships. It is acknowledged that closer ties need to be developed with both Solent and 
Enterprise M3 Local Enterprise Partnerships to identify funding opportunities which can 
deliver business growth. 

Action: Improve uptake and allocation of funding into district

Page 63



20

Figure 6 – New Forest District Business Facing Services

Page 64



21

Developing Local Infrastructure

Background
6.1 In many respects the New Forest is well connected; it has two international airports 
within a 30 minute drive, is approximately 90 minutes from London by road or rail and is 
within short distance of international ferry and freight ports. Within the district itself however, 
connectivity is more of a challenge. The internal road network can be limiting, particularly 
during the summer months; public transport is restrictive, particularly for shift workers and 
limited availability of superfast broadband in certain areas of the forest is constraining 
business. 

6.2 In order to ensure that the New Forest remains competitive and an attractive place in 
which to do business, there is a need to ensure that adequate infrastructure is provided. 
Whilst the special environmental characteristics of the New Forest can make this 
challenging, the need for New Forest businesses to be connected with each other and the 
outside world is critical for a growing economy. 

Reducing net commuting
6.3 The commuting figures, particularly to/from Southampton are high at around 14,600 
movements per day, in total there are around 53,000 commuting movements made to/from 
the New Forest each day. In simple terms this pattern of cross commuting is owing to those 
living in higher cost housing travelling out of the district to higher value jobs and those on 
lower income jobs travelling in from less expensive accommodation in Southampton and 
Bournemouth32. This is reflected in affordability of property which shows that the median 
house price in the New Forest is now over eleven times the median gross annual salary33.

Developing Superfast Broadband
6.4 Allowing more individuals to work from home is one method of reducing the daily out-
commute. In order to facilitate this however, homes need to be equipped with suitable 
speeds of broadband to enable them to work effectively and communicate (e.g. through 
video calling) with colleagues. Beyond this, the availability of broadband is a critical aspect of 
doing business not just for high tech businesses but across all sectors and geographies.  

6.5 New Forest District Council is working with the Hampshire County Council led Superfast 
Broadband Programme seeks to establish 95% of premises in the county with Superfast 
speeds (24MB) by the end of December 2019 but this will still leave a number of premises in 
the New Forest without the adequate speeds in which to do business effectively. Many 
remote or rural premises in particular are likely to remain in the final 5% at the end of the 
existing programme reducing their ability to work from/at home. 

6.6 Whilst fixed line broadband is usually the main focus of attention, it is not the only 
connectivity issue within the New Forest. Provision of 4G coverage is non-existent or limited 
in many parts of the New Forest and when 5G rolls out in the coming years, there is a 
danger the New Forest will be left further behind still. This lack of availability restricts 
people’s ability to do business in the forest and is increasingly an important tool in the visitor 
economy as information is commonly accessed via mobile or tablet devices. Beyond this 
there are emerging technologies such as those surrounding for example the ‘internet of 
things’ which provide opportunities for businesses to reduce costs and to work more 
efficiently. It is important that the New Forest is not left behind with regard to these emerging 
technologies and takes the opportunity to be a pioneer in this regard. 

32 Hampshire Business Intelligence Service, (January, 2018), New Forest Economic Profile 2018 , See Appendix
33 ONS, (2016), Housing affordability in England and Wales: 1997 to 2016, Retrieved from 
https://www.ons.gov.uk

Page 65



22

Action: Work with stakeholders to increase digital coverage and quality in 
underprovided areas

Ensuring a coordinated approach to enable low paid and young people to live in the 
district 
6.7 In seeking to establish a sustainable local economy, the businesses which the council is 
seeking to support need access to a supply of labour. It is recognised that many of the 
higher paid residents travel out to their place of employment and this is an issue which 
requires attention by providing more high value jobs in the district. As importantly however, 
there is the recognition that those on lower incomes are required to in-commute as they 
cannot access affordable accommodation close to their New Forest place of employment. 

6.8 Accessing affordable housing within the district is a challenge to young and low income 
households. The Council’s housing strategy and Local Plan address this issue by seeking to 
maximise the provision of new affordable housing as part of new residential development, 
and pursuing a continuing role itself as a major provider of affordable housing. 

6.9 Providing accommodation for young and low income people is a challenge directly 
outside the scope of this strategy albeit important in ensuring a sustainable labour supply for 
the future. The District Council housing strategy 2018-23 specifically targets ‘the provision of 
new affordable homes within the district’34

6.10 Beyond the Housing Strategy however, the District Council will work to identify creative 
ways of providing young and low paid employees with access to their place of work. 
Successful examples of workplace accommodation and workers’ transport already exist in 
the district; these should be built upon and extended with the council’s assistance.  

Action: Work to provide low paid employees with access to their place of work

Provide accessible and sustainable locations to grow business 
6.11 At 97.4%, the New Forest is home to a higher proportion of micro and small business 
than either Hampshire or the UK It is also home to a high proportion of self-employed at 
19.3%35. Collectively these businesses make a significant contribution to the local economy 
and in many cases these homeworking businesses have little desire to expand as their 
business fits around owner’s lifestyle. 

6.12 In other cases however, as these micro businesses become more successful they wish 
expand their workforce but are prevented from doing so by the constraints on suitable 
accommodation36. Premises such as the New Forest Enterprise Centre at Rushington 
demonstrate an appetite and demand for flexible, small sized accommodation with 
occupancy levels consistently above 90% and frequently at full capacity. Around one fifth of 
home working businesses wish to move into a professional space but are prevented from 
doing so for a range of reasons including cost and availability37. 

34 New Forest District Council, (2017), Draft Housing Strategy 2018-23, Retrieved from 
http://www.newforest.gov.uk
35 Hampshire Business Intelligence Service, (January, 2018), New Forest Economic Profile 2018 , See Appendix
36 Chilmark Consulting, (April, 2017), New Forest Business Needs and Commercial Property Market 
Assessment, Retrieved from chilmarkconsulting.co.uk
37 Vonage, (September, 2017), Unlocking the UK’s Home Business Potential, Retrieved from 
http://www.homebusiness100.co.uk

Page 66



23

6.13 The result of this shortage in suitable accommodation means that small and micro 
businesses are either restricted from growing; expanding their workforce in the process or 
leave the district to seek suitable accommodation elsewhere, taking with them the economic 
benefit and employment in the process.

6.14 The District Council is well positioned to assist with the development of suitable 
accommodation not only for business start-ups but also for the expansion of existing local 
business. The council’s strategy for acquisition of commercial property provides an excellent 
platform and opportunity, not only to deliver sound financial investments but also to provide a 
basis for delivering economic growth. As such the District Council should look at creative 
ways to ensure that this shortfall is catered for by working with partners to identify solutions. 

Action: Work to facilitate the increased number of flexible/incubator business units 
and/or those suitable for business expansion

Facilitation of major developments 
6.15 Whilst the growth in New Forest’s industrial floorspace over the past decade has been 
inconsistent owing to the variations in the wider economy, it has overall grown by 
approximately 2% during this time38. Whilst this growth is relatively modest, particularly by 
comparison to neighbouring urban areas, the prospect and potential of further development 
within the district during the next decade is noteworthy. 

6.16 The Waterside area in general but specifically the site at the former Fawley Power 
Station offers a once in a generation opportunity to provide new high value jobs and high 
growth business opportunities. Whilst infrastructural and environmental considerations will 
need to be made, the opportunity to deliver economic growth on a significant scale should 
not be underestimated. A joined up approach to delivering new development is critical in 
ensuring the regeneration of the Waterside but the principle should be applied to any new 
projects in the district, regardless of specific location. 

6.17 There is a need to use these new developments to capture outside investment to the 
district, but also to ensure that opportunities are realised for existing businesses and the 
resident workforce. So whilst infrastructural and environmental considerations are 
paramount so too is the inclusion of the existing business community is ensuring local 
benefit. 

6.18 It will be important to ensure suitable communication and transport infrastructure is 
delivered to support key new developments. Consequently there will be a need to 
communicate, engage and influence the associated bodies to bring about necessary 
changes and make representations as required. 

Action: Work with partners to ensure a joined up approach to delivering infrastructure 
development

38 Chilmark Consulting, (April, 2017), New Forest Business Needs and Commercial Property Market 
Assessment, Retrieved from chilmarkconsulting.co.uk

Page 67



24

6. Facilitating Vibrant Towns and Villages

Background
7.1 The New Forest does not have one single geographic focus or town around which a high 
proportion of economic activity takes place. Instead the influence of its individual towns and 
villages is spread throughout the District which in their own right play a significant part in 
shaping the local economy through business activity and creation of jobs. 

7.2 In each case however, the town and village centre acts as an important cultural and 
social focus, in many respects leading to the identity of that individual location. Town and 
Village centres, perhaps increasingly so, are places where people wish to congregate on a 
social basis and even with the changing dynamic in High Street unit use, these locations 
remain an important element of economic focus. 

Help town and villages to adapt to the changing retail environment
7.3 It is widely acknowledged that the shape of the High Street has, and continues to 
change. Online shopping continues to grow with online sales increasing by 21.3% in 201639, 
and in the same year 83% of internet users in the UK made at least one online purchase, the 
highest in the EU40. The sustained rise of online shopping has created numerous new 
challenges for town and village centres. 

7.4 In some cases, this has led to a shift in dynamic, away from centres based almost 
entirely on retail, to those which are more influenced on a general leisure based economy. 
The District Council could not and should not seek to reverse this tide of global shopping 
patterns, but instead should be working to help existing businesses, landlords and Town 
Centre Managers adapt to these changes and ensure that town and village centres remain 
vibrant and appealing places to visit. 

Action: Work with retailers, landlords and Town Centre Managers to reduce number of 
high street vacancies

Supporting local stakeholders to improve High Street and retail environments
7.5 Because the change in culture surrounding the High Street has been relatively rapid, 
some businesses have struggled to adapt. National campaigns such as Small Business 
Saturday have been successful in raising awareness as to the need to support small, 
independent retailers and more can be done at a local level to build on this success. What 
national campaigns cannot deliver is a local focus, giving attention to local needs and this is 
where the role of the District Council and its partners is vital. 

7.6 Beyond this, for many residents town and village centres remain the location of important 
retail services, particularly for those who are unable to access ‘out of town’ alternatives. 
Whilst facilitating the adaptation of town and village uses, it is important that support is also 
given to existing retailers, particularly those who provide core retail services.  

Action: Work with local partners to increase footfall and spend in High Street and 
retail businesses

39 Office of National Statistics, (January 2017), Retail sales, Great Britain: December 2016, Retrieved from 
https://www.ons.gov.uk/businessindustryandtrade/retailindustry/bulletins/retailsales/dec2016
40 Eurostat, (December 2016), E-commerce statistics for individuals, Retrieved from 
http://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/statistics-explained/index.php/E-commerce_statistics_for_individuals

Page 68



25

7.7 High Street businesses are impacted by a broad range of outside factors and whilst at a 
district level not all of these can be directly influenced, there is a role for the Council to play 
in facilitating collaboration and joint working. In many if not all cases, local Town and Parish 
Councils will have a greater knowledge of the individual businesses and local issues 
concerned; what may be a barrier in one town may not be on the radar of another. This is 
underlined in the variation in town centre vacancy rates across the district. In 2015 the 
average stood at 6.7%, the lowest level since before the 2008 recession and a figure lower 
than the 11.1% national average at the close of 201641. Yet, this average masked the 
problems certain towns are facing such as Fordingbridge which had a town centre vacancy 
rate of 13.1%42.

7.8 The District Council should work with partners to identify specific measures at assisting 
High Street and retail businesses, many of whom can be hard to reach by traditional 
communication methods. This includes the provision of dedicated training programmes for 
retailers but also working with the District Council’s business facing services to identify ways 
in which support can be offered. 

Action: Work to offer dedicated support and training for High Street and retail 
business

41 Local Data Company, (March 2017), Retail and Leisure Report Summary Full Year 2016, Retrieved from 
http://info.localdatacompany.com/retail-leisure-report-summary-full-year-2016-download
42 New Forest District Council Local Development Framework (April 2016) Monitoring Report, Retrieved from 
http://www.newforest.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=16590&p=0

Page 69



26

7. Promoting the Unique New Forest Offer

Background
8.1 The New Forest is an outstanding place in which to do business. The National Park 
status, 40 miles of coastline and ideal geographical location make it appealing to a range of 
sectors. 

8.2 Whilst it can be argued that every place is in its own way unique, the New Forest’s 
special characteristics of its natural environment combined with its geographical location 
mean it has an offer few other places can compete with.

8.3 In order to ensure that the New Forest is competitive, it is important that the New Forest 
plays to its strengths either through encouraging new business to locate here or encouraging 
new spend from external sources. 

Increase local spend from business and visitors in the district 
Film: New Forest 
8.4 In 2016, the District Council launched the ‘Film: New Forest’ project with the primary 
objective of creating film and television related spend in the local economy. A large 
production film can generate up to £40,000 per day43 for the economy through spend on 
local goods and services. This is a form of inward investment which provides employment for 
local freelance crew as well as boosting spend in local business and their associated supply 
chains. 

8.5 Secondary objectives of the Film: New Forest project seek to boost visitor related spend 
through screen tourism and to provide young people in particular with opportunities to work 
in the film and television industry by working alongside colleges and universities with 
specialities in this area. 

8.6 The Film: New Forest project is being delivered in partnership with Creative England. 
Through this partnership, Film: New Forest has been successful in securing a wide range of 
productions including film, documentaries and commercials. Each of these has been 
provided valuable income into the local economy.

Action: Continue to work to increase local spend through the Film New Forest 
initiative

Increasing Visitor spend
8.7 The New Forest has a vibrant visitor economy worth in excess of £491m per year44 by 
way of visitor expenditure. Naturally this spend has a significant impact in terms of the jobs it 
supports but also in terms of the supply chains it influences, for example, 42% of tourism 
related businesses are based in the food and drink sub-sector45.

8.8 Yet, business growth in the tourism sector has been effectively flat since 2010, with just 
five additional tourism-related businesses in the area. This is a trend that requires attention, 
especially as Hampshire and the UK saw growth of 1.15% and 1.7% per annum respectively 

43 Creative England, (2016), Film Tourism: What is it, and how can you maximise the benefits?, Retrieved from 
http://www.creativeengland.co.uk/film-and-tv/film-tourism-research
44 Tourism South East, (2015), The Economic Impact of Tourism New Forest 2015, Retrieved from 
http://www.tourismsoutheast.com
45 Hampshire Business Intelligence Service, (January, 2018), New Forest Economic Profile 2018 , See Appendix

Page 70



27

since 201046. However, caution must be heeded as whilst all elements of doing business 
within the New Forest need to strike a balance between the economic benefit and the impact 
on the natural landscape, this is never truer than with regard to leisure and tourism. 
Continued development of tourism related business must be supported, but the preservation 
of the natural environment, that which brings visitors here, is equally important. 

8.9 The promotion of tourism services is now managed externally by Go New Forest. 
Despite this work being carried out outside of the District Council, it’s important to note that 
the council still recognises the important role that tourism businesses play within the local 
economy, not least of all through the 9000 local jobs it represents47 and its influence on local 
supply chains. Therefore the District Council will continue to work closely with Go New 
Forest to ensure that the local economy realises its potential from the tourism sector. 

8.10 The overall focus is not necessarily to encourage a greater number of visitors but more 
to extract greater individual value from visitors for example through local events and the Go 
New Forest Card (formerly Brand New Forest). 

8.11 Boosting of local spend goes beyond visitors to the New Forest and should also 
recognise the influence of residents and the workforce within the local economy. Whilst there 
is some crossover here with the section on ‘Vibrant Town and Villages’, there is still the need 
to recognise how best this potential value can be extracted. 

Action: Work with partners to identify opportunities to increase local spend

Promote the New Forest as an easy and attractive place to do business
8.12 During the information gathering phase of this strategy various partners referred to the 
New Forest as being a special and desirable place in which to do business. Specifically, 
repeated reference was made to the National Park, the forest’s coastline, access to national 
transport infrastructure and the International Port of Southampton. Not only does the natural 
environment make the New Forest an attractive place for companies to locate, its access to 
key infrastructure makes it an efficient place in which to do business. 

8.13 Historically the district has not been proactive in marketing itself as a place in which to 
do business. Based upon the aforementioned assets of the district, this can be considered a 
missed opportunity and in line with the wider ambition to create more, higher value jobs, this 
should be addressed.

Action: Work to encourage appropriate inward investment

Ensuring traditional economic activities are maintained
8.14 The motto of the District Council is “Old yet ever new” and this is true of the economic 
activity within the district. Whilst there is rightly a desire to encourage new economic activity 
into the district there is also a need to recognise and protect the traditional activities which 
take place here. 

8.15 Both land and coastal based activities have in some cases existed for centuries and 
whilst the techniques associated with these may have changed, their core function and 
influence to the local landscape and ecology remains.

46 Hampshire Business Intelligence Service, (January, 2018), New Forest Economic Profile 2018 , See Appendix
47 Hampshire Business Intelligence Service, (January, 2018), New Forest Economic Profile 2018 , See Appendix

Page 71



28

8.16 In noting the ecological significance and traditional industries, it is also important to note 
their economic based contribution. Land based activity account for over 1000 businesses 
and approximately 4000 jobs with the New Forest48. By location quotient, Forestry is the third 
most significant cluster in the forest49.

8.17 As significant as the land based sector is in terms of the number of businesses and jobs 
it represents, it’s characterised by the gender split and age profile of its workforce. A total of 
68% of workers in the New Forest are male compared to 54% nationally and 30% of all 
workers are aged 55 and over compared to 18% across all sectors50. 

8.18 These characteristics pose a direct threat to the viability of this sector with the 
consequential impact on supply chains and the New Forest’s ecology. To ensure that the 
sector has a sustainable supply of skilled labour in the future, there is a need to encourage 
career development opportunities, particularly amongst females. 

8.19 In accordance with this, there is a need to protect and develop these industries and 
their associated supply chains, not only to preserve their tradition but also the economic 
benefits which they bring. 

Action: Seek to preserve and protect the New Forest’s traditional economic activities 

48 Hampshire Business Intelligence Service, (January, 2018), New Forest Economic Profile 2018 , See Appendix
49 Emsi, (November, 2017), What’s Driving your Local Economy: A brief analysis of the key local industry 
clusters in the New Forest, Retrieved from www.economicmodelling.co.uk
50 Hampshire Business Intelligence Service, (January, 2018), New Forest Economic Profile 2018 , See Appendix

Page 72



29

Glossary

Affordability ratio - calculated by dividing house prices of an area by the gross annual 
earnings of that area

Business rate - a tax on business properties which local authorities keep a proportion of

Corporate Plan – the council’s overarching document which sets of the priorities and visions 
for the next five years

Dependency ratio – the number of people aged 14 and under and over 65 to the total 
population aged 15 to 64

Go New Forest - a not-for-profit Community Interest Company (CIC) which delivers 
marketing and promotional support for the New Forest destination

Index of Multiple Deprivation – a UK government qualitative study that measures the relative 
deprivation for small areas (Lower Super Output Areas).

Local Enterprise Partnerships (LEPs) – partnerships between local authorities and 
businesses, who offer funding as well as advice through their Growth Hubs. New Forest is 
covered by two LEPs; Enterprise M3 and Solent.

Local Plan – a council-produced document which sets of the planning strategy, strategic 
policies and key development sites of the New Forest up to 2036

NEETS - a young person who is no longer in the education system and who is not working 
or being trained for work.

New Forest Business Partnership – a local organisation which acts a forum for local 
business people and a link between local government and enterprises

RDPE LEADER – an EU funded scheme which provides funding to aims to address lagging 
economic performance, and the resultant social and environmental problems this causes, in 
rural areas.

Section 106 Agreement - private agreements made between local authorities and 
developers which make a development proposal acceptable in planning terms that would not 
otherwise be acceptable.

Page 73



This page is intentionally left blank



CABINET – 4 JULY 2018 PORTFOLIO: LEADER AND 
CORPORATE AFFAIRS

ORGANISATIONAL STRATEGY 2018- 2022

1. PURPOSE OF REPORT

1.1 To agree the Council’s Organisational Strategy. 

2. INTRODUCTION

2.1 The aim of this Organisational strategy is to set out the Council’s approach and plans 
for the future delivery of services demonstrating how this will support the corporate 
plan.  It will provide the framework for discussions and decisions on future operating 
models. 

2.2 The Organisational Strategy is set out at Appendix 1.

2.3 The Organisational Strategy will be delivered through the Accommodation, 
Customer, Human Resources and ICT strategies.

2.4 The Human Resources and ICT Strategies will be considered alongside this 
Organisational Strategy (Items 10 and 11 of the agenda).  

3. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

3.1 One of the key challenges that set the context for this strategy is the continued drive 
for efficiencies.

4. CRIME AND DISORDER, ENVIRONMENTAL, EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY 
IMPLICATIONS

4.1 None arising directly from this report.

5. COMMENTS OF CORPORATE OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY PANEL

5.1 The Panel supported the adoption of the Strategy.

6.0 PORTFOLIO HOLDER’S COMMENTS

6.1 I welcome this overarching Strategy to take the Council forward to meet the needs of 
the District within a constantly changing context.

Page 75

Agenda Item 9



7. RECOMMENDATIONS

7.1 That the Council’s Organisational Strategy 2018-2022, as attached as Appendix 1 to 
this report, be approved.

For further information contact: Background Papers:

Bob Jackson Draft Organisational Strategy 
Chief Executive                                                                    (EEP – 7 September 2017) 
Tel: 02380 285588 Attached
Email: bob.jackson@nfdc.gov.uk

Manjit Sandhu
Executive Head Resources
Tel:  023 8028 5588
E-mail:  Manjit.sandhu@nfdc.gov.uk

Page 76

mailto:bob.jackson@nfdc.gov.uk
mailto:Manjit.sanhu@nfdc.gov.uk


New Forest District Council

Organisational Strategy

APPENDIX 1

P
age 77



Introduction

The Organisational Strategy sets out a vision and purpose, identifying what is 

requiring us to change where we are now, where we want to be in the future, and 

what we need to do to get there. 

It is a strategy designed to help the Council meet the demands of the community over 

the next 4 years as it responds to the Financial, Political, Social and Technological 

challenges which will need to be addressed. It is a strategy for change.

Detailed activities and performance measures for delivering this strategy – and for key 

‘business as usual’ activity – are set out within the Council’s Service Plans.

This strategy has been developed to provide a framework to inform the way the Council 

plans and delivers services. It encompasses a vision and purpose upon which the 

future development of services and operations will be based.

Bob Jackson

Chief Executive

P
age 78



Characteristics of our future organisation 2022:

Our aim is to secure a better future for the New Forest by:

Our Future Vision

That provides good 

services where customers 

council taxpayers and 

residents are satisfied

That provides good 

services where customers 

council taxpayers and 

residents are satisfied

That is capable of delivering 

the Council’s vision and 

priorities 

That is capable of delivering 

the Council’s vision and 

priorities 

That lives within its meansThat lives within its means

That has a culture  that 

supports changing lifestyles 

and is based upon 

delivering  outcomes

That has a culture  that 

supports changing lifestyles 

and is based upon 

delivering  outcomes

That commissions the most 

appropriate delivery models 

for better local services

That commissions the most 

appropriate delivery models 

for better local services

That uses modern 

technology to improve 

efficiency and productivity

That uses modern 

technology to improve 

efficiency and productivity

Assisting the wellbeing of 

those who live and work 

within the district

Supporting local 

business to prosper for 

the benefit of the 

community, and 

Protecting the special 

and unique character of 

the forest

P
age 79



Challenges: Reduction in Funding

Reduced funding is reflected in a smaller budget and the need for a financial savings programme.

Our Government Determined Resources

0

1,000

2,000

3,000

4,000

5,000

6,000

7,000

8,000

9,000

10,000

2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22

£
'0
0
0

Transition Grant

New Homes Bonus

Revenue Support Grant

Business Rates Above Baseline

Business Rates Baseline

P
age 80



Challenges: Reduction in Workforce & Management

• The organisational strategy aim is to achieve the Council’s objectives by means of the most 

appropriate delivery model. 

• Senior management and the workforce has had to be reduced to meet ongoing financial constraints.   

The cost of the workforce will rise to a minimum hourly rate of £9 in 2019/20 with increases for all the 

workforce of 2%.

• Recruitment to skilled roles is becoming more difficult as the local cost of living becomes more costly.

• The council continues to be committed to offering apprentice opportunities in many areas of work.

Workforce Delivery vs Support

Employee Bandings

Workforce Data by Service FTE (1st April 2018)

74%

24%

2%

Band 1 - 4

Band 5 - 8

Band 9+

817 780 759

1277

1223 1163

15/16 16/17 17/18

Total FTE Total Employees

85%

15%

Service Delivery Corporate Support

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

P
age 81



Challenges: Technology Investment

ICT 

Transformation

ICT 

Transformation

Efficiency & 
Effectiveness
Efficiency & 
Effectiveness

GDPR 
Impact
GDPR 
Impact

Smarter 
Working
Smarter 
Working

Social 
Media
Social 
Media

• Potential to improve local outcomes and value for money through 

effective use of technology

• Be imaginative and efficient in the way we deliver services

• Demand for technology is growing, including the growth of social 

media

• Need to share information legally and effectively with our 

partners (GDPR)

• Current legacy systems and platforms are dated and are 

a high risk to current service delivery

• Increased development of technology leading to requirement of 

reduced workforce in some areas

• To transform current technology requires major investment 

across all areas of the organisation and clarity of vision of the 

future organisation

P
age 82



Challenges: Social Impact

• Customer expectations may not reflect our reduced spending

• Demand for openness from public bodies including FOI requests & GDPR

• Modernising the way we interact with customers

• How do we attract the right workforce in the future, taking into account the high cost of 

local living

• Modern methods of working will be necessary to attract tech savvy and ambitious 

individuals.

P
age 83



Our Organisational Strategy 2022

Business Drivers

Budget

Pressure

Budget

Pressure

Service 

Improvements

Service 

Improvements

Increased Customer 

expectations

Increased Customer 

expectations

The Security & 

Compliance of data

The Security & 

Compliance of data

Business Outcomes

Smarter 

Working

Improved 

Performance

Improved 

Customer 

Experience

Enhanced 

Partnership 

Working

Compliant and 

secure data

New/Updated Capabilities

ICT Device 

Refresh

Lifestyle 

changes

Connectivity: 

mobile, WiFi, 

Internet

Collaboration 

Tools, e.g. 

Sharepoint

Communication 

Tools: Office 

365, Skype

ICT Strategy HR Strategy
Accommodation 

Strategy
Customer Strategy

Delivered Through�

P
age 84



How will we get there?

Identify the true cost of our services
Service Cost 

Identification

Service 

Improvement
Transform and modernise services using Business Improvement tools

Alternative 

Delivery Options

Accept a mix of in-house, shared and private service providers –

whichever delivers the best outcome.

Revise Service 

Standards

Review and revise our service standards in line with Customer and 

Council priorities

Maximise Income
Balance budgets and maximise income opportunities across all of our 

services. This includes pursuing commercial investment opportunities.

Skilled, Agile 

Workforce

Support a workforce which is agile and skilled, and can offer a level of 

local resilience

Digital 

Transformation

Continue to develop and futureproof our systems and infrastructure 

whilst embracing a Smarter Working culture.

P
age 85



T
his page is intentionally left blank



CABINET -  4 JULY 2018 PORTFOLIOS:  LEADER AND 
CORPORATE AFFAIRS AND 
FINANCE, CORPORATE 
SERVICES AND IMPROVEMENT

HUMAN RESOURCES STRATEGY 2018- 2022

1. PURPOSE OF REPORT

1.1 To agree the Council’s Human Resources Strategy. 

2. INTRODUCTION

2.1 The aim of the Human Resources Strategy is to set out the Council’s approach and 
plans for the future delivery of HR services, demonstrating how this will support the 
Organisational Strategy. 

2.2 The Human Resources Strategy is set out at Appendix 1.

2.3 The Human Resources Strategy will be part of a suite of strategies including 
Accommodation, Customer, and ICT which, between them, will support the 
Organisational Strategy.

2.4 The Human Resources Strategy and the ICT Strategy are being considered 
alongside the Organisational Strategy. 

3. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

3.1 There are no direct financial implications.

4. CRIME AND DISORDER, ENVIRONMENTAL, EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY 
IMPLICATIONS

4.1 None arising directly from this report.

5. LEADER’S COMMENTS

5.1 I thoroughly support this important Strategy which recognises and protects the value 
of our employees.

6. FINANCE, CORPORATE SERVICE AND IMPROVEMENT PORTFOLIO HOLDER’S 
COMMENTS

6.1 Our employees are our most valuable asset and it is essential that our Strategy 
supports them to that they can deliver for the people of the New Forest. As we see 
changes in the way we deliver services it is important that this is achieved by working 
with the people in the organisation.

Page 87

Agenda Item 10



7. RECOMMENDATIONS

7.1 That the Human Resources Strategy 2018-2022, as attached as Appendix 1 to this 
report, be approved.

For further information contact: Background Papers:

Heleana Aylett Attached
Service Manager Human Resources
Tel: 02380 285588
Email: Heleana.aylett@nfdc.gov.uk

Page 88

mailto:Heleana.aylett@nfdc.gov.uk


New Forest District Council

HR Strategy
2018 - 2022

APPENDIX 1

Page 89



1 | P a g e

Contents

Introduction…………………………………………………………………………………………………………2

Our Vision…………………………………………………………………………………………………………….2

HR Strategy Themes………………………………………………………………….………………………….3

Attract and Retain…………………………………………………………………………………………………4

Smarter Working…………………………………………………………………………………………………..5

Modernising the way we work………………………………………………………………………………6

Future Skills…………………………………………………………………………………………………………..7

Changes in Service Delivery…………………………………………………………………………………..8

Future Leadership and Capabilities……..………………………………………………………………..8

Implementation and Monitoring…………………………………………………………………….…….9

Review………………………………………………………………………………………………………………….9

ACTION PLAN………………………………………………………………………..…………….APPENDIX A

Page 90



2 | P a g e

Introduction

For several years now the Council has faced reduced funding contributing to employees facing 
greater uncertainty. It is recognised that this situation is unlikely to change in the near future. The 
reductions in funding have led to a smaller workforce and fewer senior managers.  The challenge for 
the Council’s Human Resources looking forward is to continually strive for the Council to become an 
‘employer of choice’ making the Council an attractive option to the employee of the future.

The Council’s Organisation Strategy identifies the need to plan for future change. The council 
recognises that if it keeps doing the same things in the same way it will get the same outcomes and 
nothing will change. The concept of Smarter Working provides greater emphasis on the delivery of 
outcomes in the community as well as responding to the changing lifestyles of existing and future 
employees and is an important consideration for the HR Strategy. 

The Council of the future must not only look inwardly at itself and its own performance but it must 
be part of the community learning from the world outside and bringing back into the Council what is 
happening outside and experimenting with what it sees as good practice. The organisation will need 
to create a culture of continual learning that encourages all its employees to be curious and 
challenge the way things are done.

In addition future working practices will need to reflect changes in employee lifestyles which will 
need to allow for more flexibility and the organisation will need to develop a more outcome based 
performance management approach. These are the issues that the HR strategy sets out to address.

Vision

Corporate vision

Our aim is to secure a better future for the New Forest By:

 Supporting local businesses to prosper for the benefit of the community
 Assisting the wellbeing of those people who live and work within the District
 Protecting the special and unique character of the New Forest

Our vision for Human Resources is:

 To provide adaptable, flexible and modern organisational structures that can respond to the 
changing working environment and meet the Councils priorities.

 To provide modern flexible methods of working for employees to enable them to be best 
placed within the community to provide quality services where they are required.

 To provide sound working procedures and policies to support the principles of 
flexible/mobile working and smarter working in general

 To provide the support and training required to embrace the changes in technology to 
enable staff to work in new and more flexible ways to reflect changing lifestyles.

Page 91



3 | P a g e

HR Strategy Themes

There are a number of focus areas in which HR can make a large impact on the successful operations 
of the council. The HR Strategy can be split into the following themes:

• Reviewing the councils current pay structure. Providing a 
flexible solution which can adapt to changing market forces.

• Reviewing current staff benefits, promoting available 
resources and identifying future possibilities.

Attract and 
Retain

• Providing learning and support to staff and managers giving 
them the skills and knowledge to enable the benefits of 
smarter, mobile working to be fully realised.

• To provide flexible working policies and procedures to 
support a more flexible work life balance for staff.

Smarter 
Working

• Enabling staff to be more mobile and at the same time more 
accessible to meet the needs of our customers.

• Increasing productivity and efficiency with improved 
management information.

Modernising 
How We Work

• Reviewing the core skills, job skills and work discipline skills 
required in the future.

• Investment in our staff at all levels - from apprentices to 
future leaders ensuring the talent pool is maintained.

Future Skills

• Identifying changes in future legislation and understanding 
the skills required whilst responding with flexible structures.

• Consideration of partnership and collaboration arrangements 
including different delivery methods at all levels.

Changes in 
Service Delivery 

• Encouraging staff to take responsibility for their own 
development and enable them to acheive their ambition.

• Introducing a performance management system which is 
driven by measuring outcomes rather than inputs.

Future 
Leadership and 

Capabilities

Page 92



4 | P a g e

Attract and Retain

It is becoming increasingly difficult to attract applicants to some of our key positions. Due to our 
location we have major competitors both to the east and west of our district. We need to recognise 
that potential employees are looking for a more flexible approach to their work with work life 
balance playing a key part in their employment choices.

Attract

Engage

DevelopReward

Retain

To support the employee cycle the strategy will look to:

 Develop pay structures that are fair and consistent but that retain the flexibility required to 
support market demands.

 Provide employee benefits to compliment the pay offered leading to a comprehensive 
employee package.

 Promote NFDC as an employer of choice using social media, careers events and external 
partnerships

 Encourage employees to engage with the organisation, using the employee forum, change 
agent meetings and other methods to promote good communication and understanding 
within the authority.

 Development opportunities and external networking will be key in building resilience, 
promoting best practice and retaining skilled employees.

 Provide support to employees in terms of their mental and physical wellbeing.

Page 93



5 | P a g e

Smarter Working

Any transformation programme is about getting staff to do things differently. Any change 
programme is meaningless without staff involvement.

To enable our change to be effective, efficient and engaging we need to ensure that the following 
three aspects are addressed:

Accommodation

TechnologyCulture

The HR strategy will need to address the Culture aspect and the following actions need to be 
delivered:

 Training for managers in performance management for mobile workers.
 Training and guidelines for all staff working flexibly, including advice and support on coping 

with change and increasing resilience.
 Training in technology such of Office 365 and Skype and which will support mobile working
 Staff involvement and internal communications
 An HR system which is accessible through mobile devices aiding efficiency
 HR policies which support flexible working.

Page 94



6 | P a g e

Modernising the way we work

The speed at which technology is changing is becoming increasingly impressive. Having the right 
technology in place will be essential in the delivery of flexible and mobile working. Standardised and 
reliable technology will enable staff to benefit from a more flexible working arrangement which will 
benefit both staff and customers.

From an HR perspective having systems which employees can access on mobile devices ensuring 
optimum efficiency but retaining robust approval processes and acceptable audit trails will be key.

Future technology demands for mobile devices will include:

 Travel and subsistence
 Overtime
 On line Timesheets
 On line leave requests
 Manager approvals for all these actions.

In order to increase efficiency and effectiveness of our managers it will be essential to provide them 
with accurate management information. This will include a dashboard of information containing:

 Absence data
 Recruitment data
 Vacant post data
 Mandatory training requirements and key dates
 Sickness data including trigger points

To achieve all of the above HR will be securing a new HR and Payroll system. The new system will 
have a go live payroll date of April 2019. Other modules such as Recruitment and Training will follow 
later in the year.

The system we secure will also enable us to be in a position to offer our payroll and recruitment 
services to other authorities or local businesses. Where possible we will seek to secure partnership 
arrangements which will deliver tangible benefits to both parties and a financial benefit to the 
council.

Page 95



7 | P a g e

Future Skills 

As recruitment becomes increasing difficult it will be essential that we maintain our talent pool. 
Talent development will become of strategic importance as the pool diminishes. We need to invest 
in and develop our staff from apprentices to future managers and leaders to ensure the level of 
resources with the skills required are available.

• Technical skills
• Academic / trade qualificationsJob Skills

• Digital skills, financial skills, project management
• ,Critical thinking, problem solving, people 

management
Core Skills

• Communication skills, resilience, learning skills.
• Literacy/Numeracy, equality and collaboration.Work Disciplines

To facilitate this we will be focusing on the following:

 Delivering apprenticeship opportunities both for new employees and existing employees
 Encouraging staff to look outside our organisation in order to bring back sharing and best 

practice
 Introducing a mandatory need to attend external events for managers. This is essential to 

move the organisation forward and ensure best practice in professional disciplines is shared 
and implemented.

 Looking to develop programmes which will cover the future professional skills required.
 Providing training programmes to support the change to smarter working.
 Ensuring managers are trained and supported in managing off site workers and the move 

towards performance management is focused on the achievement of objectives.

Page 96



8 | P a g e

Changes in Service Delivery

There are a number of areas of work which will increase in demand over the next 5 years. 
Some opportunities such as partnership working should be considered as a matter of fact at 
each stage in any change. Others are more focussed but each element requires us to have 
the necessary skills and knowledge to make the right choices and decisions.

Future growth areas include:

 Partnership working
 Projects for smarter working
 Collaboration
 Changes in legislation
 Housing Demands
 Utilisation of council property and land
 Investment in housing

Future Leadership and Capabilities

To ensure that we are able to meet the challenges ahead and deliver results in our growth areas it 
will be essential that as well as having some core skills it is essential that we allow our managers 
space to look outside our organisation in order to bring back sharing and best practice.

Situational 
Judgement

Continuous 
Professional 

Development

Commitment
Social and 

Ethical 
Responsibility

Body of 
Knowledge 
and Skills

We will look to review our performance management framework with a view to introducing 
meaningful outcomes whilst supporting staff to achieve and deliver the best for our customers.

All staff will be encouraged to consider their own personal development and take responsibility for 
ensuring their knowledge and skills equip them for the role they do. All staff will also be encouraged 
to consider future roles in the organisation and what skills they may need to achieve their ambition.

Page 97



9 | P a g e

Implementation and Monitoring

Monitoring of the delivery of this HR Strategy will be done by a number of bodies as follows:

Governance Body Prime Function Frequency

HR Service Manager Day to day leadership and 
control. Co-ordination of the 
overall strategy.

Daily

Exec Head of Resources Exec head monitoring of the 
strategy delivery

Monthly

Project Boards Leadership and decisions on 
specific projects

Monthly

Portfolio Holder Review and control of HR 
budget and strategy from 
democratic viewpoint

Monthly 

EMT Direction and priorities for HR. Quarterly or as required
Employee Engagement Panel Review of HR policy changes Quarterly
Cabinet Decisions on budgets as 

required
As required

Audit role Validation and verification of 
risks

Annual

Finance Monitoring of any financial 
implications

As required

Review

This strategy will be reviewed and updated as necessary. The first formal review will take 
place in 2020.

Page 98



CABINET – 4 JULY 2018 PORTFOLIO:  FINANCE, CORPORATE 
SERVICES AND IMPROVEMENT

ICT STRATEGY 2018- 2022

1. PURPOSE OF REPORT

1.1 To agree the Council’s ICT Strategy 2018-2022. 

2. INTRODUCTION

2.1 The aim of the ICT Strategy 2018-2022 is to set out the Council’s approach and 
plans for the future delivery of ICT services demonstrating how this will support the 
Organisational Strategy.  It will provide the framework for discussions and decisions 
on future ICT operational and transformational priorities over the coming years. 

2.2 The ICT Strategy 2018-2022 is set out at Appendix 1 for approval.

2.3 The ICT Strategy 2018-2022 will be delivered with due consideration of, and 
alignment to, the Human Resources, Customer and Accommodation strategies.

3. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

3.1 The investment in ICT will enable the Council to deliver better services.  ICT can 
release savings by increasing productivity and efficiency.

4. CRIME AND DISORDER, ENVIRONMENTAL, EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY 
IMPLICATIONS

4.1 None arising directly from this report.

5.0 COMMENTS OF CORPORATE OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY PANEL

5.1 The Panel supported the adoption of the ICT Strategy.

6. PORTFOLIO HOLDER’S COMMENTS

6.1 It is important that we pursue an ICT Strategy that delivers for the authority not just 
today but going forward as we look to new and more efficient ways of providing 
services to our residents.

7. RECOMMENDATIONS

7.1 That it be a recommendation to Council that the ICT Strategy 2018-2022, as attached 
as Appendix 1 to this report, be approved.

Page 99

Agenda Item 11



For further information contact: Background Papers:

Rob Beere Attached
Service Manager ICT
Tel: 02380 285588
Email: rob.beere@nfdc.gov.uk

Page 100

mailto:rob.beere@nfdc.gov.uk


N
FD

C
 IC

T 
St

ra
te

gy

20
18

-2
02

2

Rob Beere
Service Manager ICT

New Forest District Council
21 June 2018

APPENDIX 1

Page 101



ICT STRATEGY 2018-2022
 

1 | I C T  S t r a t e g y 2 0 1 8 - 2 0 2 2

Contents
Version History...............................................................................................................................1

1. Introduction.................................................................................................................................2

2. Background ................................................................................................................................2

3. Vision..........................................................................................................................................3

Business ICT Vision.......................................................................................................................3

Technology Vision..........................................................................................................................4

Vision - Decision Made So Far ......................................................................................................5

4. Scope .........................................................................................................................................5

5. Themes and Layers....................................................................................................................6

Themes ..........................................................................................................................................6

Layers ............................................................................................................................................6

6. Action Plan .................................................................................................................................7

7. Implementation and Monitoring ..................................................................................................9

8. ICT Architecture Principles.........................................................................................................9

Version History
Version Date Distribution Comments

0.1-0.4 Feb-Mar 
2018

Internal ICT Management Team Internal ICT early drafts

0.5 Apr 2018 Bob Jackson, Manjit Sandhu, Cllr 
Jeremy Heron

Early draft for key stakeholder review

0.6 18 May 
2018

EMT (Bob Jackson, Manjit Sandhu, 
Colin Read, Grainne O’Rourke, 
Alan Bethune); Portfolio Holder 
(Cllr Jeremy Heron); Service 
Managers; ICT Management Team

Complete draft for full stakeholder 
review

1.0 25 May 
2018

EMT (Bob Jackson, Manjit Sandhu, 
Colin Read, Grainne O’Rourke, 
Alan Bethune);Portfolio Holder (Cllr 
Jeremy Heron); ICT Management 
Team; COSP; Cabinet

Final version including all feedback 
received

1.1 21 June 
2018

EMT (Bob Jackson, Manjit Sandhu, 
Colin Read, Grainne O’Rourke, 
Alan Bethune);Portfolio Holder (Cllr 
Jeremy Heron); ICT Management 
Team; Committee Admin (Jan 
Debnam); COSP; Cabinet

Referenced members explicitly under 
Background and Themes; adjusted 
Business Vision to make it clear that 
the overall goal is to help residents 
and businesses; and, adjusted Time 
Based projects diagram for more 
clarity

Page 102



ICT STRATEGY 2018-2022
 

2 | I C T  S t r a t e g y 2 0 1 8 - 2 0 2 2

1. Introduction

Information & Communication Technology (ICT) is critical for the effective operation and 
delivery of Council services to residents and business. It offers key benefits by enabling:

 Access to online transactional services, which makes life simpler and more 
convenient for residents and business; and

 Development of new channels to collaborate and share information with residents 
and business, which in turn enable innovation with new online services.

Good ICT is a fundamental tool that every modern organisation needs. This strategy will 
enable the Council to deliver better services for less cost. It will enable staff to work in new 
and more flexible ways to reflect changing lifestyles.  ICT can release savings by increasing 
productivity and efficiency.   

There has never been a more exciting time for ICT within local government with artificial 
intelligence (AI), Internet of Things (IOT), Chat-bots, Automation, Robotics, as well as Cloud 
and ‘as a Service’ offerings all promising to revolutionise working methods and means of 
communication with residents.  The ICT strategy will, in time, look at all these opportunities 
with realism and pragmatism.  

First though, the ICT Strategy will deliver better software and tools for staff and members, 
underpinned by reliable and robust infrastructure. This will enable accelerated 
implementation of new more flexible ways of working as part of the drive to reduce costs and 
improve current capabilities across the council.

The strategy is focused on driving real change.  It sets out how the council will enable the 
delivery of services in a very different way from the past.

2. Background

The ICT Strategy 2018-2022 will enable the Council to build upon the work undertaken in the 
last 18 months, as set out in the ICT Strategy 2017-2018.  Where the focus was on ensuring 
the:

 ICT service was capable of supporting the council’s requirements; and, 
 Legacy issues were stabilised including aged hardware and ‘out of support’ 

software.
 

Only when these issues were addressed could the Council go forward and ICT enable and 
support a more modern organisation.  The 2017/18 Strategy has been, or is in the process of 
being, delivered via a large programme.  

The ICT Strategy 2018-2022 takes up the story and represents another step forward.  It will 
complete the work to fix the legacy issues and then fully enable the Council to deliver wider 
benefits from the use of ICT.  

This new strategy will, over time, move NFDC from a trailing to a leading position as a 
council making efficient and effective use of information technology.

Page 103



ICT STRATEGY 2018-2022
 

3 | I C T  S t r a t e g y 2 0 1 8 - 2 0 2 2

3. Vision

Business ICT Vision

Our business vision for the use of Information & Communications Technology is:

“We will use ICT which is resilient and secure, less complex 
and more productive, helping deliver reductions in council 
spending, to help residents and businesses obtain services 
from the council with ease and clarity.”

Business 
ICT 

Vision

Resilient & 
secure 

information

A more 
flexible 

workstyle

Simple and 
standard 

Apps

Better digital 
services for 
residents 

and 
business 

Page 104



ICT STRATEGY 2018-2022
 

4 | I C T  S t r a t e g y 2 0 1 8 - 2 0 2 2

As shown above, to achieve our vision we will focus our work on four themes which will help 
to steer and focus our efforts on what truly matters, as follows:

 Ensure resilience and security of service delivery
 Create a more flexible, mobile workstyle for our staff and members
 Improve council efficiency and value for money through simpler, standardised 

applications
 Enable residents and businesses easily to transact digitally with the council

These themes will be the basis of prioritising ICT investment. Any future ICT investment 
must address one or more of these themes in order to progress.  The themes are explored in 
more depth in the section headed Themes and Layers.

Technology Vision

The vision for how technology is actually deployed and used is summed up in the following 
diagram. This vision aims to provide some guiding principles for how we make decisions 
about future technology choices and how they fit into our ICT architecture.

NFDC 

Consistent Master 
Data Management

Mobile ‘Best Fit’ Business
Applications

• Everything in 
Private Cloud or 
Public Cloud

• Everything from 
one data source 
(‘the golden 
record’)

• Everything secure 
& shared 
appropriately

• Everything via 
wireless & Internet

• Everything 
anywhere on 
standard devices

Officers using browser 
to access everything 
on standard devices 
from any location

Internet

Wifi

Collaboration & 
Communication Tools

TECHNOLOGY VISION FOR NFDC:

Page 105



ICT STRATEGY 2018-2022
 

5 | I C T  S t r a t e g y 2 0 1 8 - 2 0 2 2

Vision - Decision Made So Far

As part of the existing ICT Strategy 2017-2018 a number of decisions have been made to 
ensure we procure and build future ICT solutions on a solid foundation.  These decisions 
remain relevant and will be taken forward as part of the new strategy.  They are as follows.

i. We will renew our aged on-premise infrastructure with a new on-premise or remote ‘private 
cloud’ to meet our centralised computing requirements until at least 2022

ii. We will explore and use ‘public cloud’ for line of business or corporate applications when 
upgrading or replacing and when ‘public cloud’ is the best solution for cost, resilience and 
usability.

iii. We will renew personal devices of all staff with mobile hybrid equipment that provides a 
proven, up to date, complete solution (inc. ultra-wide screen and dock). 

iv. We will support ‘smarter working’ with relevant ICT policies, connectivity, software, 
systems, infrastructure, and by reviewing/upgrading/replacing applications over time so 
they work remotely.

v. We will upgrade, simplify, rationalise and replace our corporate and line of business 
applications over time, especially those no longer ‘supported’ by vendors, to ensure they 
are standardised, ‘best fit’, and have minimal or no customisation.

vi. We will base our future ICT decisions on a unified approach to data, applications, 
platforms, connectivity and sourcing using TOGAF (The Open Group Architectural 
Framework) to ensure we are consistent with IT industry best practice.  

In addition, we can now add two more important decisions as part of this new ICT Strategy.

vii. We will assess all ICT investments against the themes identified in this strategy and pursue 
those first that most closely align with these themes.

viii. We will adhere to a set of ICT principles to ensure the integrity and consistency of our ICT 
architecture and to enable us to stay consistent with our technology vision and thus avoid 
redundancy or spending money on solutions which are sub-optimal or become irrelevant.  
The principles we will follow are shown in Appendix B. 

4. Scope
  

This ICT Strategy will cover all ICT services required by NFDC.  This includes all service areas, 
member ICT services and the agreed services provided to partners such as the New Forest 
National Park Authority and Ringwood Town Council.  The ICT Strategy will be the exclusive 

Page 106



ICT STRATEGY 2018-2022
 

6 | I C T  S t r a t e g y 2 0 1 8 - 2 0 2 2

means by which ICT services are planned, procured and implemented.  No council services will be 
permitted to  ‘go their own way’ on ICT solutions unless this is fully endorsed by ICT and EMT.  
This is essential to ensure consistency, integrity, and best value for money from ICT investments, 
and to avoid the risk of pockets of sub-optimal ‘shadow ICT’ existing within NFDC.  

5. Themes and Layers

Themes

There are a number of focus areas in which ICT can and should make a large impact on the 
operations of the council.  These have been termed ‘themes’ in this strategy.  All actions stemming 
from this strategy should support delivery of one or more Themes. 

• Ensure resilience and security of service delivery 
– Resilient systems that meet service levels
– Secure systems safe from attack or failure
– Data protected in line with our obligations
– Better preparedness for emergencies

• Create a flexible, mobile workstyle for our staff and members
– Suitable equipment for efficient working in the office
– Standardised and reliable technology outside the office
– Good connectivity across the district

• Improve council efficiency and value for money through simpler, standard applications
– Standard applications with minimal or no customisations
– Standardised simplified business processes using ‘vanilla’ functionality
– Useful data and metrics that support decision making
– Most appropriate sourcing of ICT services and products

• Enable residents and businesses easily to transact digitally with the council
– Very good customer experience on the website 
– Simple, easy and reliable end to end transactions and customer journeys

The Themes are used as reference check-points for the Action Plan set out in Appendix A.

Layers

The layers show the dimensions which each project needs to consider to ensure a complete, 
integrated ICT solution is provided.  As such they provide a checklist to ensure all facets of ICT are 
considered in our solutions.

To illustrate, in designing a solution we need to consider the data we want to hold, and the way 
that data is presented, processed and stored within end user applications.  We then need to 
consider what platform each application sits on.  We then need to decide how users connect to 

Page 107



ICT STRATEGY 2018-2022
 

7 | I C T  S t r a t e g y 2 0 1 8 - 2 0 2 2

that platform.  Finally we need to decide how we source all of this for best value – specifically, 
what do we do ourselves within the council and what do we source from suppliers and partners.  
The layers are as follows.  

• Data Strategy
– Clarity of data ownership, security and integrity across NFDC
– Work with each Service to help them define their master data management 

approach
• Applications Strategy

– Reduce the number and complexity of our applications 
– Increase the use of standardised, simpler ‘best fit’ applications
– Standardise business processes to fit the applications standard functions

• Platform Strategy
– Simplify our infrastructure platforms and devices and use the most cost effective 

and efficient solutions – public or private cloud
• Connectivity Strategy

– Renew our solutions for local and wider connectivity including within and between 
offices and the internet

– Review our voice connectivity solutions
• Sourcing Strategy 

– Use suppliers, partners and managed services when cost effective while retaining 
contractual and managerial control 

– Focus the internal ICT function on its specific areas of competence to support the 
ICT Strategy 

6. Action Plan

The action plan is the means by which we turn the vision and principles of the strategy into 
reality.  The plan lays out the key projects we will action.  These projects are over and above 
Business as Usual (BAU) ICT activities required for day to day council services.  

The Action Plan consists of a view of the key projects through two complimentary lenses.  
The first lense is that of a theme by theme view of the outcomes we aim to achieve.   The 
second lense is that of a time orientated high level plan of our year by year goals.  

These are each illustrated below and explained in more detail in Appendix A.

Page 108



ICT STRATEGY 2018-2022
 

8 | I C T  S t r a t e g y 2 0 1 8 - 2 0 2 2

Resilience & 
Security

• Infrastructure renewal – servers, network, storage, connections
• HR Payroll / Finance App / EDRMS / Planning App replace
• Operating system upgrades
• Next generation Apps and Infra

Flexible/ Mobile 
Workstyle

• Infrastructure renewal – servers, network,  storage, connections
• Remote connection
• Office 365 Communications and Collaboration tools
• Hybrid devices rollout

Efficiency & VFM

• HR Payroll / Finance / EDRMS/ Planning Apps replace
• Planning Apps replace
• Master Data Management
• Artificial Intelligence
• IOT/Automation/Big Data/Automation Potentials

Digital Residents 
& Businesses

• Website replace & Customer journeys
• Telephony
• IOT/AI/Big Data/Automation Potentials
• Customer Service optimisation

ICT Strategy – Theme Based Projects

• Infrastructure renewal - Design
• Office 365 Communication & 

Collaboration Tools - Design
• Hybrid rollout – first phase
• HR/Payroll & Finance – Design 

2018

• Infrastructure renewal - Deploy
• Office 365 Communication & 

Collaboration Tools - Deploy
• Hybrid rollout – final phase
• HR/Payroll/Finance - Deploy
• Operating systems upgrade
• Website & Customer Journeys 

– Design & Deploy

2019 • Office 365 - EDRMS replace
• Planning App replace
• Website & Customer Journeys 

– Deploy 2 
• Master Data Management 
• IOT/AI/Automation/Big Data 

opportunities - Design

2020

• Remaining legacy Apps 
• Infra upgrades
• IOT/AI/Automation/Big Data 

opportunities
• Master Data Mgt – phase 2

2021 • Next generation of  Apps
• Next generation of Infra 
• Review ICT structure

2022

ICT Strategy – Time Based Projects

Page 109



ICT STRATEGY 2018-2022
 

9 | I C T  S t r a t e g y 2 0 1 8 - 2 0 2 2

7. Implementation and Monitoring

Monitoring of the delivery of this ICT Strategy will be done by a number of governance 
bodies as follows:

Governance Body Prime Function Frequency
ICT Management Team Day to day leadership and 

control
Weekly

Project Boards for individual 
projects

Leadership and decisions on 
specific projects

Bi-weekly or monthly

Service Manager Control and coordination of 
the overall strategy and 
architectural integrity of ICT 
and risk control

Daily

Executive Head of Resources Exec level monitor and 
guidance on ICT strategy to 
service manager

Bi-weekly

Portfolio Holder Review and control of ICT 
budgets and strategy from 
democratic viewpoint

Monthly

EMT Direction and priorities of 
ICT;  decisions on 
contentious matters

Monthly-Quarterly

Cabinet Decisions on budgets and 
overall priorities

Ad-hoc

Audit role Validation and verification 
that due process is being 
followed and risks managed

Annual programme

Finance Monitoring of budgetary 
spend with ICT

Monthly

8. ICT Architecture Principles

TOGAF Enterprise Architecture suggests that well defined principles help an organisation to 
build and sustain a more robust and better value for money ICT architecture.  We will adhere 
to a set of ICT principles to ensure the integrity and consistency of our ICT architecture.  This 
will enable us to stay consistent with our technology vision and thus avoid redundancy or 
spending money on solutions which are sub-optimal or become irrelevant.  The draft 
principles we will follow are shown in Appendix B.

Page 110



NFDC ICT Strategy 2018- 2022

Appendix A: ACTION PLAN

Theme Project Outcome Desired Start End

Resilience & Security Infrastructure Renewal – Servers, 
Network, Connections

Replace existing ICT infrastructure (servers, network, platforms, 
software) with a new infrastructure that meets the needs of the 
council and integrates with public cloud services as required.    

Dec 2017 June 2019

Resilience & Security HR/Payroll/Finance Replacement Replace Agresso, which is ‘out of support’, with new applications for 
HR/Payroll and Finance.

Jan 2018 Dec 2019

Resilience & Security EDRMS (Electronic Document and 
Record Management Systems) 
Replacement 

Replace Meridio, which is ‘out of support’, with a new application. Jan 2019 June 2020

Resilience & Security Planning Application Replacement Replace Acolaid, which is ‘out of support’, with a new application. Jan 2019 June 2020
Resilience & Security Operating System (SQL/Server 2020) 

Upgrade
Update the underlying operating system for all of our systems from 
SQL/Server 2008 which goes out of support in 2018 with the latest 
operating system.

Jan 2019 Dec 2019

Resilience & Security Ongoing Infrastructure and Operating 
System Upgrades

Continue to ensure that upgrades are done at the first reasonable 
opportunity across our ICT estate (apps and infra) so that we don’t 
end up with a swathe of ‘out of support’ software or hardware again.

Jan 2019 Dec 2022

Flexible, Mobile 
Workstyle

Infrastructure Renewal -  – Servers, 
Network, Connections

Replace existing ICT infrastructure (servers, network, platforms, 
software) with a new infrastructure that meets the needs of the 
council and integrates with public cloud services as required.  

Dec 2017 June 2019

Flexible, Mobile 
Workstyle

Remote Connection This is a workstream of the Infrastructure Renewal project,  focusing 
on enabling high quality remote working with easy, reliable 
connectivity from remote locations.    

Dec 2017 June 2019

Flexible, Mobile 
Workstyle

Office 365 - Communications and 
Collaboration Tools

Replace Exchange 2010 with Office 365 or similar to enable: status of 
each person; instant messenger; internal Skype (for internal calls, 
including multi-person calls); external Skype for all external incoming 
and outgoing telephony; Onedrive for personal document storage;  
plus email and all the standard Office apps.

Mar 2018 Dec 2019

Flexible, Mobile Hybrid Device Rollout Replace all Windows 7 desktop and laptop devices with Windows 10 Oct 2017 April 2018

APPENDIX 1A

P
age 111



NFDC ICT Strategy 2018- 2022

Appendix A: ACTION PLAN

Workstyle new hybrids to deal with Windows 7 going out of support and to 
enable smart working. 

Efficiency & VFM HR/Payroll/Finance Replacement Replace Agresso, which is ‘out of support’, with new applications for 
HR/Payroll and Finance.

Jan 2018 Dec 2019

Efficiency & VFM EDRMS (Electronic Document and 
Record Management Systems) 
Replacement 

Replace Meridio, which is ‘out of support’, with a new application. Jan 2019 June 2020

Efficiency & VFM Planning Application Replacement Replace Acolaid, which is ‘out of support’, with a new application. Jan 2019 June 2020
Efficiency & VFM Master Data Management Develop an overarching strategy / case for moving to single sources of 

key data items – the golden record.   Then develop an implementation 
plan and do it.  

Jan 2020 Dec 2021

Efficiency & VFM Remaining legacy applications 
rationalisation and replacement

Review then either keep or retire, refresh, replace remaining 
applications not already reviewed and sorted. 

Jan 2021 Dec 2022

Efficiency & VFM IOT/AI/Automation/Big Data Potentials Investigate potential for emerging technologies such as Internet of 
Things, Artificial Intelligence, Automation, and Big Data, then develop 
a roadmap and implementation plan for NFDC services

Sep 2020 Dec 2021

Digital Residence & 
Businesses

Website Replacement Develop roadmap for NFDC website(s) and then implement the 
roadmap. Includes back office systems integration.

Jun 2018 Jun 2020

Digital Residence & 
Businesses

CRM (Customer Relationship 
Management) System replacement

New CRM for better workflow and information management linked 
with the new website and back office systems.

Jun 2019 Jun 2020

Digital Residence & 
Businesses

IOT/AI/Automation/Big Data Potentials Investigate potential for emerging technologies such as Internet of 
Things, Artificial Intelligence, Automation, and Big Data, then develop 
a roadmap and implementation plan for NFDC services

Sep 2020 Dec 2022

All Themes Next Generation Apps/Infra/ICT 
provision

Develop the vision for the next generation of ICT for NFDC for the 
period 2023 to 2030

Jan 2022 Dec 2022

P
age 112



ICT STRATEGY 2018-2022 

Appendix B – Principles for ICT Architectural Decisions

Introduction

These principles have been adapted from TOGAF Enterprise Architecture to provide a set of guiding 
rules for how ICT decisions are made at NFDC.  These principles are aimed at ensuring that 
consistent decisions are made that protect the integrity of the ICT architecture and the value of the 
investment in ICT at NFDC.

Each principle is structured in the same way to provide clarity of the purpose, scope, rationale and 
implications of the principle.  They are grouped into four categories of business, data, applications 
and technology.

APPENDIX 1B

Page 113



ICT STRATEGY 2018-2022 

Appendix B – Principles for ICT Architectural Decisions

Business Principles
 
Principle 1:

ICT Responsibility
Statement:

The ICT organization is responsible for owning and implementing IT processes and 
infrastructure that enable solutions to meet user-defined requirements for functionality, 
service levels, cost, and delivery timing.

Rationale:
Effectively align expectations with capabilities and costs so that all projects are cost-effective. 
Efficient and effective solutions have reasonable costs and clear benefits.

Implications:

A process must be created to prioritize projects.
The IT function must define processes to manage business unit expectations.

Data, application, and technology models must be created to enable integrated quality solutions and 
to maximize results.

Principle 2:
Maximize Benefit to the Council

Statement:
Information management decisions are made to provide maximum benefit to the Council as a 
whole.

Rationale:
This principle embodies "service above self". Decisions made from a Council-wide 
perspective have greater long-term value than decisions made from any particular 
organizational perspective. Maximum return on investment requires information management 
decisions to adhere to Council-wide drivers and priorities. No minority group will detract from 
the benefit of the whole. However, this principle will not preclude any minority group from 
getting its job done.

Implications:

Achieving maximum Council-wide benefit will require changes in the way we plan and 
manage information. Technology alone will not bring about this change.
Some services may have to concede their own preferences for the greater benefit of 
the entire Council.
Application development priorities must be established by the entire Council for the 
entire Council.
Applications components should be shared across organizational boundaries.
Information management initiatives should be conducted in accordance with the 
Council plan. Individual services should pursue information management initiatives 
which conform to the blueprints and priorities established by the Council. We will 
change the plan as we need to.  As needs arise, priorities must be adjusted.  These 
decisions will be made via agreed governance bodies.

Principle 3:
Business Continuity

Statement:
Council operations are maintained in spite of system interruptions.

Rationale:

Page 114



ICT STRATEGY 2018-2022 

Appendix B – Principles for ICT Architectural Decisions

As system operations become more pervasive, we become more dependent on them; 
therefore, we must consider the reliability of such systems throughout their design and use. 
Business premises throughout the Council must be provided with the capability to continue 
their business functions regardless of external events. Hardware failure, natural disasters, 
and data corruption should not be allowed to disrupt or stop Council activities. The Council 
business functions must be capable of operating on alternative information delivery 
mechanisms.

Implications:

Dependency on shared system applications mandates that the risks of business 
interruption must be established in advance and managed. Management includes but 
is not limited to periodic reviews, testing for vulnerability and exposure, or designing 
mission-critical services to assure business function continuity through redundant or 
alternative capabilities.  Recoverability, redundancy, and maintainability should be 
addressed at the time of design.  Applications must be assessed for criticality and 
impact on the Council mission, in order to determine what level of continuity is 
required and what corresponding recovery plan is necessary.

Principle 4:
Compliance with Law

Statement:
Council information management processes comply with all relevant laws, policies, and 
regulations.

Rationale:
Council policy is to abide by laws, policies, and regulations. This will not preclude business 
process improvements that lead to changes in policies and regulations.

Implications:

The Council must be mindful to comply with laws, regulations, and external policies 
regarding the collection, retention, and management of data.
Education and access to the rules. Efficiency, need, and common sense are not the 
only drivers. Changes in the law and changes in regulations may drive changes in our 
processes or applications.

Page 115



ICT STRATEGY 2018-2022 

Appendix B – Principles for ICT Architectural Decisions

Data Principles

Principle 5:
Data is an Asset

Statement:
Data is an asset that has value to the Council and is managed accordingly.

Rationale:
Data is a valuable corporate resource; it has real, measurable value. In simple terms, the 
purpose of data is to aid decision-making. Accurate, timely data is critical to accurate, timely 
decisions. Most corporate assets are carefully managed, and data is no exception. Data is the 
foundation of our decision-making, so we must also carefully manage data to ensure that we 
know where it is, can rely upon its accuracy, and can obtain it when and where we need it.

Implications:

This is one of three closely-related principles regarding data: data is an asset; data is 
shared; and data is easily accessible. The implication is that there is an education 
task to ensure that all services within the Council understand the relationship 
between value of data, sharing of data, and accessibility to data.
Stewards must have the authority and means to manage the data for which they are 
accountable.
We must make the cultural transition from "data ownership" thinking to "data 
stewardship" thinking.
The role of data steward is critical because obsolete, incorrect, or inconsistent data 
could be passed to Council personnel and adversely affect decisions across the 
Council.  It could also have GDPR consequences.
Part of the role of data steward, who manages the data, is to ensure data quality. 
Procedures must be developed and used to prevent and correct errors in the 
information and to improve those processes that produce flawed information. Data 
quality will need to be measured and steps taken to improve data quality - it is 
probable that policy and procedures will need to be developed for this as well.
Since data is an asset of value to the entire Council, data stewards accountable for 
properly managing the data must be assigned at the Council level.

Principle 6:
Data is Shared

Statement:
Users have access to the data necessary to perform their duties; therefore, data is shared 
across Council functions and services.

Rationale:
Timely access to accurate data is essential to improving the quality and efficiency of Council 
decision-making. It is less costly to maintain timely, accurate data in a single application, and 
then share it, than it is to maintain duplicative data in multiple applications. The Council holds 
a wealth of data, but it is stored in hundreds of incompatible stovepipe databases. The speed 
of data collection, creation, transfer, and assimilation is driven by the ability of the 
organization to efficiently share these islands of data across the organization. 

Shared data will result in improved decisions since we will rely on fewer (ultimately one 
virtual) sources of more accurate and timely managed data for all of our decision-making. 
Electronically shared data will result in increased efficiency when existing data entities can be 
used, without re-keying, to create new entities.

Implications:

Page 116



ICT STRATEGY 2018-2022 

Appendix B – Principles for ICT Architectural Decisions

To enable data sharing we must develop and abide by a common set of policies, 
procedures, and standards governing data management and access for both the 
short and the long term.
For the short term, to preserve our significant investment in legacy systems, we must 
invest in software capable of migrating legacy system data into a shared data 
environment.
We will also need to develop standard data models, data elements, and other 
metadata that defines this shared environment and develop a repository system for 
storing this metadata to make it accessible.
For the long term, as legacy systems are replaced, we must adopt and enforce 
common data access policies and guidelines for new application developers to 
ensure that data in new applications remains available to the shared environment and 
that data in the shared environment can continue to be used by the new applications.
For both the short term and the long term we must adopt common methods and tools 
for creating, maintaining, and accessing the data shared across the Council.
Data sharing will require a significant cultural change.
This principle of data sharing will continually "bump up against" the principle of data 
security. Under no circumstances will the data sharing principle cause confidential 
data to be compromised.
Data made available for sharing will have to be relied upon by all users to execute 
their respective tasks. This will ensure that only the most accurate and timely data is 
relied upon for decision-making. Shared data will become the Council-wide "virtual 
single source" of data.

Principle 7:
Data is Accessible

Statement:
Data is accessible for users to perform their functions.

Rationale:
Wide access to data leads to efficiency and effectiveness in decision-making, and affords 
timely response to information requests and service delivery. Using information must be 
considered from an Council perspective to allow access by a wide variety of users. Staff time 
is saved and consistency of data is improved.

Implications:

Accessibility involves the ease with which users obtain information.
The way information is accessed and displayed must be sufficiently adaptable to 
meet a wide range of Council users and their corresponding methods of access.
Access to data does not constitute understanding of the data. Personnel should take 
caution not to misinterpret information.
Access to data does not necessarily grant the user access rights to modify or disclose 
the data. This will require an education process and a change in the organizational 
culture, which currently supports a belief in "ownership" of data by functional units.

Principle 8:
Data Trustee

Statement:
Each data element has a trustee accountable for data quality.

Rationale:
One of the benefits of an architected environment is the ability to share data (e.g., text, video, 
sound, etc.) across the Council. As the degree of data sharing grows and business units rely 
upon common information, it becomes essential that only the data trustee makes decisions 
about the content of data. Since data can lose its integrity when it is entered multiple times, 

Page 117



ICT STRATEGY 2018-2022 

Appendix B – Principles for ICT Architectural Decisions

the data trustee will have sole responsibility for data entry which eliminates redundant human 
effort and data storage resources. 
Note:
A trustee is different than a steward - a trustee is responsible for accuracy and currency of the 
data, while responsibilities of a steward may be broader and include data standardization and 
definition tasks.

Implications:

Real trusteeship dissolves the data "ownership" issues and allows the data to be 
available to meet all users' needs. This implies that a cultural change from data 
"ownership" to data "trusteeship" may be required.
The data trustee will be responsible for meeting quality requirements levied upon the 
data for which the trustee is accountable.
It is essential that the trustee has the ability to provide user confidence in the data 
based upon attributes such as "data source".
It is essential to identify the true source of the data in order that the data authority can 
be assigned this trustee responsibility. This does not mean that classified sources will 
be revealed nor does it mean the source will be the trustee.
Information should be captured electronically once and immediately validated as 
close to the source as possible. Quality control measures must be implemented to 
ensure the integrity of the data.
As a result of sharing data across the Council, the trustee is accountable and 
responsible for the accuracy and currency of their designated data element(s) and, 
subsequently, must then recognize the importance of this trusteeship responsibility.

Principle 9:
Common Vocabulary and Data Definitions

Statement:
Data is defined consistently throughout the Council, and the definitions are understandable 
and available to all users.

Rationale:
The data that will be used in the development of applications must have a common definition 
throughout the Headquarters to enable sharing of data. A common vocabulary will facilitate 
communications and enable dialogue to be effective. In addition, it is required to interface 
systems and exchange data.

Implications:

The Council must establish the initial common vocabulary for the business. The 
definitions will be used uniformly throughout the Council.
Whenever a new data definition is required, the definition effort will be co-ordinated 
and reconciled with the corporate "glossary" of data descriptions. The Council data 
administrator will provide this co-ordination.
Ambiguities resulting from multiple parochial definitions of data must give way to 
accepted Council-wide definitions and understanding.
Multiple data standardization initiatives need to be co-ordinated.
Functional data administration responsibilities must be assigned.

Principle 10:
Data Security

Statement:
Data is protected from unauthorized use and disclosure. In addition to the traditional aspects 
of national security classification, this includes, but is not limited to, protection of pre-
decisional, sensitive, source selection-sensitive, and proprietary information.

Page 118



ICT STRATEGY 2018-2022 

Appendix B – Principles for ICT Architectural Decisions

Rationale:
Open sharing of information and the release of information via relevant legislation must be 
balanced against the need to restrict the availability of classified, proprietary, and sensitive 
information.   GDPR is key here.

Implications:

Aggregation of data, both classified and not, will create a large target requiring review 
and de-classification procedures to maintain appropriate control. Data owners and/or 
functional users must determine whether the aggregation results in an increased 
classification level. We will need appropriate policy and procedures to handle this 
review and de-classification. Access to information based on a need-to-know policy 
will force regular reviews of the body of information.
The current practice of having separate systems to contain different classifications 
needs to be rethought. Is there a software solution to separating classified and 
unclassified data? The current hardware solution is unwieldy, inefficient, and costly. It 
is more expensive to manage unclassified data on a classified system. Currently, the 
only way to combine the two is to place the unclassified data on the classified system, 
where it must remain.
In order to adequately provide access to open information while maintaining secure 
information, security needs must be identified and developed at the data level, not the 
application level.
Data security safeguards can be put in place to restrict access to "view only", or 
"never see". Sensitivity labeling for access to pre-decisional, decisional, classified, 
sensitive, or proprietary information must be determined.
Security must be designed into data elements from the beginning; it cannot be added 
later. Systems, data, and technologies must be protected from unauthorized access 
and manipulation. Headquarters information must be safeguarded against inadvertent 
or unauthorized alteration, sabotage, disaster, or disclosure.
Need new policies on managing duration of protection for pre-decisional information 
and other works-in-progress, in consideration of content freshness.

Page 119



ICT STRATEGY 2018-2022 

Appendix B – Principles for ICT Architectural Decisions

Application Principles

Principle 11:
Technology Independence

Statement:
Applications are independent of specific technology choices and therefore can operate on a 
variety of technology platforms.

Rationale:
Independence of applications from the underlying technology allows applications to be 
developed, upgraded, and operated in the most cost-effective and timely way. Otherwise 
technology, which is subject to continual obsolescence and vendor dependence, becomes the 
driver rather than the user requirements themselves. 

Realizing that every decision made with respect to IT makes us dependent on that 
technology, the intent of this principle is to ensure that Application Software is not dependent 
on specific hardware and operating systems software.

Implications:

This principle will require standards which support portability.
For Commercial Off-The-Shelf (COTS) and Government Off-The-Shelf (GOTS) 
applications, there may be limited current choices, as many of these applications are 
technology and platform-dependent.
Application Program Interfaces (APIs) will need to be developed to enable legacy 
applications to interoperate with applications and operating environments developed 
under the Council architecture.
Middleware should be used to decouple applications from specific software solutions.
As an example, this principle could lead to use of Java, and future Java-like 
protocols, which give a high degree of priority to platform-independence.

Principle 12:
Ease-of-Use

Statement:
Applications are easy to use. The underlying technology is transparent to users, so they can 
concentrate on tasks at hand.

Rationale:
The more a user has to understand the underlying technology, the less productive that user 
is. Ease-of-use is a positive incentive for use of applications. It encourages users to work 
within the integrated information environment instead of developing isolated systems to 
accomplish the task outside of the Council's integrated information environment. Most of the 
knowledge required to operate one system will be similar to others. Training is kept to a 
minimum, and the risk of using a system improperly is low. 

Using an application should be as intuitive as driving a different car.

Implications:

Applications will be required to have a common "look and feel" and support 
ergonomic requirements. Hence, the common look and feel standard must be 
designed and usability test criteria must be developed.

Page 120



ICT STRATEGY 2018-2022 

Appendix B – Principles for ICT Architectural Decisions

Guidelines for user interfaces should not be constrained by narrow assumptions 
about user location, language, systems training, or physical capability. Factors such 
as linguistics, customer physical infirmities (visual acuity, ability to use 
keyboard/mouse), and proficiency in the use of technology have broad ramifications 
in determining the ease-of-use of an application.

Principle 13:
Best FIT Applications

Statement:
Implementation of common ‘out of the box’ applications, with only minimal user configuration, 
is preferred over the development of custom applications.

Rationale:
Customisation is expensive to develop and prohibitive to maintain and upgrade.  It inhibits 
changes to working practices and stifles new best practice coming into the Council.

Implications:

Services will not be allowed to procure or develop customised applications.  We will 
move to more and more standard packaged applications running either on public 
cloud or our own servers.  In this way, expenditures of scarce resources to develop 
essentially the same capability in marginally different ways will be reduced.  It will 
reduce ongoing costs for maintenance and upgrade and standardise the way the 
Council works in line with best practice.

Page 121



ICT STRATEGY 2018-2022 

Appendix B – Principles for ICT Architectural Decisions

Technology Principles

Principle 13:
Requirements-Based Change

Statement:
Only in response to business needs are changes to applications and technology made.

Rationale:
This principle will foster an atmosphere where the information environment changes in 
response to the needs of the business, rather than having the business change in response to 
IT changes. This is to ensure that the purpose of the information support - the transaction of 
business - is the basis for any proposed change. Unintended effects on business due to IT 
changes will be minimized. A change in technology may provide an opportunity to improve the 
business process and, hence, change business needs.

Implications:

Changes in implementation will follow full examination of the proposed changes using 
the Council architecture.
We don't fund a technical improvement or system development unless a documented 
business need exists.
Change management processes conforming to this principle will be developed and 
implemented.
This principle may bump up against the responsive change principle. We must ensure 
the requirements documentation process does not hinder responsive change to meet 
legitimate business needs. The purpose of this principle is to keep us focused on 
business, not technology needs - responsive change is also a business need.

Principle 14:
Responsive Change Management

Statement:
Changes to the Council information environment are implemented in a timely manner.

Rationale:
If people are to be expected to work within the Council information environment, that 
information environment must be responsive to their needs.

Implications:

We have to develop processes for managing and implementing change that do not 
create delays.
A user who feels a need for change will need to connect with a "business expert" to 
facilitate explanation and implementation of that need.
If we are going to make changes, we must keep the architectures updated.
Adopting this principle might require additional resources.
This will conflict with other principles (e.g., maximum Council-wide benefit, Council-
wide applications, etc.).

Principle 15:
Control Technical Diversity

Statement:
Technological diversity is controlled to minimize the non-trivial cost of maintaining expertise in 
and connectivity between multiple processing environments.

Rationale:

Page 122



ICT STRATEGY 2018-2022 

Appendix B – Principles for ICT Architectural Decisions

There is a real, non-trivial cost of infrastructure required to support alternative technologies for 
processing environments. There are further infrastructure costs incurred to keep multiple 
processor constructs interconnected and maintained. 

Limiting the number of supported components will simplify maintainability and reduce costs.

The business advantages of minimum technical diversity include: standard packaging of 
components; predictable implementation impact; predictable valuations and returns; redefined 
testing; utility status; and increased flexibility to accommodate technological advancements. 
Common technology across the Council brings the benefits of economies of scale to the 
Council. Technical administration and support costs are better controlled when limited 
resources can focus on this shared set of technology.

Implications:

Policies, standards, and procedures that govern acquisition of technology must be 
tied directly to this principle.
Technology choices will be constrained by the choices available within the technology 
blueprint. Procedures for augmenting the acceptable technology set to meet evolving 
requirements will have to be developed and emplaced.
We are not freezing our technology baseline. We welcome technology advances and 
will change the technology blueprint when compatibility with the current infrastructure, 
improvement in operational efficiency, or a required capability has been 
demonstrated.

Principle 16:
Interoperability

Statement:
Software and hardware should conform to defined standards that promote interoperability for 
data, applications, and technology.

Rationale:
Standards help ensure consistency, thus improving the ability to manage systems and 
improve user satisfaction, and protect existing IT investments, thus maximizing return on 
investment and reducing costs. Standards for interoperability additionally help ensure support 
from multiple vendors for their products, and facilitate supply chain integration.

Implications:

Interoperability standards and industry standards will be followed unless there is a 
compelling business reason to implement a non-standard solution.
A process for setting standards, reviewing and revising them periodically, and 
granting exceptions must be established.
The existing IT platforms must be identified and documented.

Page 123



This page is intentionally left blank



CABINET - 4 JULY 2018 PORTFOLIO: FINANCE, CORPORATE 
AFFAIRS AND IMPROVEMENT

PROCUREMENT STRATEGY 2018-22

1. PURPOSE OF REPORT 

1.1 To agree the Council’s Procurement Strategy for 2018-22

2. BACKGROUND

2.1 The previous Procurement Strategy has become outdated with the change to a centre 
led procurement model within the Council and the recent changes to Contract 
Standing Orders.

2.2 The aim of the new Procurement Strategy is to support the delivery of value for money 
through planned and responsive procurement that contributes to achieving the 
Council’s Corporate Plan and meets the needs of our customers and local businesses.

2.3 The strategy sets out the major priorities, objectives and improvement goals for 
Procurement across the Council whilst ensuring compliance with the Public Contracts 
Regulations.  

3. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

3.1 None directly from the policy.

4. CRIME & DISORDER IMPLICATIONS

4.1 None.

5. ENVIRONMENTAL IMPLICATIONS

5.1 None directly from the policy.

6. PORTFOLIO HOLDER COMMENTS 

6.1 I support the Strategy which ensures best practice and value for money on supplies 
and services.  I am particularly pleased that we look to encourage local businesses of 
all sizes to put themselves forward as suppliers to the Council.

7 CORPORATE OVERVIEW AND SCRTINY PANEL COMMENTS

7.1 The Panel welcomed the new Strategy document and supported its adoption.

Page 125

Agenda Item 12



8. RECOMMENDATIONS

8.1 i)  That the Procurement Strategy 2018-22, as attached as Appendix 1 to this report, 
be approved.

ii) That the Service Manager (Legal) in consultation with the Executive Head of 
Governance and Regulation be delegated authority to make minor amendments to 
the Procurement Strategy 2018-22.

For further information contact:

Andrew Kinghorn
Service Manager Legal 
023 8028 5588
Andrew.kinghorn@nfdc.gov.uk

Gary Jarvis
Strategic Procurement Manager
023 8028 5588
Gary.Jarvis@nfdc.gov.uk

Background Papers:

Attached

Page 126

mailto:Andrew.kinghorn@nfdc.gov.uk
mailto:Gary.Jarvis@nfdc.gov.uk


Procurement Strategy
2018 – 22
New Forest District is a unique and special place, to live, work, visit and enjoy

Our Procurement Strategy aims to:

To explore and realise the Quality, Service and Value for Money offering from our 
suppliers to support and improve the Councils service provision to our residents 
and businesses by:

 Challenging the “as is” through creativity and innovation
 Encouraging local & regional businesses to bid for opportunities
 Ensuring fairness and clarity in the sourcing of suppliers
 Make it easy for businesses to interact with the Council 
 Operate within the legal framework set by UK Government

Our Procurement Guiding Principles are:

Our Procurement Values:

We will be ambitious, innovative and customer focused in how we improve the 
outcomes of our procurement projects to support the delivery of services to our 
community. We will be financially responsible with the public funds made available 
to us to procure works, goods and services. We will be collaborative in our 
working, and work with others to represent the best interests of our unique and special 
place. We will be open  and transparent in our approach and with our plans to deliver 
our aims and priorities.

You can find out more about our Procurement process at; 
http://www.newforest.gov.uk/article/5654/Tenders-and-Contracts

FAIRNESSCOMPLIANCEVALUE  ENVIRONMENT

APPENDIX 1

Page 127

http://www.newforest.gov.uk/article/5654/Tenders-and-Contracts


Procurement Strategy 2018-22 v1.00 Page 2 of 17

1. The Council’s Corporate Plan for Procurement:

We will be ambitious, innovative and customer focused in how we improve the outcomes of our 
procurement projects to support the delivery of services to our community. We will be financially 
responsible with the public funds made available to us to procure works, goods and services. We 
will be collaborative in our working, and work with others to represent the best interests of our 
unique and special place. We will be open and transparent in our approach and with our plans to 
deliver our aims and priorities.

New Forest District is a unique and special place, to live, work, visit and enjoy

Procurement should be seen in the context of the Council’s overall vision, priorities and objectives 
as set out in our Corporate Plan http://www.newforest.gov.uk/corporateplan

What is Procurement?

Procurement is about making effective commercial choices in the process of acquiring works, goods 
and services from suppliers within a pre-agreed financial budget.  The process starts from the 
identification of need, through to the end of a service provision or the end of a product’s useful life.  

The Procurement Process is made up of 2 distinct elements:

1) Sourcing Supply to establish approved suppliers via a competitive quotation or tender depending 
on the contract value

2) Purchase to Pay process covering the ordering, receipt, invoice processing and payment for 
works, goods and services 

Budget Specify Advertise Tender Award

1. Sourcing Supply
(Tendering)

2. Purchase to Pay
(Ordering)

The Procurement Process

Supplier  
Mgt

Issue
Order

Confirm 
Receipt

Invoice

Pay

P2P

New Forest District Council Procurement Aims

To support the delivery of good value for money through planned and responsive procurement that 
contributes to achieving the Council’s corporate plan and meets the needs of our customers and 
local businesses.

Page 128

http://www.newforest.gov.uk/corporateplan


Procurement Strategy 2018-22 v1.00 Page 3 of 17

2. Why do we need a Procurement Strategy?
 To set out the Corporate direction of travel for Procurement: 

The Procurement Strategy sets out the major priorities, objectives and improvement goals for 
Procurement across the Council whilst ensuring compliance with the Public Contracts 
Regulations (PCR2015) set by the UK Government and the European Union.  

 To support the delivery of the Council’s Corporate Plan: 
The Procurement Process has a direct impact on the achievement of the Council’s goals in 
relation to delivering value for money, improving sustainability and acting transparently. 

Procurement is a key component of the Corporate Plan, where our procurement goals 
include;

o identifying new and innovative methods of procuring services
o producing more flexible contracts
o smarter buying

 To maximise effectiveness of our spending power: 
The effectiveness of our Procurement decisions has a direct impact on;

o New Forest District Council’s budget and Council Tax levels 
o The quality and cost of services to the people of the District
o Corporate and service objectives

 Spend analysis for FY 2017-18 showed that;
New Forest District Council spends around £24 million a year buying works, goods and 
services from 760 suppliers to support the services to New Forest District residents, 
businesses and stakeholders.

o Pareto Analysis shows that 12% of Suppliers accounted for 80% of spend p.a.
o 65% of suppliers used represented just 5% of our spend p.a.
o Spend under £500 has halved from £67k (316 suppliers) in FY16-17 to £31k (128 

suppliers) in FY17-18. This shows the success of implementation of Government 
Procurement (GPC) cards for low value one-off spend.

Sp
en

d 
Va

lu
e 

£ 
(P

er
 s

up
pl

ie
r)

No Suppliers (used p.a)

A B C

76026388

£0

£2.0M

£18.6M
(Top 88)

£3.5M
(175 suppliers)

£1.2M
(497 suppliers)

C1

632

£9k

£44k

£31k total
(128 suppliers)

<£500

Spend Analysis 
FY2017-18 

Spend:  £24M 
760 suppliers

15%
23%

80%
12%

5%
65%

% of Spend >>
% of Supplier base >>

Page 129



Procurement Strategy 2018-22 v1.00 Page 4 of 17

 We will consider different approaches for each Pareto ABC spend grouping;

Leverage
Lowest Cost

Transactional
Minimise Effort

Strategic
Collaboration

Commercial
Ensure Supply

High

High

Low Spend Value

B
us

in
es

s 
 R

is
k

Procurement Portfolio High value 
items / projects

Service & 
Maintenance 

Contracts A

B

C

A Class
• Procurement focus
• Contract Mgt
• Tenders > £50k+
• Collaborate

B Class
• Devolve to Service
• Use Frameworks
• eRFQ < £50k
• Purchase Order

C Class
• Devolve to Service
• E-Catalogues (EGPC)
• Local price challenge
• GPC Mastercard

Non-Critical 
items

Competitive 
market / 

collaboration

 Spend analysis by Post Code FY 2017-18 showed that 45% of our £ spend is made with Local 
and Regional suppliers

24%

21%

55%
Local
Regional
National

Procurement Spend by Post Code FY 2017-18 = £24M

Breakdown of Total Spend FY2017-18 = £24M
Local (New Forest Postcodes) = 25% (by Supplier #) and 24% (by £ Spend %)
Regional (Hampshire / Dorset Postcodes) = 18% (by Supplier #) and 21% (by £ Spend %)
National (All others) = 57% (by Supplier #) and 55% (by £ Spend %)

Page 130



Procurement Strategy 2018-22 v1.00 Page 5 of 17

 Spend Breakdown by Procurement Category FY2017-18

Spend Description Spend FY2017-18 %

Works - Construction, Repair & Maintenance £8,262,373.30 35.2%

Facilities & Management Services £2,655,600.65 11.3%

Information Communication Technology £2,302,992.62 9.8%

Utilities £2,088,333.31 8.9%

Building Construction Materials £2,050,604.20 8.7%

Vehicle Management £1,656,224.24 7.0%

Human Resources £967,221.11 4.1%

Arts & Leisure Services £774,453.83 3.3%

Operations £702,645.84 3.0%

Grounds Maintenance £428,624.56 1.8%

Environmental Services £417,155.82 1.8%

Streetscene £362,944.31 1.5%

Housing £321,972.02 1.4%

Consultancy £263,509.80 1.1%

Financial Services £245,344.39 1.0%

£23,500,000.00

 Spend Analysis to inform the Procurement Pipeline
We will use Spend Analysis techniques to inform us of future Procurement Pipeline projects to 
ensure we improve our contract management activity. The pipeline will allow us to interact 
with the supply market earlier to understand the latest offerings and enhance the planning of 
our opportunities and tendering programmes. 

• Sets out plan for contract renewals
• Based on historic spend
• Allows us to innovate new approach
• Sets out new projects
• Allows us to plan better 

-1yr-2yr-3yr-4yr +2yr+1yr +3yr +4yr

• Informs us what we have spent
• Who is main buyer (by SM)
• Contract type
• Expiry date indicator
• SME/ Local marker

Spend Analysis Procurement Pipeline

Today

Page 131



Procurement Strategy 2018-22 v1.00 Page 6 of 17

3. Procurement Guiding Principles

The guiding principles below form the key elements of the Council’s Procurement Strategy.

Value 

•  Competition
•  Collaboration
•  Innovation
•  Flexibility

Compliance

•  EU/UK  law
•  Probity
•  Accountability

Environment

•  Sustainability
•  Technology
•  Targeted approach

Fairness

•  Local economy
•  Transparency
•  Equality & Diversity

The following sections of the Strategy explain the objectives of each of the above procurement 
principles, the improvement goals the Council will promote within each area and an action plan 
timescale. 

The Guiding Principles set out in this strategy apply to a) the AS IS business as usual Procurement to 
support day to day council services and b) the TO BE future state as set out in the improvement 
goals. 

Definition: Objective, Improvement Goals and Action Plan

The Objectives are the main improvement “themes” within each of the 4 Guiding Principles.

The Improvement Goals are the specific elements of the action plan to deliver the objectives.

The Action Plan is the timeline by which we plan to deliver the improvement goals of the strategy.

Page 132



Procurement Strategy 2018-22 v1.00 Page 7 of 17

3.1 Value
In order to achieve the best value for money and to encourage competition from the relevant 
supply markets, Officers working closely with the Procurement Team use the Council’s e-business 
portal to advertise procurement opportunities. https://www.businessportal.southeastiep.gov.uk

The Council encourages collaboration both within the Council and with other regional local 
authorities to stimulate innovation from our suppliers.  This helps improve customer service levels, 
delivers better value and enhances quality.

When inviting quotations or tenders from potential suppliers our primary focus is on the outcome 
or end result required.  This encourages flexibility in the approach taken by suppliers to achieve our 
goals.

Value Objectives Improvement Goals Action Plan

Competition: Spend Analysis: Continue to improve our records of 
supplier's master file to record supplier size, locality, spend 
category, contract type (National, Regional, Local) and report 
savings achieved through the procurement sourcing process.  
Use pareto ABC modelling to tailor the procurement 
approach to best suit the needs of the Councils customers 
through our supply chain.

Procurement Pipeline: Improve communication of planned 
procurement by maintaining a plan of forthcoming tenders / 
contract opportunities (the Procurement Pipeline).  To cover 
both cross-service corporate wide spend and planned 
specialist service based contracts.  To be publicly available by 
industry sector via the Council's website.

e-Business: Maximise use of e-tendering and simplify 
communication between the Council and Suppliers whilst 
maintaining fully auditable processes.

In Place

Apr19

In Place

Collaboration: Organisation: Utilise the centre led procurement 
organisation to coordinate a consistent and corporate-wide 
approach to procurement.

Work Together: Both in-house and regionally with town & 
parish councils and other local authorities to identify 
collaborative opportunities.

Establish Local & Regional Frameworks: The Council will 
further develop a range of Framework Agreements with local 
and regional suppliers to provide a reactive and consistent 
commercial structure for lowest cost whilst minimising 
contractual commitments.  These frameworks will support 
Service teams to deliver quality, timely and cost effective 
responses to our customers. Emphasis over the strategy 
period will be to set up frameworks for building materials, 
building & facilities management contractor services and 
building / estates professional services.

Dec18

Apr20

Dec18 to 
Apr20

Page 133

https://www.businessportal.southeastiep.gov.uk/


Procurement Strategy 2018-22 v1.00 Page 8 of 17

Innovation:
Procurement and 
Service Teams to 
explore with 
suppliers how 
innovative 
approaches could 
save the Council 
money and improve 
services.

Stimulate Local Economy: Offer local business an open 
invitation to innovate. The Council is keen to encourage local 
entrepreneurs to bring forward ideas to reduce running costs 
or improve service quality.

Ideas Forum: Widen our business-to-business 
communication, by encouraging SMEs to “Pitch Your Product 
or Service” online.   Submissions will be considered in future 
buying decisions, by publishing via an internal marketplace.

Apr19

Apr19

Flexibility: Build in Change Management: Set up flexible contracts to 
drive continuous improvements in cost, quality and service 
outcomes throughout the contract life.

Ongoing

Page 134



Procurement Strategy 2018-22 v1.00 Page 9 of 17

3.2 Compliance
The Council complies with UK / EU Law under Public Contracts Regulations. This sets out the rules 
which central and local government must follow with their procurement procedures.  The 
legislation applies to contracts for supplies, services and works based on contract values (see table 
below).  The legislation sets out competition rules, threshold levels for advertising of opportunities, 
tendering and contract award procedures as well as prompt payment through the supply chain.

To ensure probity is maintained in the procurement process, the Council is required to establish 
and maintain Contract Standing Orders (CSOs).  These rules are written in a way that allows local 
suppliers to apply for contract opportunities via the Council’s business portal either singly or as part 
of an SME consortium.  Higher value contracts are fully advertised to ensure full competition in line 
with UK / EU procurement regulations. 

The Council's service managers whose teams are engaged in the procurement process maintain full   
Accountability for compliance to the Councils CSOs issued and approved by the Executive 
Management Team and Cabinet.

Compliance 
Objectives

Improvement Goals Action Plan

Public Contracts 
Regulations 
(PCR2015): 
Procure within the 
current UK / EU 
Procurement law.

Knowledge: Procurement in conjunction with the Legal team, 
to develop and communicate clear guidance to the 
organisation explaining UK / EU Procurement law (and any 
changes made from time to time).

Compliance: Ensure all Procurement projects are completed 
in line with the regulations set by UK Government and where 
above EU threshold values use one of the five defined 
procedures (Open; Restricted; Competitive Dialogue; 
Competitive with Negotiation and Innovation Partnership).

Payment On Time in Full: Ensure that suppliers are paid to 
the Council’s terms and that main Suppliers are contracted to 
pay their sub-contractors to the same timeline (back-to-
back).  The Council has signed up to the BIS Prompt Payment 
Code: See link here>>

http://www.newforest.gov.uk/article/9517/Payment-of-
Suppliers

In Place 

Monitor

In Place

Probity: 
Keep within the Legal 
framework defined 
by UK Government 
and EU regulations.

Thresholds: Clearly communicate in Corporate Contract 
Standing Orders (CSOs) and user friendly guides the process 
to follow based on contract value. The Council has set a local 
threshold of £50,000 for all contracts to be transparently and 
openly advertised. Contracts below this value will be subject 
to competitive quotations from local & regional suppliers to 
encourage small and medium sector business growth. 

NFDC Local Thresholds – based on contract value
Best Value Price check: up to £15,000

Apr18

Page 135

http://www.newforest.gov.uk/article/9517/Payment-of-Suppliers
http://www.newforest.gov.uk/article/9517/Payment-of-Suppliers


Procurement Strategy 2018-22 v1.00 Page 10 of 17

Restricted Quotation: £15,000 to £50,000k
Openly Advertised in UK: £50,000 to EU Threshold

EU Thresholds (Jan2018-20) – based on contract value

Openly Advertised in UK/EU: above £181,802 (Goods & 
Services) 
Openly Advertised in UK/EU: above £4,551,413 (Works)

Accountability: Comply with Contract Standing Orders (CSO’s): Ensure ALL 
staff (and consultants, members, etc.) operate within the 
guidelines set out in the Councils CSO’s. 

Manage Risk (Public Funds): Use appropriate independent 
checks on suppliers based on value and risk to safeguard 
public finances.

To our Customers: Ensure Suppliers are aware of (and 
commit to deliver) the Council’s obligations under health and 
safety, equality, safeguarding children and vulnerable adults 
and environmental sustainability, modern day slavery act, 
data protection.

For Service Specific Spend: Service Managers to lead with 
Procurement support.  Collaboration opportunities (internally 
and with other councils / organisations) to be tested 
wherever possible to establish benefit potential.

For Corporate Wide Spend: Procurement to lead sourcing 
projects that effect many Council services with support of key 
users (by Service) to maximise the Council’s commercial 
impact (test collaboration with other councils or like-minded 
public sector organisations).

In Place

In Place

In Place

Apr18 – 
Mar22

Apr18 -
Mar22

Page 136



Procurement Strategy 2018-22 v1.00 Page 11 of 17

3.3 Environment
The Council recognises it has a vital role in sustainable development, through its procurement of 
goods, works and services.  Procurement decisions have a major socio-economic and environmental 
impact, both locally and globally, now and for future generations.

The Council will strive to educate and train internal purchasers to consider Sustainability in their 
procurement projects.  The supply market will be encouraged to bring forward new or emerging 
Technology that has a proven positive impact upon the environment.

A Targeted Approach will be used to determine and target categories of works, goods and services 
that have an impact upon the environment.  This will help ensure positive outcomes can be 
delivered through the procurement process (e.g. score impact upon the following: energy 
conservation, emissions to air, discharges to water, waste and social environment).

Environment 
Objectives Improvement Goals Action Plan

Sustainability:

Ensure procurement 
supports innovation 
that will reduce 
environmental 
impact to Air, Water 
and Land.

Sustainable Procurement means that the Council meets the 
needs of the community for works, goods, services in a way 
that achieves value for money on a whole life basis in terms 
of generating benefits not only to the Council, but also to 
society and the economy, whilst minimising damage to the 
environment.

Identify Opportunities: Investigate opportunities across the 
supply chain for energy consumption reduction, emission 
output reduction, recycling, reduced usage, bulk delivery and 
better packaging.

Evaluation of Suppliers: Ensure that where appropriate and 
allowable, Sustainability Criteria are part of the supplier 
evaluation process and are used in the award of contracts.

Ongoing

Ongoing

Apr19

Technology:

Use our Procurement 
projects to explore, 
encourage and 
realise innovative 
ideas.

Specification: Wherever possible and practicable, specify a 
requirement in line with known European / UK 
environmental standards or allow suppliers to submit offers 
for environmentally friendly alternatives.

Enable: Encourage the supply market to bring forward 
new/emerging design technology that has a positive and 
measurable impact upon the environment.

Ongoing

Ongoing

Targeted 
Approach:

Use a simple scoring 
method to grade and 
prioritise projects 
that improve our 
environment. 

Impact Analysis: Carry out pre-procurement soft market 
testing to consider the costs and benefits of environmentally 
preferable materials, systems or services.

Partnership: work with other South East Region councils and 
agencies to maximise sustainable procurement gains.

Sustainability considerations:
•  Reduction of consumption where possible (Do we need it?)

Ongoing

Ongoing

Monitor

Page 137



Procurement Strategy 2018-22 v1.00 Page 12 of 17

•  Costs/benefits evaluated
•  Green options sought
•  Green design and supplier selection where available
•  Green deliveries and collections
•  Operational impact assessment
•  Green delivery of operational services
•  Reduction of packaging
•  End of Life Recycling/reuse/disposal of materials

Consider Impacts on the Environment

Page 138



Procurement Strategy 2018-22 v1.00 Page 13 of 17

3.4 Fairness 
The Council is committed to promote fairness to all suppliers, stimulate local employment 
opportunities and encourage the Local Economy to bring forward ideas that could help the Council 
save money and deliver better services.

As a major purchaser of goods, services and works in the region the Council recognises the 
importance of Transparency in the communication of forthcoming tender / contract opportunities 
to promote local employment and the economy.  The Council works with agencies such as the 
Federation for Small Businesses (FSB) and Chamber of Commerce to help SMEs decide if public 
sector contracts are right for them, if they are ready to tender and how they can submit the best 
possible proposals.

The Council recognises the opportunity procurement provides to influence the Equality and 
Diversity agenda.  We are committed to ensuring that our major suppliers and contractors share 
our equality and diversity vision and values, and work to implement these.  It is the responsibility of 
staff involved in procurement activities to ensure that equality is embedded in contracts and service 
provision.

Fairness Objectives Improvement Goals Action Plan

Local Economy:

Engage with local 
economy small to 
medium sized 
businesses (SMEs), 
representative bodies 
(FSB/CoC) and 
Voluntary and 
Community Sector 
(VCS) Compact.

Engagement: NFDC’s Economic Development team and the 
Procurement team will work with local businesses and 
agencies such as the FSB and Chamber of Commerce to assist 
their understanding of how to obtain alerts and apply for 
Council contract opportunities. E.g. via Meet the buyer 
events, forums, training events, targeted information, etc.

The Public Services (Social Value) Act (2012): 
UK legislation supports the delivery of equality outcomes 
through procurement.  Public authorities have to actively 
consider how a service being procured might improve the 
economic, social and environmental wellbeing of the relevant 
area; and how a public authority might secure that 
improvement through procurement. 

e.g. Consideration will be taken at the pre-procurement stage 
via consultations to assess the opportunity for community 
stakeholders, voluntary and community sector organisations 
and other interested parties to shape (or provide) the service. 

Dec18

Ongoing

Transparency:

Ensure the wider 
supplier base is 
aware of the 
Council’s 
opportunities and 
how we 
communicate 

Communication via the Procurement Pipeline: Use clear 
communication channels to promote forthcoming contract 
opportunities to allow local SMEs or SME consortia to 
compete.

Opportunity Notices: Advertise all contract opportunities in 
excess of £50,000 electronically via the South East Business 
Portal (SEBP) so that suitably qualified suppliers can register 

Apr19

In place

Page 139



Procurement Strategy 2018-22 v1.00 Page 14 of 17

upcoming contracts.

Encourage ideas 
from suppliers that 
could help the 
Council.

their interest online.

Advance Notice: Produce an online “Heads Up” list of lower 
value (below £50,000) opportunities which are specifically 
suited to SME or local suppliers.

Extend e-tenders: Extend the use of e-tendering to lower 
value opportunities to encourage online through a restricted 
e-Quotation process where local and regional SMEs are 
targeted via a soft market testing exercise. Saving suppliers 
time and paper through use of e-Quotation and the Council 
can support the local economy.

Apr19

Apr20

Equality & 
Diversity:

The Equality Act 
2010 has laid out 
specific procurement 
criteria to be 
included in contracts 
and achieved 
through the 
procurement 
process.

Legislation: The Equality Act 2010: sets out anti-
discrimination law and the requirements of the Public Sector 
Equality Duty (PSED).  Compliance with the PSED ensures that 
Council procurement is fit for purpose and meets the needs 
of our customers.

The Modern Slavery Act 2015 requires complete 
transparency in the sourcing of goods and services to ensure 
slavery, human trafficking and forced or compulsory labour 
does not occur at any point of the supply chain. 

The Council’s Equality and Diversity Objectives can be seen 
on our website;

http://www.newforest.gov.uk/equalities

Influence: Promote a positive approach to equality and 
diversity. In our procurement processes, we will make sure 
that we give our suppliers advice on equality issues and 
ensure that contracts reflect the outcomes required.

Obtain Commitment: The Council expects its partners and 
suppliers to share its commitment to equal opportunities.  
Procurement can promote equality of opportunity and 
service delivery in those organisations that supply the 
Council or its residents.

Increasing supplier diversity: Meet with potential new 
contractors and identify barriers to entry for smaller 
businesses by finding out why they do not respond to 
advertisements or invitations to tender.

In place

In Place

Ongoing

Ongoing

Ongoing

Page 140

http://www.newforest.gov.uk/equalities


Procurement Strategy 2018-22 v1.00 Page 15 of 17

4 Procurement Organisation

4.1 Governance and Responsibility for Procurement

The Council’s Cabinet is responsible for setting the overall Procurement Strategy. The 
Executive Management Team (EMT) is responsible for implementing the Council's 
Procurement Strategy.  The Procurement Team provide policy and process direction to 
Service Managers (and their nominated Contract Administrators) for procurement projects.

The Councils Cabinet and Executive Management Team has approved the adoption of a 
centre led Procurement network that retains the benefits of a devolved structure whilst 
adding the direction and control required from centre.  This ensures the Council:

 Complies with Public Sector Procurement legislation

 Achieves its corporate plan objectives

 Maintains effective supplier relationship management

4.2 Centre Led Procurement Network

The Council's centre-led approach to procurement, where the Service Manager (budget 
holder) and Strategic Procurement Team work together, combines technical and commercial 
skills while ensuring that all procurement rules are followed and good practice is 
established.

The approach covers the design, management and delivery in procuring; a) service specific 
contracts, b) corporate wide contracts and c) regional collaborative contracts.

The centre led procurement network model encourages:

 Innovation in procurement covering the following scenarios:

o Doing procurement in an innovative way e.g. improving the process or tools used 
to help buyers and suppliers.

o Enabling suppliers to offer innovative bids for what we are buying e.g. allow 
suppliers to offer new solutions.

Compliance

Day -to-Day 
Delivery

Deliver 
Policy

Implement 
Policy

Approve 
Policy Cabinet

EMT

Service 
Managers

Sourcing 
Officers

Purchase 
Coordinator

Finance

Accounts 
Payable

Audit

Policy & 
Process 

Direction

Procurement 

Page 141



Procurement Strategy 2018-22 v1.00 Page 16 of 17

o Encouraging innovation that may lie outside what we normally buy, e.g. products 
or services that can bring wider economic and service benefits for the District.

 Collaboration between Technical (Service Teams) and Commercial (Procurement, 
Finance and Legal) in-house teams and with other partners (local government, voluntary 
sector organisations etc.) to influence the supply market.

 Consolidation of spend wherever possible to maximise competitive opportunity.

 Decision making at operational level (by Service teams) whilst maintaining corporate 
process and legal compliance.

4.3 Partnerships in Procurement

Suppliers are essential to the Council's customer service delivery objectives.  The Council 
aims to ensure that local suppliers are embraced and that their knowledge and service 
capabilities are utilised to improve services for the local community.

The Council also encourages an active two-way relationship with suppliers to continually 
improve its procurement approach.  Suppliers and prospective suppliers to the Council are 
encouraged to support procurement developments by using online quotations / tenders as 
well as proactively proposing innovative ideas that could improve cost, quality and service.

E-tendering is fully operational and hosted via the South East Business Portal 
https://www.businessportal.southeastiep.gov.uk for all contracts in excess of £25,000 for 
restricted e-quotations (and selected lower value projects) and £50,000 for open e-tenders. 

Economic Development of our region through the continued strong working links with 
representative bodies such as the Federation of Small Businesses and the regional Chamber 
of Commerce will enable engagement with suppliers to ensure a sustainable future in New 
Forest.

Inter Council Collaboration - The Council seeks to play a strong role in regional procurement 
collaboration in the Hampshire and Dorset regions as well as working with other like-minded 
Councils and Government Agencies to jointly procure contracts of mutual benefit, through 
shared resources and know-how.  Historically, collaboration at regional level has given rise 
to a wide range of procurement projects (e.g. Insurance, Cash Collection, Tree Maintenance, 
Facility Management, etc.) and delivered savings of £5m+ across since 2009. 

4.4 Skills Development & Best Practice
Procurement will provide support and guidance to Officers through a set of common 
processes and tools that encourage skills development and knowledge transfer in order to 
deliver procurement projects for which they are accountable.  As there is no ‘one-way’ for 
any project the need for prior planning and early engagement is essential to deliver best 
practice outcomes.

Procurement will develop and monitor methods to ensure efficient and effective Corporate 
Procure to Payment (P2P) processes that are understood and enacted across the Council.

Page 142

https://www.businessportal.southeastiep.gov.uk/


Procurement Strategy 2018-22 v1.00 Page 17 of 17

5 General Information

5.1 Glossary of Contract Types

 Works Contracts - These contracts relate to construction, demolition, building and civil 
engineering work and completion work such as joinery, plastering and decoration. It 
includes major repairs or complete refurbishment.  For example: building a new 
affordable housing scheme, refurbishing a leisure centre, resurfacing a car park, 
repairing a building roof, installing a heating system.

 Goods Contracts - These contracts relate to the purchase, hire, siting or installation of 
goods (sometimes referred to as Supplies), but not their maintenance. For example: 
equipment, clothing, vehicles and spare parts, office stationery, consumables, gas and 
electricity.

 Services Contracts - These contracts relate to the provision by a person or other entity 
to provide services.  For example: consultancy agreements, provision of maintenance 
services, provision of professional services (e.g. legal / insurance) and provision of 
cleaning services.

END

Page 143



This page is intentionally left blank



CABINET – 4 JULY 2018 PORTFOLIO:  ENVIRONMENT AND 
REGULATORY AFFAIRS

CONTAMINATED LAND STRATEGY 2018

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1 The New Forest District Council Contaminated Land Strategy 2018 replaces the    
Council’s previous Contaminated Land Strategy (November 2001) to reflect changes 
in statutory and technical guidance.

1.2 The Strategy sets out how New Forest District Council will implement the 
contaminated land regime as required by Part IIA of the Environmental Protection Act 
1990 and in accordance with statutory guidance

1.3 The Strategy relates to New Forest District Council and land administered by the 
New Forest National Park Authority.

2. BACKGROUND 

2.1 Contaminated land is an important public health issue. When considering the
potential for land contamination, the Government has adopted a risk assessment 
approach on a site by site basis. This is to ensure land is suitable for its current or 
proposed new use, and any required land remediation is proportionate. That said, the 
starting point is to assume land is not contaminated unless there is substantive 
evidence to the contrary. 

2.2 Local Authorities take the primary role under Part IIA of the Environmental Protection 
Act 1990 and are required to publish a Strategy explaining how they will deal with 
contaminated land. They also have a duty to inspect their area to identify 
contaminated land. 

2.3 The Contaminated Land Strategy 2018 details the concepts and principles of the 
contaminated land regime, how New Forest District Council will address 
contaminated land, it summarises the work completed to date and any future planned 
work.

2.4 Following publication of the Contaminated Land Strategy in 2001, New Forest District 
Council has undertaken considerable work to identify and prioritise potentially 
contaminated land sites throughout the district. This has enabled the Council to make 
informed decisions in taking further action under the legislation, the redevelopment of 
land and responding to requests for information from the public and business.

3. KEY OUTCOMES

3.1 The Contaminated Land Strategy 2018 advises that a number of potentially 
contaminated sites have been identified and prioritised within the New Forest district 
since 2001.

3.2 The aim of the Strategy is to state how the Council will use a strategic risk based 
approach to remove unacceptable risks associated with contaminated land. 

Page 145

Agenda Item 13



3.3 The key strategy messages are:

 The Council will encourage voluntary action, where appropriate, prior to 
enforcement action to deal with identified land contamination;

 The Council will agree, where appropriate, realistic timescales to action work with 
all relevant stakeholders;

 The contaminated land regime will be used as a last resort when no other 
regimes are available to deal with the identified land contamination; and

 The majority of contaminated land sites will be dealt with under the planning and 
building control regimes during redevelopment. 

3.4 A task and finish group met on 8 May 2018 to review the draft strategy. Members 
received a brief presentation and raised questions and comments. Minor 
amendments to the strategy were agreed and have since been implemented. 

4. CONCLUSIONS 

4.1 The Contaminated Land Strategy 2018 has been updated to replace the previous 
Strategy (2001) and has been reviewed and revised following scrutiny by a task and 
finish group attended by Members. 

5.  FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

5.1 There are no direct financial implications from adopting this strategy. Potentially 
contaminated land will be investigated in line with the strategy and any financial or 
legal implications will be raised on a case by case basis at the appropriate time. 

6. CRIME & DISORDER IMPLICATIONS 

6.1 There are none.

7. ENVIRONMENTAL IMPLICATIONS 

7.1 Any implications are addressed in the strategy. 

8. EQUALITY & DIVERSITY IMPLICATIONS 

8.1 There are none.

9. COMMENTS OF THE ENVIRONMENT OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY PANEL

9.1 The Panel supported the revised Strategy document and commended it to the 
Portfolio Holder for adoption.

Page 146



10. PORTFOLIO HOLDER’S COMMENTS

10.1 Protecting our unique environment from harm is of fundamental importance, which is 
why I am pleased to support our new Contaminated Land Strategy. I would like to 
thank to our officers and the task and finish group, Cllr David Harrison Cllr Roxy 
Matcham and Cllr Goff Beck.

11.0 RECOMMENDATION 

11.1 That the Contaminated Land Strategy 2018, as attached as Appendix 1 to this report, 
be supported and commended to the Council for adoption. 

For further information contact:  Background papers:

Rachel Higgins Attached
Environmental Protection Team Manager
Rachel.higgins@nfdc.gov.uk 

Joanne McClay
Service Manager – Environmental and Regulation
Joanne.mcclay@nfdc.gov.uk 

Page 147

mailto:Rachel.higgins@nfdc.gov.uk
mailto:Joanne.mcclay@nfdc.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 May 2018

 Contaminated Land 
Strategy

APPENDIX 1

Page 149



Page 150



Contaminated Land Strategy • May 2018� 3

Executive summary

The Contaminated Land Strategy 2018 sets out how New Forest District Council 
will implement the contaminated land regime as required by Part IIA of the 
Environmental Protection Act 1990 and in accordance with the revised statutory 
guidance (DEFRA, 2012). This strategy relates to New Forest District Council and 
incorporates land administered by the New Forest National Park Authority.

In developing this strategy, the New Forest District Council aims to secure a better 
future for the New Forest in line with the Corporate Plan by;

i.	 supporting local businesses to prosper for the benefit of the community

ii.	 assisting the well-being of those people who live and work within the district; and

iii.	 protecting the special and unique character of the New Forest

Contaminated land is an important public health issue which warrants serious 
attention. When considering the potential for land contamination the Government 
has adopted a risk assessment approach on a site by site basis to ensure land is 
suitable for its current or proposed new use, and any required land remediation is 
proportionate. That said the starting point is to assume land is not contaminated 
unless there is substantive evidence to the contrary. 

Local Authorities take the primary role under Part IIA of the Environmental Protection 
Act. In this context, New Forest District Council is required to publish a Strategy 
detailing how it will deal with contaminated land and has a duty to cause its area to be 
inspected for the purpose of identifying contaminated land. 

New Forest District Council published its first Contaminated Land Strategy in 2001 and 
the subsequent work undertaken by the Council has been considerable. An extensive 
database has been developed which prioritises potentially contaminated land sites. 
This has enabled the Council to make informed decisions in taking further action under 
the legislation, the redevelopment of land and responding to requests for information 
from the public and business.

Whilst the New Forest District Council Contaminated Land Strategy 2018 addresses 
the concepts and principles of the contaminated land regime, the key messages are:

•	 The Council will encourage voluntary action, where appropriate, prior to 
enforcement action to deal with identified land contamination;

•	 The Council will agree, where appropriate, realistic timescales to action work with 
all relevant stakeholders;

•	 The contaminated land regime will be used as a last resort when no other regimes 
are available to deal with the identified land contamination; and

•	 The majority of contaminated land sites will be dealt with under the planning and 
building control regimes during redevelopment rather than the contaminated land 
regime.

This Strategy will be updated within 5 years and replaces the Council’s previous 
Contaminated Land Strategy (November 2001) to reflect changes in statutory and 
technical guidance since that date.

Page 151



Page 152



Contaminated Land Strategy • May 2018� 5

Contents

p6	 1 • Introduction

p7	 2 • Aims and objectives

	 2.1 • Aim

	 2.2 • Objectives

p8	 3 • Regulation of land contamination

	 3.1 • Contaminated land regime

	 3.2 • Statutory guidance

	 3.3 • Other legislation

	 3.4 • Other functions

p16	 4 • Characteristics of the New Forest area

	 4.1 • Geographical location

	 4.2 • Population

	 4.3 • History

	 4.4 • Broad geological/hydrological characteristics

	 4.5 • Ecological system

	 4.6 • History and archaeology

p23	 5 • Inspection process

	 5.1 Strategic inspection

	 5.2 Detailed inspection

p32	 6 • Remediation

p32	 7 • Communication

	 7.1 • Requests for information

	 7.2 • Public register

	 7.3 • Strategy review

p37	 References

Page 153



6� Contaminated Land Strategy • May 2018

1 • Introduction

Sustaining a healthy population and environment is a challenge. The 
contamination of land can have wide ranging impacts and depending on the 
nature and quantity of the substances present harm may be caused to human 
health, the environment, ancient monuments and other property.

Throughout the UK there have been a large and varied number of activities which have 
resulted in the deposition of contaminated material onto land. Some activities date 
back to the Roman presence in the British Isles but most are associated with the rapid 
industrial growth associated with the so called ‘industrial revolution’ that centred on 
Britain in the nineteenth and twentieth centuries.

Historically land contamination has occurred by a variety of means. These include the 
disposal of contaminated materials through infilling of disused clay, chalk and gravel 
pits, landfilling general household waste and the accumulation or spillage of fuel oils, 
concentrated chemicals and wastes on manufacturing and agricultural sites. 

The pressure on land for housing and general development is severe. However, the 
need to preserve quality farmland, together with the protection of conservation areas 
means that many ‘brownfield’ sites are now being developed for a productive use. 
Landfill sites, old gasworks, abandoned chemical plants and foundries, are prime 
examples however remediation problems to make the land fit for use are complex, 
requiring satisfactory assessment and administration by the appropriate authorities.

The redevelopment of land utilises a number of Government regimes to deal with 
ongoing and historical land contamination. However there is a requirement for 
intervention where land contamination presents an unacceptable risk to human health 
and the environment where there is no suitable legislative alternative to address the 
risk. Part IIA of the Environmental Protection Act 1990 (hereafter referred to as ‘Part 
IIA’) aims to specifically deal with land contamination outside of existing regimes and 
legislation.

The Government’s policy objectives on contaminated land and the Part IIA regime are 
(DEFRA, 2012):

a)	 To identify and remove unacceptable risks to human health and the environment;

b)	 To seek to ensure that contaminated land is made suitable for its current use; and,

c)	 To ensure that the burdens faced by individuals, companies and society as a whole 
are proportionate, manageable and compatible with the principles of sustainable 
development. 

Part IIA requires Local Authorities to publish a Strategy detailing how it will deal with 
contaminated land and to keep the Strategy updated. The Strategy is required to take 
into account revisions to the statutory guidance (DEFRA, 2012) undertaken in 2012.

Page 154



Contaminated Land Strategy • May 2018� 7

2 • Aims and objectives

New Forest District Council (the ‘Council’) has a statutory obligation to inspect 
its area for the purpose of identifying contaminated land. The Council’s 
resources must be used appropriately to prioritise sites for detailed inspection 
where there is likely to be an unacceptable risk to human health or the wider 
environment.

The aims and objectives of the Contaminated Land Strategy fall within the principles 
set out in the Government policy and within the context of New Forest District 
Council’s Corporate Plan 2016 - 2020 to secure a better future for the New Forest. 

2.1 • Aim

The aim of this Strategy is to fulfil New Forest District Council’s statutory responsibility 
to identify and remove unacceptable risks associated with contaminated land as 
required by Part IIA of the Environmental Protection Act 1990.

2.2 • Objectives

The principal objectives of this strategy are:

i.	 To provide a strategic approach to the identification and remediation of 
contaminated and potentially contaminated land in order to;

•	 protect people, ecological systems, buildings, property, crops and livestock 
from significant harm caused by exposure to historic land contamination; protect 
controlled waters from significant pollution derived from historic contamination;

•	 encourage the voluntary remediation of sites; and

•	 encourage the remediation and redevelopment of brownfield sites

ii.	 To meet the priorities in the New Forest District Council Corporate Plan;

iii.	 To meet all responsibilities in the New Forest District Council and New Forest 
National Park Local Plans; 

iv.	 To work in partnership with other regulators such as the Environment Agency and 
key stakeholders; and

v.	 To provide a reference document for the stakeholders detailing the Council’s 
position as a regulator.

Page 155



8� Contaminated Land Strategy • May 2018

3 • Regulation of land contamination

3.1 • Contaminated land regime

Principles

Part IIA came into force in April 2000. Part IIA has been implemented as a means 
of dealing with the legacies of contaminated land and compliments other regulatory 
regimes such as the Planning regime, in that contaminated land can still be dealt with 
by use of planning conditions as part of the redevelopment process. 

Sections 78A to 78YC of Part IIA contain the main legislation relating to contaminated 
land. This is accompanied by the Contaminated Land (England) Regulations 2006 and 
the Radioactive Contaminated Land (Modification of Enactments)(England) Regulations 
2006, and supplemented by guidance from Defra and the Department for Energy 
and Climate Change: Contaminated Land Statutory Guidance (April 2012) and DECC: 
Radioactive Contaminated Land Statutory Guidance (April 2012).

The Government has adopted a suitability of use approach when considering land 
contamination and requires the use of risk assessment on a site by site basis. It is 
necessary to consider the extent of the contamination in relation to the current and 
adjacent land, local circumstances and a wide range of environmental impacts. There 
are three main elements to this approach. 

i)	 Ensuring land is suitable for its current use. 
Identifying land where the type and extent of any contamination causes an 
unacceptable risk to human health or the environment, and remediating the land in 
a planned manner to a condition where the risks are reduced to an acceptable level 
ensuring the land is suitable for use.

ii)	 Ensuring land is made suitable for any new use. 
Assessing the potential risk from contamination on the basis of a proposed future 
use, before planning permission for that use is granted, and where necessary, 
ensuring that land is remediated before the new use commences in partnership 
with the local planning authority, building control and other agencies as 
appropriate. 

iii)	 Proportionate approach to remediation. 
Limiting the requirements for remediation to works that are essential to prevent 
unacceptable risks to human health or the environment for uses that are permitted 
under the current planning permission. 

Part IIA also provides details for assigning liabilities for contaminated land based on 
the ‘polluter pays’ approach. The legislation seeks to place the burden of dealing with 
contamination on the polluter where they can be found, or the owner/occupier where 
the polluter cannot be identified or no longer exists.

Part IIA and relevant statutory guidance clearly define contaminated land terminology 
and principles which are summarised as follows:

Page 156



Contaminated Land Strategy • May 2018� 9

Definition of contaminated land

The principle term of reference for this strategy is ‘contaminated land’. In the context of 
the Act this is:

‘Land which appears to the Local Authority to be in such a condition, by reasons of 
substances in, on or under the land, that significant harm is being caused (or there is a 
significant possibility of such harm being caused), or that pollution of controlled waters 
is being, (or is likely to be caused).’

Definition of harm

The contaminated land definition includes the term ‘significant harm’ and although 
Part IIA does not include a specific definition for this phrase it does define harm in 
section 78A(4). The definition is;

‘Harm to the health of living organisms or other interference with the ecological 
systems of which they form a part and in the case of man includes harm to his 
property.’

Further clarification on the meaning of significant harm and the significant possibility of 
significant harm (SPOSH) in terms of human health is given in the Statutory Guidance 
(section 4) (DEFRA, 2012). This states that significant harm is identified where the 
Council is satisfied, on the balance of probabilities, that significant harm is being 
caused by a significant contaminant(s). Examples of some health effects considered 
as significant harm include life threatening diseases and serious injury. In deciding if 
SPOSH or the significant possibility of pollution to controlled waters is present, the 
Council should use Categories 1-4 as defined in paragraphs 4.19-4.30 (for human 
health) and 4.46 (for controlled waters) of the Statutory Guidance (DEFRA, 2012).

It should be noted that prior to using the contaminated land regime the Council will 
take into account the overall aims of the Statutory Guidance (DEFRA, 2012). The 
Guidance advises that the contaminated land regime should only be used as a last 
resort when no other means to deal with land contamination can be utilised.

Principles of contaminant linkages

Assessment of harm is based on a risk assessment approach to human health and 
the environment. To correctly assess land as being contaminated and in need of 
remediation and / or a protective action, a contaminant linkage has to be determined. A 
contaminant linkage is a link determined between a contaminant source and a receptor 
through a pathway as shown below: 

Sources Pathways Receptors

Examples:

•	 Contaminated soils

•	 Contaminated water

•	 Leaking drums

•	 Industrial process 
releases

•	 Hazardous materials

•	 Waste

Examples:

•	 Air

•	 Water

•	 Soil

•	 Food chain

Examples:

•	 People

•	 Domestic and 
commercial property

•	 Infrastructure

•	 Ecosystems

•	 Animals

•	 Plants

•	 Controlled waters

Page 157



10� Contaminated Land Strategy • May 2018

Principles of risk assessment

Risk assessment is undertaken by initially establishing the form and concentration 
existing for the discovered substances, assessing this data against published 
nationally accepted guidelines and standards, and finally determining if harm to a 
receptor is likely, or has occurred, through the establishment of a pathway therefore 
identifying any contaminant /  pollutant linkages. If the process of risk assessment 
demonstrates unacceptable risks are presented on site associated with the pollutant 
linkages, then an options appraisal process is to be followed to explore remediation 
to reduce or control the risks for the site. The key decisions in the risk assessment 
process are summarised below.

It should be acknowledged that all risk assessments concerning the investigation of 
contaminated land will have an associated level of uncertainty due to the scientific 
uncertainties and assumptions made. The Council will undertake to minimise the level 
of uncertainty as far as reasonably practicable, by working with suitably qualified 
personal to make informed and professional judgements based on the evidence 
provided.

P
re

lim
in

ar
y 

ri
sk

 a
ss

es
sm

en
t •	 What is the outline 

conceptual model for the 
site

•	 What potential 
unacceptable risks can 
be identified

•	 Whether further 
assistance is appropriate

Stage 1

•	 What pollutant linkages 
can be evaluated using 
generic criteria and 
assumptions

•	 Whether there are 
unacceptable risks 
associated with these 
pollutant linkages

•	 What further assessment 
or review is needed

Options 
Appraisal

Implementation 
of the 

remediation 
strategy

Stage 2

G
en

er
ic

 Q
ua

nt
ita

tiv
e 

R
is

k 
A

ss
es

sm
en

t

•	 What specific site criteria 
and assumption are 
appropriate for evaluating 
particular linkages

•	 Whether there are 
unacceptable risks 
associated with these 
linkages

•	 What further assessment 
or review is needed

Stage 3

D
et

ai
le

d
 Q

ua
nt

ita
tiv

e 
R

is
k 

A
ss

es
sm

en
t

Page 158



Contaminated Land Strategy • May 2018� 11

Background contamination

Part IIA deals with contamination that is an unacceptable risk to human health and 
/ or the environment. Land that is contaminated with expected levels of historical 
contaminants would be considered background contamination and not dealt with 
under Part IIA.

Roles and responsibilities

The Department of the Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (DEFRA) has the primary 
responsibility of the strategic management of the contaminated land regime and for 
implementing and reviewing the associated national policies.

The Local Authority takes the primary role under Part IIA for regulation and local 
implementation. The duties complement the existing nuisance regime for which Local 
Authorities are already responsible; the Waste and Mineral Extraction legislation 
which is enforced by Hampshire County Council and also the planning regime where 
responsibility is shared with the New Forest Park Authority. The Environment Agency 
(EA) has responsibility where controlled waters are affected and has additional 
enforcement powers within other enforcement regimes to complement the provisions 
of Part IIA. The duties are detailed below;

The Local Authority

•	 To cause the district to be inspected for contaminated land from time to time for the 
purpose,

a)	of identifying contaminated land; and

b)	of enabling the authority to decide whether any such land is land which is 
required to be designated as a special site

•	 To record prescribed information about contaminated land in a public register;

•	 To establish who is the appropriate person or persons to bear responsibility for the 
remediation of land associated with contamination;

•	 To decide, following consultation, what remediation is required and ensure it takes 
place through agreement or, where necessary, enforcement; and,

•	 To determine who should bear what proportion of the liability for meeting 
remediation costs;

Page 159



12� Contaminated Land Strategy • May 2018

The Environment Agency

•	 To assist Local Authorities in identifying contaminated land, particularly where 
water pollution is involved;

•	 To provide site specific guidance to local authorities on contaminated land that is 
subject to grant applications;

•	 To act as the enforcing authority for any land designated as a special site;

•	 To publish periodic reports on contaminated land; and

•	 To carry out technical research and in conjunction with DEFRA publish scientific 
advice

3.2 • Statutory guidance

Statutory guidance to accompany the contaminated land regime was revised in 
2012 and is detailed in the document Environmental Protection Act 1990: Part IIA 
Contaminated Land Statutory Guidance, April 2012 (DEFRA, 2012). Local Authorities 
are required to act in accordance with any guidance and as such the updates in the 
statutory guidance are reflected in this Strategy. The updates include:

•	 a requirement for Local Authorities to place identified sites within one of four 
defined categories* with the aim to assist decisions regarding whether the land can 
be defined as contaminated land;

	 *not the Councils ‘priority categories 1-5’ on pages 23 and 24.

•	 the use and acceptability of technical screening levels;

•	 clarification concerning the acceptability of elevated background contamination 
levels, and;

•	 introducing the need to produce a risk summary document prior to the 
determination of a site.

A key element to the Statutory Guidance is with regards to voluntary action. As such 
the Council’s approach to its contaminated land regulatory duties is to seek voluntary 
action before taking enforcement action. This approach recognises that in many 
cases as much or more effective remediation can be achieved by agreement than by 
enforcement. This approach requires effective communication with owners, occupiers 
and interested parties of the land in question.

New Forest District Council will act in accordance with the statutory guidance when 
implementing the regime.

Non-statutory technical guidance

Contaminated land technical guidance has been produced by numerous authorities 
and organisations over many years. These include but are not limited to the:

•	 Environment Agency (EA)

•	 Department of Food and Rural Affairs (DEFRA)

•	 Health and Safety Executive (HSE)

•	 Public Health England (PHE)

Page 160



Contaminated Land Strategy • May 2018� 13

•	 World Health Organisation (WHO)

•	 United States Environmental Protection Agency (US EPA)

New Forest District Council will use the information and guidance produced by such 
organisations to conduct appropriate and technical assessments of all potential 
contaminated land sites.

3.3 • Other legislation

Part IIA of the Environmental Protection Act 1990 should only be used to secure 
remediation of contaminated land where no appropriate alternative solution exists. 
There are a number of other regulatory functions that provide Local Authorities with 
legislative powers to deal with land contamination including planning and development 
control, building control and the Environmental Damage Regulations. Action under Part 
IIA may be precluded where action under these regimes results in a desired outcome, 
however these should be assessed on a case by case basis.

Planning regime

Land contamination can adversely affect or restrict the beneficial use of land and 
often development presents the best opportunity to successfully deal with the risks 
presented. The planning regime therefore has a key role to play in facilitating the 
development of land affected by contamination and is in line with government policy 
which recognises that the burden of dealing with land contamination is often reduced if 
remediation is undertaken alongside redevelopment.

All planning applications have to be considered for potential contamination issues 
to ensure compliance with the Town and Country Planning Act 1990, the National 
Planning Policy Framework and associated Planning Practice Guidance, and 
the Council’s Local Plan. Contaminated land issues that arise through planning 
applications will be controlled through the planning regime as opposed to the 
contaminated land regime.

National Planning Policy Framework published in 2012 by the Department for 
Communities and Local Government (DCLG) and National Planning Practice Guidance 
– Land Affected by Contamination (DCLG 2014) requires that to conserve and enhance 
the natural environment policies and decisions must ensure that: 

•	 the site is suitable for its new use taking account of ground conditions and land 
instability, including from natural hazards or former activities such as mining, 
pollution 

•	 arising from previous uses and any proposals for mitigation including land 
remediation or impacts on the natural environment arising from that remediation;

•	 after remediation, as a minimum, land should not be capable of being determined 
as contaminated land under Part IIA of the Environmental Protection Act 1990;

•	 adequate site investigation and risk assessments have been prepared by a 
competent person and carried out with appropriate regard to good practice and the 
change in land use.

The responsibility for securing a safe development rests with the developer and/or 
landowner, who should be made aware that actions or omissions on their part could 
lead to liability being incurred under Part IIA. 

Page 161



14� Contaminated Land Strategy • May 2018

Building control 

The Building Regulations 2010 (Part C1 of Schedule 1) introduced the requirement for 
reasonable precautions to be taken to avoid danger to health and safety caused by 
contaminants on or in the ground covered, or to be covered by the building and any 
land associated with the building. 

Technical guidance issued by the Department for Communities and Local Government 
(DCLG) in the form of Approved Document C – Site preparation and resistance to 
contaminants and moisture (DCLG, 2010), provides advice on site preparation and 
resistance to contaminants in order to mitigate the effects of contaminants, whilst 
recognising the connection between building control, planning and environmental 
protection. 

Environmental Damage Regulations

The Environmental Damage (Prevention and Remediation) (England) Regulations 2015 
(SI 2015/810) as amended provide a mechanism to deal with environmental damage to 
land, water or ecosystems where this occurs to businesses after 1 March 2009.  They 
rely on the polluter pays principle requiring operators of commercial activity to have in 
place measures to prevent environmental damage and take remedial action if it does 
occur.

The term ‘environmental damage’ has a specific meaning in the regulations and covers 
severe damage to land, surface water or groundwater, protected species or natural 
habitats or a site of special scientific interest.  The local authority has enforcement 
responsibilities in relation to damage to land where this results in a significant risk of 
adverse effects on human health.  Enforcement responsibility for damage to water 
is held by the Environment Agency, whilst damage to natural habitats or protected 
species or sites of special scientific interest is enforced by Natural England. 

Environmental Permitting

Environmental Permitting (England and Wales) Regulations 2016 (SI 2016/1154) as 
amended by SI 2018/110  replaced the 2010 regulations and cover industrial processes, 
including those related to solvents, metals, minerals, petroleum and animal and 
vegetable processing, waste operations, water discharges, groundwater activities and 
radioactive substances. They give the enforcing authority the ability to apply conditions 
to environmental permits to control activities and discharges to land, air and water.

Operators holding an environmental permit are liable for the prevention and 
remediation of environmental damage under the Environmental Damage Regulations 
2015. The Local Authority Pollution Control: General Guidance Manual provides further 
guidance. 

Water Resources Act 1991 (as amended by the Water Act 2003)

This Act gives the Environment Agency powers to take action to prevent or remedy the 
pollution of controlled waters by serving “Working Notices” specifying the remedial 
action to be taken. Where the Local Authority identifies contaminated land impacting 
on controlled bodies of water they will liaise with the Environment Agency with respect 
to appropriate remedial action.

Page 162



Contaminated Land Strategy • May 2018� 15

3.4 • Other functions

The examples of overlapping regulatory functions provided above may not be 
exhaustive and environmental legislation and regulatory responsibilities do not 
remain static. The Council will ensure the impact of any new legislation introduced 
following publication of this strategy is taken into consideration when implementing 
the contaminated land regime. Where alternative powers exist or are created to deal 
with land contamination issues, these will be used where possible in preference to 
implementing the regulatory process set out in Part IIA.

Page 163



16� Contaminated Land Strategy • May 2018

4 • Characteristics of the New Forest area

4.1 • Geographical location

The New Forest area lies in the south western corner of Hampshire, between 
the large urban areas of Southampton and the conurbations of Christchurch, 
Bournemouth, and Poole. Picturesque estuaries and the Southampton Water lay 
along the more physical boundary of the coast. The terrain is generally flat or 
gently undulating. In contrast there is downland to the North West which is part 
of the Dorset and Wiltshire downland (Cranborne Chase - Area of Outstanding 
Natural Beauty).

The area has a high quality, diverse environment, including the New Forest (which 
covers some three-quarters of the District and is separately administered as a National 
Park) and its 64 kilometres of coastline. Despite the area’s largely rural character, 
it contains a substantial number of towns and villages. Background information, 
characteristics and features of the area are outlined as follows.

4.2 • Population

The overall resident population of the area is around 176,000. This rises dramatically in 
summer months with tourism. Significant population growth since the Second World 
War has been concentrated in the eastern parishes (Totton and Waterside) and the 
coastal towns to the south (Lymington, New Milton, Barton on Sea). There is also an 
important market town close to the border of East Dorset (Ringwood).

4.3 • History

The New Forest

The New Forest was established as the King's hunting forest shortly after the Norman 
Conquest in 1066. Being an unusually extensive, open, semi-wild area in an agricultural 
and developed part of the country it is now of very great value for recreation, 
conservation, wildlife, grazing of livestock and forestry. The Forest has been shaped 
over the centuries by a unique blend of natural forces and human activity. The New 
Forest is a very diverse and complex landscape comprising unenclosed ancient 
woodland, enclosures, open heaths and lawns, mires and ponds, back-up grazing 
land, and scattered dwellings and villages. The character of the landscape ranges from 
intimate woodland and pastoral scenes to exposed heathlands.

The coast

The District’s coastline is one of contrasts. Along Southampton Water much of the 
shoreline is influenced by urban and industrial development, although there are 
valuable remnants of a wooded farmland (Forest fringe) landscape. The petro-chemical 
complex at Fawley is visible in the landscape for miles around. 

Some of the most untouched coastal landscape in southern England is to be found 
where the New Forest meets the sea along the north west Solent shores between 
Calshot and Lymington. The Beaulieu and Lymington Rivers are particularly attractive 
and popular sailing areas.

Most of the coastline between Lymington and Barton-on-Sea is accessible to the 
public.  None of the District’s coastal settlements are seaside resorts, although 
Lymington has strong connections with the sea as a yachting and boat-building centre.

Page 164



Contaminated Land Strategy • May 2018� 17

The Avon Valley

In the west of the area the New Forest escarpment drops into the Avon Valley which 
separates the New Forest from the Dorset heathlands. Much of the valley floor is high 
grade agricultural land, whilst to the north of Ringwood is a significant area of sand 
and gravel workings, most of which is gradually being transformed into lakes 

The Western Downlands

The rolling open chalk downlands in the North West corner of the area are part of the 
Cranborne Chase and West Wiltshire Downs Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty. This 
location offers a marked contrast to the landscapes of the New Forest.

Agricultural land

The area contains substantial areas of agricultural land classified as the best and most 
versatile in the river valleys (in particular that of the Avon), the coastal area between 
Lymington and New Milton, the coastal estates fringing the open Forest, and in the 
western Downlands.

Towns and villages

Many of these towns and villages are of historic interest - for example, Ringwood and 
Lymington have 13th century charters. 

All of the area’s main towns and villages are close to, or in, the New Forest. Their 
affinity and historic links with the Forest are reflected in the fact that historic Forest 
grazing rights extend well beyond the Forest itself to encompass most of the towns 
and villages in the District.

4.4 • Broad geological/hydrological characteristics 

The illustrative Map 2 shows the actual locations of the rivers. Solid and drift geological 
information is illustrated in Map 1. This information is critically important to risk 
assessment since it provides an insight into potential pathways between contaminated 
sites and potential receptors.

The New Forest District Council boundary and the Solent are shown in black, whilst 
major settlements are shown in white.

Page 165



18� Contaminated Land Strategy • May 2018

Map 1 • Schematic solid and drift geological features of the district

Geologically the New Forest district lies within the Hampshire Basin which is a 
broad shallow basin filled with gravels, sands and clays contained within low chalk 
downlands. 

The New Forest area is underlain by sedimentary rocks laid down in the Tertiary period 
subsequent earth movements tilted the layers of rocks to expose older deposits to 
the north and younger layers to the south. During the Ice Age the land was again re-
shaped to form a series of huge terraces, stepping downwards from the north-west 
to the shore of the Solent. At the end of the Ice Age a capping of gravel or brick-earth 
was deposited over parts of the area. 

The geology and landform have influenced the soils that are found today. Soils to the 
north sit on the oldest rocks and are very poor and acidic. The central area is covered 
by more recent deposits which give rise to deeper soils, well suited to growing trees. 
To the south are found the youngest rocks on flatter land supporting a wide variety of 
deeper soils. Throughout the Forest, peat has accumulated in hollows and wide flat 
valleys, providing ideal conditions for bog vegetation.

Surface water percolates through the gravels and sands but is then held up by the 
less permeable clay beds which re-direct the flow of the groundwater.  In areas of 
poor drainage the surface soil becomes impoverished and waterlogged due to soluble 
minerals being washed down to the clay layer and forming a hard impermeable layer or 
‘pan’ a few feet below the surface. 

The Forest is drained by a fine network of small streams. Generally flows are at 
a minimum in August and reach their maximum in January.  The drainage regime 
responds quickly to rainfall.

Development (or redevelopment) which would have an unacceptable risk upon water 
quality or the quality or natural flow patterns of a groundwater resource are not 
permitted (please refer to the Local Plan and also Environment Agency policy).

North 

Dark Blue = Chalk

Yellows / Greens/ 
Browns = Alluvial deps 

/ Clay

Blue = Sand, Gravel, 
Clay

Purples = Sand and 
Gravel

Page 166



Contaminated Land Strategy • May 2018� 19

Map 2 • Hydrological Features

4.5 • Ecological system

Nature conservation

The area contains an exceptional concentration of sites of nature conservation value. 
In terms of locations forming part of the national network of areas of importance for 
nature conservation, there are 25 designated Sites of Special Scientific Interest (SSSIs) 
covering some 44% of the area. Of these the largest is the New Forest SSSI (28,947 
hectares). Some 85% of the coast lies within designated SSSIs. There are National 
Nature Reserves (NNRs) at the Beaulieu Estuary (the North Solent NNR), Martin Down 
and Kingston Great Common.

A number of these SSSIs are of international as well as national importance. The New 
Forest SSSI is classified as a Special Protection Area and listed as a Ramsar site, and 
is a candidate Special Area of Conservation. Much of the Avon Valley SSSI is within 
a classified SPA and listed Ramsar site, and the River Avon SSSI is a candidate SAC. 
The SSSIs bordering the Solent and Southampton Water are also within a classified 
SPA and listed Ramsar site; Solent and Isle of Wight Lagoons candidate SAC. 

There are also substantial locally designated areas of nature conservation importance 
in the area. Local Nature Reserves (LNRs) have been designated at Calshot, Boldre 
Foreshore and the Lymington-Keyhaven marshes. In addition, there are numerous Sites 
of Importance for Nature Conservation (SINCs). There can be some overlap between 
LNRs and SSSIs, in which case national guidance on the protection of SSSIs prevails. 

Within the area, the Downlands lie in the Cranborne Chase and West Wiltshire Downs 
AONB, which also extends into Dorset, Wiltshire and Somerset. The South Hampshire 
Coast AONB extends the full length of the north-west Solent shore with the bulk of the 
South Hampshire Coast AONB lying within the New Forest.

North 

The District boundary is 
shown in red. The Major 
Rivers, Flood plains and 

Coastline illustrated in 
blue.

Page 167



20� Contaminated Land Strategy • May 2018

Map 3 • SSSI sites

Map 4 • Ramsar, SPA and SAC sites

Page 168



Contaminated Land Strategy • May 2018� 21

Conservation areas

There are 24 Conservation Areas in New Forest District covering historic town centres, 
New Forest villages, small hamlets and farmsteads, and groups of buildings within 
their settings.  High priority is given to preserving and enhancing the character and 
appearance of Conservation Areas in this area. Four of the six main town centres are 
within Conservation Areas.

Key water resource/protection issues

The area contains two major river valleys, the Rivers Avon and Test. These display 
special landscape and other characteristics. The valleys are subject to normal 
countryside and other special designations but are subject to the creation of the 
National Park area.

This area contains substantial areas of exceptional environmental sensitivity. The New 
Forest, and many areas of nature conservation value, including those on the coast, is 
extremely vulnerable to the effects of atmospheric and waterborne pollutants, to noise 
nuisance and to light intrusion. In addition, the area contains groundwater protection 
zones at Ampress, Lymington, and north-west of Breamore (serving boreholes at 
Hale and Woodgreen) and water catchment areas defined by the Environment Agency 
around the rivers Avon and Test which are subject to Local Environment Agency 
Plans (LEAPS), which include requirements for the protection of groundwater sources 
and aquifers. LEAPS have been produced for water catchment areas throughout the 
country. The protection of groundwater sources and aquifers is necessary due to 
legislation such as the Water Resources Act 1991, the Groundwater Directive 2006 and 
the Water Framework Directive 2000.

The coast of this area is some 64 km (40 miles) long, and includes built-up areas, 
countryside and parts of the New Forest. The area’s coast falls into three broad sections.

i.	 Christchurch Bay (Barton-on-Sea to Hurst Spit). 
This coast is characterised by narrow shingle beaches and slumping or eroding 
cliffs of much geological interest, mostly included in Sites of Special Scientific 
Interest (SSSIs). 

ii.	 North-west Solent Shore (Hurst Spit to Calshot). 
This contains extensive coastal marshes of considerable wildlife value, all within 
SSSIs; the Beaulieu River estuary is included in a National Nature Reserve, and 
there are local nature reserves in the Lymington-Keyhaven marshes and at Boldre 
foreshore. These areas are in a Special Protection Area (SPA) and Ramsar site, and 
parts of them, together with areas off-shore, are within candidate Special Areas 
of Conservation (SACs). The hinterland is low lying, with an attractive landscape, 
part open, part wooded, all included within the South Hampshire Coast Area 
of Outstanding Natural Beauty. The New Forest extends to the coast between 
Walhampton and Calshot. 

iii.	 Southampton Water (Calshot to Redbridge). 
This is a river estuary, with much of the coast now developed for major industry 
and other uses, including the Esso oil refinery and petrochemicals complex, the 
Fawley Power Station, the site of the former Marchwood Power Station, Husbands 
Shipyard and the Marchwood Military Port. Other developed areas are at Eling, 
Marchwood and Hythe. The remaining coastal marshes and intertidal areas are of 
great nature conservation value, and largely included within SSSIs. These areas are 
in a SPA and Ramsar site; part of the Hythe-Calshot Marshes SSSI, Eling & Bury 
Marshes SSSI and part of the Lower Test Valley SSSI are in a candidate SAC. There 
is also a local nature reserve at Calshot.

Page 169



22� Contaminated Land Strategy • May 2018

4.6 • History and archaeology

The District Council places a high priority on the protection of coastal areas of nature 
conservation value.

The coast contains a number of sites and buildings of historic and/or archaeological 
interest which have become an integral part of the coastal landscape. These are 
identified in Hampshire County Council’s Sites and Monuments Record, and include 
two Tudor castles at Hurst and Calshot Spits, two nationally rare examples of early 
working tide mills at Eling and Beaulieu, one of the most important sites in the Solent 
for the construction of early wooden warships at Buckler’s Hard, and important relics 
of the world wars, for example the hangars at Calshot. There are also archaeological 
remains off-shore, which are identified in the County Council’s Maritime Sites and 
Monuments Record. 

Built heritage and design

The New Forest has a rich built heritage. It contains the majority of Scheduled Ancient 
Monuments in the area, together with 24 Conservation Areas and numerous listed 
buildings. The Conservation Areas vary in their character and purpose. Some display 
the typical dispersed character of Forest settlements and ancient field patterns, such 
as those at Fritham and Minstead. Settlements such as these also contain the greatest 
numbers of typical Forest cottages, which, together with their small scale outbuildings, 
have a landscape significance as well as an historic value. Other Conservation Areas 
reflect the special history of the area, and its links with the coast, for instance those at 
Beaulieu, Buckler’s Hard, Eling and Ashlett.

Page 170



Contaminated Land Strategy • May 2018� 23

5 • Inspection process

A strategic approach to land contamination is not only essential at a local level 
but is equally important to facilitate the coordination of management practices 
nationally, with the aid of the Environment Agency. In taking on contaminated land 
responsibilities Local Authorities have to examine the resources required, what 
resources are available and how to undertake the duties in the context of the Local 
Plan. A strategic approach is also essential to program and manage work.

As previously stated the Council’s approach to its contaminated land regulatory duties 
is to seek voluntary action before taking enforcement action at any point within the 
inspection process. It is recognised that voluntary action is typically more effective than 
formal enforcement action however this approach requires effective communication with 
owners, occupiers and interested parties of the land in question.

5.1 • Strategic inspection

Progress to date (2001 – 2017)

Considerable progress has been made since the publication of the Council’s previous 
Contaminated Land Strategy in 2001. The Council has:

•	 identified 2350 potentially contaminated land sites throughout the District using 
numerous sources including historical maps, business directories and details held by 
the petroleum officer; 

•	 collated detailed information via site walkovers on possible sources, pathways and 
receptors;

•	 prioritised all of the ‘known’ 1199 potentially contaminated land sites within the New 
Forest district from Category ‘1’ (higher risk) to Category ‘5’ (lower risk) as shown in 
Table 1; 

•	 developed a Geographical Information System (GIS) and associated database to store 
and manage the information gathered on all of the potentially contaminated sites. The 
database has been ranked to reflect the prioritised list such that the perceived highest 
risk sites would be inspected first and such that some sites may never come forward 
for pro-active inspection under the contaminated land regime;

•	 re-assessed a number of potentially contaminated sites as detailed below; and

•	 continues to deal with contaminated land issues via other available regimes, but 
principally using the planning regime. 

In order to undertake the work listed above, the Council used proprietary computer 
software and engaged the services of contaminated land consultants, WPA Consultants 
(initially through a consortium of Local Authorities) between 2000 and 2016. Furthermore 
Council officers have received training, including one to Master’s Degree level 
(Contaminated Land) in order to ensure Council officers are trained to an appropriate 
standard to undertake the required work.

Page 171



24� Contaminated Land Strategy • May 2018

Prioritised sites

The Council’s priority categories and numbers of associated sites are shown in the 
table below: 

Table 1 – Potentially contaminated land sites and categories

The one large site that is in Category 1 has had extensive voluntary investigations and 
some voluntary remediation work completed between 2006 to 2013. The site was 
highlighted to the Council for redevelopment in 2013, however in 2017 the Council 
became aware that redevelopment of the site was unlikely in the short term. Agreed 
annual monitoring on the site has been undertaken since 2013 to regularly assess the 
site conditions. This site is discussed further in the section ‘Category 1 sites’ on page 26. 

Reassessment of sites

In 2008 and 2010 New Forest District Council secured funding via the Defra 
(Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs) Contaminated Land Capital 
Grants Scheme to carry out more detailed site investigations. Site investigations were 
carried out at 4 sites and concluded that there was no significant pollutant linkage 
and remediation was not necessary. Therefore these sites were re-assessed as a low 
priority on the potential Part IIA sites database.

Between 2013 and 2015 further work was undertaken on the prioritisation of potentially 
contaminated sites (Categories 1 and 2a) to determine if sites required re-prioritising. 
This work used additional information to provide further evidence of the potential 
contamination of the site. Examples of the additional information used includes:

•	 Planning reports

•	 Undertaking up-to-date site walkovers

•	 Discussion with the Environment Agency

•	 Letters to owners of sites

•	 Some desktop studies

As a result 43 sites were re-prioritised from a Category 1 or 2a to a Category 2b, 3, 4 
or 5, thus enabling the sites to be classed as lower priority sites.

Notes

*19 of these sites (or 
historic land use points) 

are encompassed in 
one large site.

The list of potentially 
contaminated sites 

is not a public 
document.

Risk

NFDC category Number of sites

Category 1 19*

Category 2a 71

Category 2b/3 820

Category 4 5

Category 5 284

Not required 1,151

Page 172



Contaminated Land Strategy • May 2018� 25

Planning regime - New Forest District Council

The policy within New Forest District Council remains one of promoting appropriate 
sustainable development and ensuring the proper regard of the risks from 
environmental factors including the potential or known presence of contamination.

The dataset produced by the Council from the initial prioritisation of all potentially 
contaminated sites forms the basis of a planning constraint layer. This layer is used to 
trigger a planning consultation request for Environmental Protection to comment on 
planning applications which overlay potentially contaminated sites or buffer zones of 
potentially contaminated sites. 

Land contamination planning conditions are appended to planning permissions where 
necessary. Environmental Protection is responsible for reviewing all investigation and 
remediation work undertaken by consultants to ensure the site is made suitable for its 
proposed use and that there are no unacceptable risks to human health, controlled 
waters, the environment, or property. This must be conducted in accordance with 
DEFRA and the Environment Agency’s ‘Model Procedures for the Management of Land 
Contamination, CLR 11’.

In order to assist developers the Council has produced the ‘Developers Guide to 
Development on Potentially Contaminated Land’ which is available on New Forest 
District Council’s website newforest.gov.uk/article/4227/Contaminated-Land.

Future work (2018 – 2022)

The extensive work completed to date has identified and prioritised potentially 
contaminated land within the district. Expected future progress includes:

1.	 identifying and reprioritising potentially contaminated land when additional 
information and evidence is presented;

2.	 forwarding work on the identified Category 1 sites; and

3.	 continuing to deal with contaminated land issues via other available regimes, but 
principally using the planning regime

Page 173



26� Contaminated Land Strategy • May 2018

Reassessment of sites

The process of identifying and reprioritising potentially contaminated land is an on-
going activity. Further information may come to light at any stage and the Council will 
take into account any information obtained from or volunteered by the public, site 
owners, businesses and voluntary organisations. New and updated information will 
also often be provided as a result of information between departments (particularly 
between Environmental Protection and Development Control) and with the 
Environment Agency and other statutory bodies that may identify new sites or affect 
the prioritisation of sites that have already been identified.

It should be noted that higher priority sites (listed as Category 1 and 2a in Table 1) 
should progress to a detailed inspection to determine if they are contaminated land 
under the legal definition. These sites are currently classified as being potentially 
contaminated land due to lack of or no evidence presented to date which identifies 
pollutant linkage(s) and significant harm being caused as detailed in Section 3.1.

As such the Council is not currently proactively pursuing detailed inspections of 
Category 2a sites due the evidence presented to date, and in addition to prohibitively 
costly intrusive site investigations and the removal of the Contaminated Land Capital 
Grants Scheme which ceased in April 2017. However, should further evidence be 
obtained concerning Category 2a sites, then the Council will re-assess the situation 
and proactively investigate the site where deemed appropriate.

Category 1 sites

As advised above, the one large site containing the 19 identified Category 1 sites was 
highlighted to the Council for development in 2013. Remediation of the site would 
therefore have been secured through the planning regime to ensure the land would 
be suitable for its new use. In 2017, the Council became aware that redevelopment of 
the site was no longer likely in the short term and in 2018 the site changed ownership. 
Discussions with relevant interested parties concerning contamination at the site are 
in progress to agree an appropriate way forward and any progress will be detailed in 
an updated version of the strategy when necessary.

Page 174



Contaminated Land Strategy • May 2018� 27

5.2 • Detailed inspection

If information comes to the attention of the Council indicating a site is 
causing concerns relating to contaminated land, the Council will investigate in 
accordance with the statutory and other relevant guidance.

The Statutory Guidance (DEFRA, 2012) requires that:

‘If the local authority identifies land where it considers there is a reasonable possibility 
that a significant pollutant linkage (as defined in paragraphs 3.8 and 3.9) exists, 
it should inspect the land to obtain sufficient information to decide whether it is 
contaminated land, having regard to section 3 of this Guidance’ 

This guidance also makes clear that, under Part IIA, the starting point should be that 
land is not contaminated land unless there is reason to consider otherwise.

If at any stage the Council considers, on the basis of information obtained from 
inspection activities, that there is no longer a reasonable possibility that a significant 
contaminant linkage exists on the land, the Council will not carry out any further 
inspection in relation to that linkage.

In addition, if the Council identifies contaminated land which is considered to meet one 
or more of the descriptions of a special site set out in the Contaminated Land (England) 
Regulations 2006 (as amended), the Council will consult the Environment Agency and, 
subject to the Agency’s advice and agreement, arrange for the Agency to carry out 
any intrusive inspection of the land on the Council’s behalf, taking into account the 
provisions of the Statutory Guidance (DEFRA, 2012).

Reactive Investigations

Although the Council’s approach to identifying potentially contaminated land will 
principally be via the planning regime, there may still be a need to investigate some 
sites, in particular where information is received that suggests a problem of land 
contamination is of current concern to one or more sensitive receptors.

If information comes to the attention of the Council that indicates a site is causing 
concerns relating to contaminated land, the Council will undertake any necessary 
investigation in accordance with the statutory and other relevant guidance. 

Page 175



28� Contaminated Land Strategy • May 2018

Risk summaries

The revised Statutory Guidance (DEFRA, 2012) introduces the use of ‘risk 
summaries’, which will be produced for any land where, on the basis of its risk 
assessment, it is considered likely that the land in question may be determined 
as contaminated land.

In a format that is understandable to the layperson, a risk summary will aim to explain 
our understanding of the risks and any other relevant factors associated with the land 
in question.

Risk summaries should include:

i.	 A description of: the contaminants involved; the identified contaminant linkage(s), or 
a summary of such linkages; the potential impact(s); the estimated possibility that 
the impact(s) may occur; and the timescale over which the risk may occur;

ii.	 A description of the authority’s understanding of the uncertainties behind its 
assessment;

iii.	 A description of the risks in context, for example by setting the risk in local or 
national context, or describing the risk from land contamination relative to other 
risks that receptors might be expected to be exposed to in any case;

iv.	 A description of the authority’s initial views on possible remediation; and

v.	 In the case of land which (if it were determined as contaminated land) would be 
likely to be a special site, the authority should seek the views of the Environment 
Agency, and take any views provided into account in producing this description.

Local Authorities are not required to produce risk summaries:

i.	 For land which will not be determined as contaminated land;

ii.	 For land which has been prioritised for detailed inspection (in accordance with 
Section 2 of the Statutory Guidance) but which has not yet been subject to risk 
assessment in accordance with Section 3; and

iii.	 For land determined as contaminated land before the revised Statutory Guidance 
came into force (April 2012). 

Determination

Local authorities have the sole responsibility for determining whether any land 
appears to be contaminated land. The starting assumption of Part IIA is that land is 
not contaminated land unless there is reason to consider otherwise. The prioritisation 
process aims to highlight those sites where there is greatest potential for the land to be 
contaminated and the detailed inspection process should verify the existence of any 
pollutant linkage and assess the likely significance of this

Deciding land is not contaminated land

While undertaking inspection duties the Council is likely to inspect land that it becomes 
apparent does not meet the definition of contaminated land or the Council may cease 
an inspection and assessment on the grounds that there is little or no evidence to 
suggest that it is contaminated land. When a piece of land has been prioritised for 
detailed inspection and is subsequently deemed not to be contaminated, the Council in 
accordance with the Statutory Guidance, will produce a written statement to that effect 

Page 176



Contaminated Land Strategy • May 2018� 29

to minimise the potential for blight. The statement will contain an explanation of the 
rationale behind the decision and make clear the circumstances that would invalidate 
the statement (such as a change of use to a more sensitive end nature). The statement 
will be issued to the land owner and other interested parties. Such statements may be 
reviewed as scientific understanding of risks evolving over time. 

Determining land is contaminated land

Before making any formal determination the Council will need to be satisfied that 
there is at least one significant contamination linkage on site. This will be achieved 
through completion of a robust, appropriate, scientific and technical assessment of all 
available and relevant evidence. In making such decisions local authorities may rely on 
information or advice provided by another body such as the Environment Agency, or a 
suitably qualified experienced practitioner appointed for that purpose. 

There are four possible grounds for the determination of land as contaminated land 
(with regard to non-radioactive contamination):

i.	 Significant harm is being caused to a human or relevant non-human, receptor.

ii.	 There is a significant possibility of significant harm being caused to a human, or 
relevant non-human, receptor.

iii.	 Significant pollution of controlled waters is being caused.

iv.	 There is a significant possibility of significant pollution of controlled waters being 
caused.

Area to be determined

The extent of the area to be determined as contaminated requires careful 
consideration, and should only include land considered to be contaminated. The area 
of land being considered may change as further evidence is obtained. The area of land 
to be determined can be subdivided and should take into account:

•	 The nature of the contamination;

•	 Any variation in the degree of risk across the land;

•	 The type of remediation that could be applied;

•	 Land ownership, and;

•	 The likely identity of the person(s) responsible for the remediation.

Page 177



30� Contaminated Land Strategy • May 2018

Informing interested parties

In accordance with the Statutory Guidance (DEFRA, 2012) before the Council makes 
a determination we will notify (in writing) the owners and occupiers of the land, any 
other person who appear at the time to be liable to pay for remediation works and 
the Environment Agency of the Council’s intention to determine the land unless it is 
considered there is an overriding reason for not doing so. The correspondence from 
the Council will include:

•	 A description of the pollutant linkages identified, and;

•	 A summary of the evidence and risk assessment on which determination is based.

The interested parties will be invited to discuss the situation with the Council before 
more formal action is considered.

Formal notification of determination

Where it is considered that the land is contaminated, the Council will provide written 
notification to the owner of the land, occupiers of the land, any person who appears to 
be liable to pay for remediation, the Environment Agency and neighbouring authorities 
if the site is within 250m of a district boundary.

The notification will include:

•	 The reasoning of the notification

•	 A record of determination

•	 The risk summary

•	 Information on the site investigations

•	 The reasoning why people have been identified as an appropriate person

•	 Details of tests for exclusions from and apportionment of liabilities

Postponing determination

The Council may decide to postpone a determination of contaminated land if the 
landowner or another person undertakes to deal with the land in question without 
determination and if the Council is satisfied that the remediation will be undertaken to 
an appropriate standard and timescale. Postponement does not affect the Council’s 
ability to determine the land in the future if works are not undertaken as agreed.

In addition, the Council may decide to postpone a determination of contaminated 
land if a significant contaminant linkage would only exist if the use of the land were to 
change in the future. Should this be the case then the site will be kept under review 
and take reasonable steps to ensure that a postponement does not create conditions 
under which significant risks could go unaddressed in the future (DEFRA, 2012).

Page 178



Contaminated Land Strategy • May 2018� 31

Record of the determination of contaminated land

The Council is required to prepare a written record of land determined as 
contaminated land. The record must be made publicly available and should be clear 
and understandable to non-specialists. The record should include:

•	 Accurate details of the location, boundaries and land in question

•	 Explanation of why the determination is being made

•	 The risk summary

•	 The relevant conceptual model

•	 A summary of the relevant assessment of the evidence

•	 A summary of why the authority considers the requirements of the relevant 
Statutory Guidance (DEFRA, 2012) have been satisfied

Making determinations in urgent cases

If the Council considers there is an urgent need to determine particular land, the 
Council will make the determination in a timescale considered appropriate to the 
urgency of the situation.

Timescales

The Council will work to progress all aspects of contaminated land investigations and 
remediation (Section 6) in a timely manner. Realistic timescales to progress work will 
be agreed, where appropriate, with all relevant stakeholders as early as practicable 
within the process.

Formal action may be considered should voluntary action not be progressed within the 
agreed timescales however the Council recognises that any agreed timescales may 
be subject to change due to the nature of the work involved. Therefore it is important 
for the Council and stakeholders to work closely to progress the investigation and any 
subsequent remediation of a site.

Page 179



32� Contaminated Land Strategy • May 2018

6 • Remediation

The aim of remediation is to reduce the risks so they are no longer significant 
and at an acceptable level. This can be achieved by disrupting the contaminant 
linkages, for example by removing the contamination and therefore removing 
the source.

Definition

Remediation is defined in the Environmental Protection Act 1990 s78A as:

(a)	 the doing of anything for the purpose of assessing  the condition of – (i) the 
contaminated land in question; or (ii) any controlled waters affected by that land; or 
(iii) any land adjoining or adjacent to that land;

(b) 	the doing of any works, the carrying out of any operations or the taking of any steps 
in relation to any such land for the purpose – (i) of preventing or minimising, or 
remedying or mitigating the effects of, any significant harm (or significant pollution 
of controlled waters), by reason of which the contaminated land is such land; or (ii) 
of restoring the land or waters to their former state; or

(c)	  the making of subsequent inspections from time to time for the purpose of keeping 
under review the condition of the land or waters.’

Remediation Notices

Following the determination of land as being contaminated land, the enforcing authority 
must consider how the land should be remediated and, where appropriate, serve 
a remediation notice on the appropriate person(s) to require such remediation. The 
enforcing authority is typically the Local Authority or for land identified as being a 
‘special site’ the Environment Agency.

The remediation notice must;

•	 Specify what remediation option(s) are required;

•	 The timescale to complete the specified remediation; and

•	 Be placed on a public register

A remediation notice can be revised or revoked in full or part at any time, in the event 
that new information comes to light.

Page 180



Contaminated Land Strategy • May 2018� 33

Prior to the service of a remediation notice the Council will consult other regulatory 
bodies and suitably qualified professionals and have regard to relevant technical 
documents. Furthermore the Council will take into account;

•	 whether voluntary remediation is being or will be undertaken without the need for a 
notice; 

•	 whether there is a need for urgent action where there is imminent risk of serious 
harm;

•	 whether there are viable remediation option(s) which will provide a practical and 
effective solution for a sufficient period of time;

•	 whether it is feasible for the identified appropriate person(s) to complete the 
specified remediation within the defined timescale;

•	 the potential impacts of the remediation option(s) on the environment and health of 
people undertaking the works, and buildings;

•	 the financial cost at each stage of the process including preparation of remediation 
strategies, remediation, verification, ongoing maintenance and land value; and

•	 the associated benefits of the remediation works  affected by the remediation 
options

Voluntary remediation

The Council encourages voluntary remediation when appropriate without the 
requirement for a formal remediation notice and will work with the appropriate 
person(s) to secure the remediation of contaminated land. A remediation statement 
would replace the remediation notice which states the person(s) reasonable to ensure 
remediation is undertaken and completed, the nature and extent of the remediation 
and the timescales to complete the work. The remediation statement will be placed on 
the public register.

Urgent remediation

Urgent action must be authorised where the Council is satisfied that there is imminent 
danger of serious harm or serious pollution of controlled waters being caused as a 
result of contaminated land. In such circumstances the procedures identified in the 
statutory guidance will be followed which may involve use of powers of entry.

The Council will initiate the remediation in urgent cases where it is the enforcing 
authority if it is of the opinion that the risk would not be mitigated by enforcement 
action. In the case of a potential special site, the Council will notify and consult with 
the Environment Agency. In appropriate cases the Council will seek to recover costs of 
remediation works it has completed. 

Page 181



34� Contaminated Land Strategy • May 2018

Liability and costs

Land may be declared contaminated land with the identification of only one significant 
contaminant linkage. Full liability cannot therefore be determined until all significant 
contaminant linkages on the site have been identified.

When all significant contaminant linkages have been identified liability must be 
apportioned. This has five distinct stages as follows:

i.	 Identifying potential appropriate persons and liability groups;

ii.	 Characterising remediation actions;

iii.	 Attributing responsibility to liability groups;

iv.	 Excluding members of liability groups; and

v.	 Apportioning liability between members of a liability group.

The process starts with establishing liability groups. All appropriate persons for any 
one linkage are a, ‘liability group’. These may be Class ‘A’ or Class ‘B’ persons.

APPROPRIATE PERSONS - Class ‘A’ - These are, generally the polluters, but can also 
include those who ‘knowingly permitted’.

APPROPRIATE PERSONS - Class ‘B’ - Where no Class ‘A’ persons can be found 
liability reverts to the owner or the occupier of the land. These are known as Class ‘B’ 
persons.

The matter of appropriate persons must be considered for each significant 
contaminant linkage. Therefore where a site has had a series of contaminative uses 
over the years, each significant contaminant linkage will be identified separately and 
liability considered for each.

The cost of each remediation action will normally be apportioned between those who 
remain liable after any exclusion. Section 78F(6) and (7) of the 1990 Act, which provides 
that:

Section 78F(6): Where two or more persons would, apart from this subsection, be 
appropriate persons in relation to any particular thing which is to be done by way of 
remediation, the enforcing authority shall determine in accordance with guidance 
issued for the purpose by the Secretary of State whether any, and if so which, of them 
is to be treated as not being an appropriate person in relation to that thing.

Section 78F(7): Where two or more persons are appropriate persons in relation to any 
particular thing which is to be done by way of remediation, they shall be liable to bear 
the cost of doing that thing in proportions determined by the enforcing authority in 
accordance with guidance issued for the purpose by the Secretary of State (DEFRA, 
2012). 

The main provisions for the establishment of liability are set out in Part IIA of the 
Environmental Protection Act 1990; and further information can be found within 
Section 7 of the Contaminated Land Statutory Guidance (DEFRA, 2012).

Wherever possible, voluntary action and/or the redevelopment of sites for inspection 
and remediation of land affected by contamination will be encouraged. This approach 
aims to minimise burdens on individuals, business and the wider community while 
ensuring that unacceptable risks are dealt with effectively.   

Page 182



Contaminated Land Strategy • May 2018� 35

7 • Communication

7.1 • Requests for information

Contaminated land searches

Contaminated land information is made available in accordance with the requirements 
of the Freedom of Information Act 2000 and the Environmental Information Regulations 
2004.

A charge may be made to provide information under the Environmental Information 
Regulations 2004. Fees for providing this service are published annually by the Council 
in its Fees and Charges document. 

Contaminated land complaints and enquiries

It is possible that enquiries concerning potentially contaminated land will be received 
from the public, businesses and voluntary organisations.

In such cases:

i.	 The enquiry will be logged and investigated using the Council’s GIS, other sources 
of information and a site reconnaissance when appropriate; and

ii.	 The enquirer will be kept informed of progress towards the resolution of the enquiry.

7.2 • Public register

We are required to maintain a Public Register of Contaminated Land in accordance 
with the requirements of the Contaminated Land (England) Regulations 2006 and this 
includes;

•	 Remediation notices

•	 Remediation notice appeals

•	 Remediation declarations

•	 Remediation statements

•	 Charging notices appeals

•	 Special site declarations

•	 Notification of claimed remediation

•	 Convictions for offences under Environmental Protection Act 1990 sec 78M

•	 Other environmental controls

Currently there are no entries on the New Forest District Council Public Register of 
Contaminated Land.

Page 183



36� Contaminated Land Strategy • May 2018

7.3 • Strategy review

The Council has a duty under Part IIA to keep its Contaminated Land Inspection 
Strategy under periodic review. The main reasons why we will carry out a review are:

i.	 To see how we are progressing, i.e. to determine whether we are achieving our 
objectives and priorities;

ii.	 To revise and improve procedures;

iii.	 To take account of changes in legislation;

iv.	 To take account of the establishment of significant case law or precedent;

v.	 To take account of changes in guidance for dealing with land contamination (in 
particular, risk assessment techniques, guideline values, etc;

vi.	 To reflect changes in council policies and strategies.

The Council will carry out a review of this Contaminated Land Strategy within five years 
of implementation in line with the Statutory Guidance (DEFRA, 2012).

Page 184



Contaminated Land Strategy • May 2018� 37

References

Department for Communities and Local Government (2012). National Planning Policy 
Framework. DCLG, London.

Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (2012). Environmental Protection 
Act 1990: Part 2A Contaminated Land – Contaminated Land Statutory Guidance. The 
Stationery Office, London.

Contaminated Land Statutory Guidance, (DEFRA 2012).

Department of Energy and Climate Change (2012). Environmental Protection Act 1990: 
Part 2A Contaminated Land – Radioactive Contaminated Land Statutory Guidance. 
The Stationery Office, London.

Environment Agency (2004). CLR11: Model Procedures for the Management of Land 
Contamination. Environment Agency, Bristol.

Environmental Permitting (England and Wales) Regulations 2016. Statutory Instrument 
(SI 2016/1154).

Environmental Protection Act 1990, Part 2A: inserted by the Environment Act 1995, 
Section 57. See Environment Act 1995 for text for Part 2A.

Groundwater Directive 2006

Hampshire and Isle of Wight Contaminated Land Liaison Group (2013). Development 
on Potentially Contaminated Land: A Guide for Developers.

Radioactive Contaminated Land (Modification of Enactments) (England) Regulations 
2006

The Contaminated Land (England) (Amendment) Regulations 2012. Statutory 
Instrument (SI 2012/263).

The Contaminated Land (England) Regulations 2006. Statutory Instrument (SI 
2006/1380).

The Environmental Damage (Prevention and Remediation) Regulations 2015.

Statutory Instrument (SI 2015/810) as amended by SI 2015/139, SI 2016/1154, SI 
2017/1012, SI 2017/1013 and SI 2017/1177

Water Framework Directive 2000

Water Resources Act 1991 (Amendment) (England and Wales) Regulations  2009. 
Statutory Instrument (SI 2009/3104).

Page 185



newforest.gov.uk
 newforestdc    newforestgov

Page 186


	Agenda
	4 Resources for the Delivery of Future Planned Development
	5 Littering Enforcement - Littering from Vehicles Outside London (Keepers: Civil Penalties) Regulations 2018
	Littering from Vehicles Appendix 1 part 1
	Littering from Vehicles Appendix 1 part 2

	7 Annual Performance and Provisional Budget Outturn
	Appendix 1 to Annual Performance Report
	Appendix 2 to Annual Performance Report
	Annual Performance Report - Appendix 3

	8 Economic Development Strategy 2018-2023
	Economic Development Strategy Appendix 1

	9 Organisational Strategy 2018-2022
	Organisational Strategy - Appendix 1

	10 Human Resources Strategy
	Appendix 1 to Human Resources Strategy

	11 ICT Strategy 2018-2022
	ICT Strategy Appendix 1
	ICT Strategy Appendix 1 (a)
	ICT Strategy Appendix 1 (b)

	12 Procurement Strategy
	Appendix 1 to Procurement Strategy Report

	13 Contaminated Land Strategy
	Appendix 1 to Contaminated Land Strategy


